
 

 
 

 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 

Tuesday 11 June 2013 at 7.00 pm 
Committee Rooms 2 and 3, Brent Town Hall, Forty 
Lane, Wembley, HA9 9HD 

 
 
Membership: 
 
Members first alternates second alternates 
Councillors: Councillors: Councillors: 
   
Daly (Chair) Mitchell Murray Moloney 
Hunter (Vice-Chair) Sneddon Ms Shaw 
Colwill Baker Kansagra 
Harrison Singh Naheerathan 
Hector Aden Al-Ebadi 
Hossain Ogunro RS Patel 
Leaman Green Clues 
Ketan Sheth Gladbaum Van Kalwala 
 
 
For further information contact: Toby Howes, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
020 8937 1307, toby.howes@brent.gov.uk 
 
For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting 
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda. 
 

 

     

2 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

     

3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 March 2013  
 

1 - 10 

 The minutes are attached. 
 

 

     

4 Matters arising (if any)  
 

 

     

5 Pathology Service - incident and investigation  
 

11 - 88 

 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee were 
presented with an interim report on the incidents that had occurred with 
pathology results provided to GPs in Brent and Harrow.  Following 
completion of the investigation, members of the committee have since 
received a copy of the Root Cause Analysis Investigation report.  The 
report now being presented to the committee is an update on the actions 
being taken to address the issues identified and the recommendations in 
the Root Cause Analysis. 
 

 

     

6 Emergency Services at Northwick Park and Central Middlesex 
Hospitals  

 

89 - 96 

 This report outlines the key current problems, notably with meeting the 
four hour waiting time targets.  It cites issues such as increased pressure 
at Northwick Park Hospital, where Emergency Department attendances 
have decreased but combined Emergency Department and Urgent Care 
Centre attendances continue to increase; it also cites issues around long 

 



 

3 
 

stays in beds and delays in discharge causing a blockage in the 
emergency pathway.  Attendance at Central Middlesex continues to 
decline. 
 

     

7 111 telephone number - service implementation  
 

97 - 104 

 The report outlines some of the key issues that have affected the 111 
telephone service and delayed its’ full roll out.  
 

 

     

8 North West London Hospitals/Ealing Hospital merger  
 

 

 Members will receive a verbal update on this item. 
 

 

     

9 Colposcopy Services at Central Middlesex Hospital  
 

105 - 
110 

 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee were advised 
by the Northwest London Hospital Trust, at the meeting in March, that the 
Colposcopy Service at Central Middlesex Hospital had been suspended 
after a member of staff had left.  The trust had had problems recruiting a 
replacement, and this left insufficient staff to ensure a service that 
complied with waiting times criteria and clinical standards. 

This report provides an update on the situation, including details of 
problems with a high number of “did not attend” instances prior to the 
colposcopy service closing at Central Middlesex and plans to train a 
gynaecological nurse to replace the member of staff that has left. 
 

 

     

10 Public Health transfer update  
 

111 - 
120 

 This report summarises for the Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee the position relating to the transfer of public health 
services from NHS Brent to Brent Council which formally took place on 1 
April 2013. The transition project has come to an end and it is important 
that remaining activity related to the transfer passes to departments in 
order to “mainstream” the public health function within the local authority. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

     



 

4 
 

11 Sexual and Reproductive Health Services in Brent  
 

121 - 
124 

 This report summarises for the Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee the Sexual Health and Reproductive Services which 
have transferred across to Brent Council as a result of the transfer of 
public health services from NHS Brent to Brent Council which formally 
took place on 1 April 2013.  The report briefing highlights the current 
provision of sexual health services in Brent, an outline of the council’s role 
in relation to the commissioning and co-ordinating of services in the 
borough and the key challenges for the future commissioning landscape.    
 

 

     

12 Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny work programme 2013-
14  

 

125 - 
128 

 The work programme is attached. 
 

 

     

13 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Democratic Services Manager or his representative before the 
meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64. 
 

 

     

14 Date of next meeting  
 

 

 The next meeting of the Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, 24 July 2013 at 7.00 pm. 
 

 

     
 
 

� Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 
• The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public. 
• Toilets are available on the second floor. 
• Catering facilities can be found on the first floor near the Paul Daisley 

Hall. 
• A public telephone is located in the foyer on the ground floor, opposite the 

Porters’ Lodge 
 



 

 
MINUTES OF THE HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
Tuesday 19 March 2013 at 7.00 pm 

 
 

PRESENT: Councillor Kabir (Chair), Councillor Hunter (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
Colwill, Gladbaum, Harrison, Hector, Hossain and Leaman 

 
Also present: Councillors Cheese and John  

 
 

1. Declarations of personal and prejudicial interests  
 
None declared. 
 

2. Deputations  
 
Sarah Cox was invited to speak.  She informed the Committee that Ealing Borough 
Council had referred the Shaping a Healthier Future proposals to the Department 
for Health and felt that Brent should also make a referral.  Sarah Cox felt that if all 
of the planned closures and proposed alternatives were to be put in place the NHS 
service would not be able to meet all the needs of local people and expressed 
concern that the most vulnerable would suffer, particularly in light of the high taxi 
costs to travel to Northwick Park from particular areas of the borough.  She 
continued to express concern regarding the non-specific treatment rooms, fearing 
privatisation of the health service and an uncertain legacy for future generations.  
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 29 January 2013 be approved as 
an accurate record of the meeting. 
 

4. Matters arising  
 
Brent Pension Fund Committee 
The Committee thanked the Brent Pension Fund Committee for amending the 
Statement of Investment Principles to reflect the Committee’s recommendation to 
not directly invest in tobacco companies.  
 
Health Visitors 
It was clarified that although there had been success in attracting applicants, some 
vacancies still remained.  It was explained that the offer had not been improved and 
an update could be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Tackling Diabetes in Brent Task Group – Final Report 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

It was clarified that the report had been viewed by the Shadow Health and 
Wellbeing Board but not the Executive.  Councillor Hirani (Lead Member Adults and 
Health) agreed to send a reminder.  
 
Accident and Emergency performance and activity at Northwest London Hospitals 
NHS Trust  
It was confirmed that the 111 telephone service was currently taking ‘out of hours’ 
redirected from GP services.  The service was currently going through an 
assurance process before being rolled out to the public to ensure that it would be 
able to meet demand.  It was highlighted that it was always envisaged to be a two 
stage roll out, with the same information being provided to the public as with the out 
of hours service.  It was agreed that an update would be provided at a future 
meeting.  
 
Public Health Transfer Update 
It was explained that the Director of Public Health post had not yet been advertised 
but was a priority recruitment.  Councillor Hirani (Lead Member of Adults and 
Health) informed the Committee that the post would now be a permanent position 
rather than a fixed year contract.   The Committee noted that Alison Elliott, Director 
Adult Social Care had left the Council to take up the position Director of People at 
Portsmouth Council.  The Committee thanked her for her contributions and wished 
her well for the future.  
 
Brent LINk Annual report 2011/12 and 2012/13 
It was explained that the commissioning process for Brent Health Watch that will 
replace Brent LINk at the end of March had been completed with a consortium of 
voluntary organisations led by Brent Mencap.  Part of its role will be to act as a 
network of networks, working with other organisations, consulting the public and 
acting as a consumer champion and providing an information and advice service, 
action and expertise.  
 

5. Incident involving pathology service for Brent and Harrow PCTs  
 
Pauline Johnson (Interim Head of Quality and Safety, Brent CCG) informed the 
Committee that TDL had been contracted to provide a pathology service on behalf 
of Brent PCT, Harrow PCT and North West London Hospitals since May 2012.  She 
explained that serious concerns were raised in December 2012 by Dr Patel, such 
as skewed results, results being grouped differently and results being filed without 
requiring actioning. It was noted that further complaints and concerns were received 
including abnormal potassium and calcium levels as well as missing second sample 
results.  Following a thorough investigation, among the root causes for the issues 
found were; the introduction of a new IT system and a malfunctioning robotic arm.  
Other contributory factors were found such as lack of communication with GPs, 
organisational, training and human errors.  Dr Patel felt that the committee should 
feel reassured by the alertness of GPs and as a result; no patients came to any 
harm.  
 
Members expressed their concern that an incident of this nature could occur again 
and highlighted that they did not feel reassured that the issue could reoccur.  It was 
queried whether all patients had been contacted.  Dr Patel explained that as well as 
GPs individually contacting patients with abnormal results for re-tests, TDL had also 

Page 2



3 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

re-examined any irregular results with patients outside of normal ranges to be 
alerted.  
 
It was queried whether the machines had been tested and what quality control 
checks were in place to avoid such incidents.  Dr Patel informed the Committee that 
the machines used by TDL were used nationwide successfully.  Alternative 
reagents had been used which altered some of the reference ranges despite 
reference ranges requiring to be standardized by the Department of Health.  Dr 
Patel felt that the failures in equipment and issues caused by changes to the IT 
infrastructure could not have been foreseen.  Members queried the lack of 
communication with GPs and felt that it was unacceptable that training was not 
provided in advance.  Dr Patel agreed that communication should have been 
greater and GPs would be informed of future procurements and the timescales 
entailed.  It was noted that the IT system presented results in a standardised way 
as agreed with the Department for Health and following concerns raised by Brent 
GPs, this system would be taken back at a national level and addressed before 
being cascaded down to GPs.  
 
The report circulated was an interim report with a full report and action plan due to 
come back before the Committee.  It was explained that many lessons had been 
learnt and action already taken to address issues, as well as a proactive and 
vigilant approach undertaken to avoid future reoccurrences.  Hourly checks were 
taking place until the pathologists had full confidence in the system.  It was clarified 
that a nine month embedding period existed within the contractor to address any 
issues early on, after which severe financial penalties could be served upon TDL.  
Dr Patel highlighted that some of the errors were human errors particularly in terms 
of incorrect form filling.  Ethie Kong explained the use of forums and the knowledge 
shared between practitioners.  She continued to highlight that training was given to 
the pilot practices which had trialled the system successfully however 
acknowledged that training may not have been received by all.  
 
Members thanked all for the update and requested that the final report be sent to 
the Committee as soon as it was available. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
Members noted the report.  
 
 

6. Shaping a Healthier Future  
 
Rob Larkham gave a presentation highlighting the background to the shaping a 
healthier future initiative and the proposals that were currently being consulted 
upon.  He drew members’ attention to the vision to localise care, integrate care and 
a centralised consistent access to senior doctors and for specialist skills to be 
accessible and developed with the ultimate vision to save lives.  He continued to 
highlight previous concerns highlighted by the Committee such as; the low 
satisfaction levels of primary care services; acute services being closed before 
alternative provision was successfully up and running; and that service provision 
could not remain as it was and should be reconfigured to secure a better, 
sustainable future for patients.  The programme of change would take three to five 
years with option A receiving the most support and least opposition.  As a result of 

Page 3



4 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

the feedback received several changes had been made including; development of 
the out of hospital strategies, a developed vision, governance process and 
pathways for urgent care centres; and a review and re-run of the financial, estates 
and capital investment analysis.  Rob Larkham highlighted the specifications for 
urgent care centres and the types of problems they would treat.  The decisions of 
the Joint Committee of Primary Care Trusts (JCPCT) on the 19 February were 
explained and how they intended to move beyond the core offering of services.  
The future configuration of major and local hospitals were clarified with Northwick 
Park being a major hospital offering A&E provision and central Middlesex being 
classified as a local hospital addressing urgent care, outpatients and diagnosis.  
 
The proposed governance structure to oversee implementation was highlighted 
although it was confirmed that Ealing Borough Council had referred the plans back 
to the secretary of state which would delay the overall process whilst the 
independent review panel reconsidered the proposals.  A clearly laid out process 
would be followed for key decision making before any changes were implemented.  
He continued to highlight the activities for the out of hospital programme, where 
community facilities could potentially be based and the work carried out by CCGs to 
deliver the out of hospital programme.  
 
Rob Larkham explained that there was a £28m backlog of maintenance investment 
and a further £20m investment required at Northwick Park hospital to enable a 20% 
increase in maternity births, 15% increase maternity general, 23% increase 
neonatal activity and 33% increase in critical care activity.  A capital programme of 
works including expansion of the A&E department, refurbishing of existing theatres 
as well as creating four new theatres and a new 10 bed ITU extension was required 
to enable the capacity increases outlined.  Central Middlesex hospital would be a 
local and elective hospital with a £9m investment required.  Rob Larkham 
concluded that all changes would be subject to the litmus test of whether change of 
services would be safer than the current provision.  
 
Members noted the high level of detail included within the presentation and report.  
Members queried whether urgent care was currently being provide on a 24/7 basis 
due to the difficulties in recruitment.  It was clarified that the provision of urgent care 
was reduced due to the positions not being attractive to experienced GPs and 
being more desirable to younger doctors who had not yet chosen an area in which 
to settle and develop their own practices.  Members queried the extended journey 
times to major hospitals amongst plans to reduce the ambulance service.  It was 
noted that the ambulance service was critical in enabling the plans and in response 
to  anecdotal evidence provided by Councillor Cheese regarding lack of porters and 
ambulance staff, Rob Larkham informed the Committee that a £20m investment in 
the ambulance service was proposed to increase capacity and remodel the service 
to improve efficiency.  Following queries it was explained that the greater the delay, 
the greater the risk to being able to sustain the correct level of surgical expertise at 
smaller sites and potential for services becoming unfit in the future.  Members 
asked what controls were in place to ensure all changes did not have a detrimental 
effect during implementation.  Rob Larkham reassured members that each decision 
would be mapped out against the key decision process and safety must be satisfied 
at each stage with work between existing and new providers taking place to enable 
an improved NHS and not a privatised service.  Following queries regarding the 
timeline, it was noted that this had not been fully agreed due to the finalisation of 
proposals being required and investments to be confirmed, it was however hoped 

Page 4



5 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

that investments in the out of hospital service would start later in the year.  Jo 
Ohlson explained that closer working relationships with CCGs, social services and 
voluntary organisations was needed to offer out of hospital services to reduce the 
pressure on Northwick Park hospital for patients who did not necessarily need 
hospitalisation.  Members queried whether there was adequate staffing to support 
the primary care hubs throughout the borough.  Jo Ohlson stated that a pilot would 
commence in April where a central hub would provide additional appointments 
following a £1m investment for six months, with the intention of a further £4m and 
the intention of six hubs being created overall, including a proposed site in 
Kingsbury.  
 
Councillor Hector proposed the following motion: 
 
“It is arguable that closing A&E at local hospitals could be appropriate if the 
ambulance service had been expanded so that people could be taken direct to the 
relevant specialist hospital. I understand that the cuts to the ambulance service that 
began 2 years ago are continuing. This is unacceptable. We cannot agree to this. 
We are therefore referring back the report ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ to the 
Secretary of State.” 
 
Councillor Hector reiterated her concerns that the directions of the changes were 
heading towards privatisation and that the ambulance service should be invested in 
rather than cut.  
 
The following alternative motion was proposed: 
 
“Brent Council’s Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes that 
the London Borough of Ealing has already referred Shaping a Healthier Future to 
the Secretary of State. Given the scale of the changes, it is right that these 
proposals are thoroughly examined by the Secretary of State along with the 
Department for Health.  The Committee wishes to further raise our concerns with 
current A&E capacity regardless of future changes to services and seeks 
assurances that services will not be reduced or closed unless changes in 
infrastructure prove to deliver successful outcomes for residents.” 
 
The original motion was not seconded and failed, with the alternative motion being 
seconded and carried.  
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
Members noted the report 
 
 

7. Emergency Services at Northwick Park and Central Middlesex Hospitals  
 
It was reported that Northwick Park hospital’s emergency department was 
experiencing capacity issues partly due to the closure of Central Middlesex 
hospitals emergency department, LES conveyances and an increase in patients 
from the Harrow area.  Work was currently being carried out with CCG colleagues 
to explore the increase in patients and whether alternative health care provision 
was available to non-emergency cases.  A project board had been set up with 
stakeholders to address how it could rearrange the emergency services across the 

Page 5



6 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

two sites.  It was noted that ambulances were able to unload and enable patients to 
be treated contrary to the anecdotal evidence previously heard.  It was noted that 
the JCPCT had agreed the shaping healthier future programmes and following 
investment; Northwick Park hospital will have an emergency service with 
multifunctional treatment rooms able to accommodate the increased capacity and 
demand.  An additional 25 bed ED department would also be built to allow quick 
assessments by specialist teams.  
 
Members felt that the possible influx could be due to patients being unable to be 
seen by their GP and choosing to attend A&E.  It was explained that a change in 
patient culture was needed to address this issue and hoped that the increased 
capacity from the primary care hubs would address this, with expressions of 
interests for hosting hubs taking place next week.  It was queried whether out of 
care treatment fully addressed patients’ needs and if not was this likely to lead to 
them attending A&E.  It was explained that further work needed to be done into the 
care provided at nursing homes and patients being admitted for a short while to 
avoid unnecessary journeys and reduce pressure on emergency services.   
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
Members noted the report and asked for further updates on the implementation 
plans and timetable. 
 

8. North West London Hospitals and Ealing Hospital Merger  
 
It was explained that there had been few changes since the last update with 
timelines remaining the same and a merger being able to take place in April 2014 at 
the earliest subject to approval.  It was noted that the referral by Ealing Borough 
Council on the Shaping Healthier Futures did not necessarily delay the business 
case and back office functions were currently being shared, reducing duplication 
and making it easier to work across both sites.  It was highlighted that progress in 
2012/13 had been slow with savings targets likely to be achieved through non 
recurrent solutions and future saving targets remaining high.  Commissioning 
negotiations would take place next year with potential budget gaps still needing to 
be bridged.  Greater clarity for the savings target in 2013/14 would be achieved 
following the sign off of contracts at the end of the month. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
Members noted the update 
 

9. Tackling Violence Against Women And Girls in Brent task group  
 
Kisi Smith-Charlemagne, Policy Officer, gave a brief overview of violence against 
women and girls in Brent including female genital mutilation (FGM), honour based 
violence (HBV) and forced marriages (FM). The Policy Officer continued to highlight 
the scope of the task group including the reasons why it was being explored, what 
the main issues were, what the review should cover and what the review could 
achieve.  It was highlighted that there was a lack of awareness amongst victims that 
FGM, HBV and FM were all illegal practices and carried jail sentences, resulting in 
under reporting of crimes.  It was explained that the main issues to cover included; 
highlighting and educating communities about reporting, improving access to 

Page 6



7 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

support as well as protecting women and girls at risk.  Potential partners were 
outlined within the scoping document to help achieve the nine outcomes including;  

 
The Chair informed the committee that Councillors Harrison, Hunter, John, Kabir 
and McLennan had expressed an interest on being a member of the task group.  
 
Councillor John highlighted the widespread practices of these crimes against 
women and the previous lack of awareness of the issue.  She noted the recent 
heightened awareness, particularly the government’s target to eradicate the 
practices within five years.  Councillor John hoped that the task group would 
receive full support to address the issues amongst the Brent community.  
 
RESOVLED:-  
 
That the task group membership consists of Councillors Harrison, Hunter, John, 
Kabir and McLennan. 
 

10. Public Health transfer  
 
Andrew Davies, Policy and Performance Officer informed the Committee that the 
public health transfer would commence on 1 April 2013 and was approved by the 
Executive the previous week.  He continued to explain that 22 public health staff 
would be transferred, split across three departments with a Director of Public Health 
for Brent only, based in Adult Social Care.   It was noted that 16 out of the 22 posts 
had been filled with further recruitment to take place after Easter. The Policy and 
Performance Officer explained that the public health contracts process had been 
misleading and was currently awaiting confirmation from the Department of Health 
that the contracts had been approved.  The Council would also be responsible for 
various aspects of the acute contracts including an open access sexual health 
service; including where persons wishing to be tested could be seen at any GUM 
clinic across the country and the costs would be charged to the borough where the 
person was  resident.  This was a demand led service and was therefore a larger 
area of risk with reserves budgeted to address any fluctuations.  
 
Members queried whether the buildings vacated by transferring staff would be used 
and it was confirmed that these would be utilised by CCG colleagues.  It was 
queried whether the recruitment process of the Director of Public Health had 
commenced.  It was explained that this recruitment had not yet started due to the 
job advert requiring sign off and classified as a senior staff appointment.  It was felt 
that the recruitment would not take place prior to Easter and an appointment was 
unlikely to be made before the end of April.  Members queried why there was such 
a high level of risk associated with sexual health contracts.  The Policy and 
Performance Officer explained that the service transferred was new to the Council 
and required a large proportion of the budget.  Being a demand led service, any 

• Work with partners to ensure that pathways for reporting risks and offences 
committed are clear, easy and stress free for women and girls. 

• Educating our communities about the changes in law, the human rights 
breaches and the consequences of such breaches – through Schools, GP’s 
partners and voluntary groups such as FORWARD and IKWRO. 

• Informing the Brent Violence Against Women Action Group (VAWAG) strategy 
currently being developed 

• Supporting the wok being carried out by the Brent FGM Steering Group   

Page 7



8 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

fluctuation could create budget pressures hence the high level of risk.  Members 
queried the Council’s responsibility in terms of epidemics and pandemics.  It was 
explained that the guidance surrounding infection control was vague, with the 
Director of Public Health being required to bring together agencies to address any 
pandemics but if a pandemic arose at a national level, then it was hoped national 
guidance would be circulated. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
Members noted the report. 
 
 

11. End of life palliative care in Brent  
 
The report gave an overview of palliative care provision in Brent and the end of life 
care strategy which sought to reduce the number of patients dying in hospitals.  
Cherry Armstrong, GP, informed the Committee that 64% of people in Brent 
currently passed away in hospital opposed to only 19% at home.  The end of life 
care strategy sought to reduce the number of patients dying in hospitals by 
investing in the following areas; end of life register to coordinate social and health 
care, building up workforce capacity and capability through increased training, 
supporting primary care clinicians in increasing capacity and capability, and working 
with contract leads and stakeholders.  It was highlighted that a multi-disciplined 
approach with all involved in providing the care of the patient was required.  
 
Four sites across Brent offered specialist end of life provision including St John’s 
Hospice, St Luke’s Hospice, Pembridge Unit and Marie Curie all of which were 
funded by the NHS block contracts.  It was noted that the end of life care strategy 
was essential to ensure that the patients choice was shared and that a central 
communication portal allowed information sharing and for patients choices to be 
carried out.  The Liverpool Care Pathway was used to ensure a good formal 
pathway of care for all where an equitable model of care could be used wherever 
the patient was dying.  An after death review would also take place to ensure the 
family received a good level of support and to explore if improvements could be 
made, ensuring a proactive rather than reactive approach.  The approach was 
holistic taking into account patient’s wishes, culture and religious beliefs.  
 
Mike Howard, Chief Executive of St Luke’s Hospice informed the Committee of the 
services the charity provided and the types of patients they cared for.  The Hospice 
provided a day and medical centre, hospice at home service and training of health 
care professionals providing care predominantly for cancer patients but also for 
other terminal diseases.  Mike Howard felt that the charity provided a greater level 
of service than that commissioned and relied heavily on donations to meet the 
funding demand which, contrary to the suggestion he felt was being made that it 
was 100% funded by the NHS, was nearer to 33% funded.  To enable the Hospice 
to offer the level of care it did it currently relied on the help of 850 volunteers and 
community services.  Additional services provided by the Hospice included after 
death support for the family, psycho social support as well as providing university 
accredited training. 
 
Members noted the greater need for palliative care with an aging population but 
queried how this could be achieved in the current financial climate and how the 

Page 8



9 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

success of the scheme would be measured.  Cherry Armstrong explained that the 
scheme was currently still in the infancy stages of training and had not been fully 
rolled out so the success of the scheme could not yet be measured.  There was 
currently anecdotal evidence from GPs highlighting greater communication and 
awareness of patients care as well as planning care.  
 
Members queried how the costs of a patient choosing to stay at home would be 
managed.  It was explained that the hospices would provide the relevant care if it 
was suitable for the patient to remain at home and services such as respite would 
also be available to the carers and in house care providers sent round.  It was 
noted that if a patient was to be placed in hospital this would also be of a cost and 
the scheme did not necessarily reduce costs but realigned costs to enable patients 
not to pass away in hospital.  Members queried what health and social care would 
be provided and at what cost.  It was explained that all health care costs provided 
would be free of charge, however any social care services would have the usual 
social care costs.  The type of care provided would be dependent upon the needs 
of the patient and the carers but would also focus on pain relief to make sure no 
patient was uncomfortable or in pain.  Members queried the period of the strategy.  
It was clarified that the strategy would be rolled out in April and be used indefinitely 
to enhance local service provision.  Members were disappointed with the lack of 
detail in the report and requested that an updated and more detailed report be 
provided following the roll out.  A copy of the Brent End of Life Strategy was 
requested to be circulated to members of the committee. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
(i) Members noted the report;  
(ii) That an update report be provided. 

 
 

12. Khat Task Group update  
 
Andrew Davies, Policy and Performance Officer provided an update on the Khat 
task group, drawing attention to the overlap of advice from the advisory council on 
the misuse of drugs findings and the difficulties engaging café owners and 
members of the public. 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
Members noted the update 
 

13. Work programme  
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
Members noted the work programme 
 

14. Any other urgent business  
 
None. 
 

15. Date of next meeting  

Page 9



10 
Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 19 March 2013 

 
The date of the next meeting will be confirmed at the Annual Full Council meeting 
on 15 May 2013.  
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 10.15 pm 
 
 
 
S KABIR 
Chair 
 

Page 10



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

 
 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

11th June 2013   

Report from  
Strategy, Partnerships and 

Improvement 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

Pathology Service – Incidents and Investigation 

 
1.0 Summary 

 
1.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee were presented with an 

interim report on the incidents that had occurred with pathology results provided to 
GPs in Brent and Harrow.  Following completion of the investigation, members of the 
committee have since received a copy of the Root Cause Analysis Investigation 
report.  The report now being presented to the committee is an update on the actions 
being taken to address the issues identified and the recommendations in the Root 
Cause Analysis. 

 
1.2  The Root Cause Analysis (RCA) report (which is also attached for information) 

concluded that there were seven root causes: 
 

 
• No measures taken by PCT to mitigate risks (in transition and 

implementation)  
• IT system – Format of Results / IT systems and sample handling set-up;  
• Equipment - Analyser and robotic arm malfunctioned / General Equipment 

stability;  
• Communications and access to background information  
• (Shared Drive, electronic and paper records will be affected by the transition 

from PCT to CCG);  
• Lack of clinical engagement in the process ((no grass roots GPs; used same 

clinicians, too thinly spread);  
• Poor reporting and communication structure in both PCTs.  
• Laboratory staff familiarisation with equipment and systems / customisation of 

system to meet end users clinical needs  
 

It goes on to vie eighteen recommendations to address the issues raised.  The 
update report being presented to the committee today includes an Action Plan with 
actions linked to root causes and recommendations from the report. 

. 
2.0 Recommendations 

Agenda Item 5

Page 11



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

 
2.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to 

consider the report and the original Route Cause Analysis and question officers on 
the serious incidents that have arisen and progress on the actions proposed, and to 
seek clarification/assurance on how these actions will ensure that the problems are 
addressed and that such incidents will be prevented from recurring in the future. 
 
Contact Officers 
 
Mark Burgin 
Policy and Performance Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 5029 
Email – mark.burgin@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Assistant Director of Policy 
Tel – 020 8937 1045 
Email – cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 12



Update on the Investigation into incidents involving the Pathology Service for 
Brent and Harrow PCTs 23rd May 2013 

 

1. Purpose of the paper 

This paper provides an update the HOSC on the progress against the action plan which was included 
in the Root Cause Analysis paper and which has been adopted in full by the CCG, North West London 
hospital Trust, Harrow CCG and the pathology provider The Doctors Laboratory (TDL).  

2. Background and context 

In May 2009, Harrow PCT issued a letter to NWLHT the existing provider of the pathology service to 
Harrow GPs, notifying them that with effect from 2010/11, they intended to follow a tendering 
process to commission a new pathology service.  Their stated intention was to lead the development 
of a joined-up approach to the commissioning and possible market testing of Direct Access 
pathology services. 

The procurement process was paused in March and April 2011 to allow time to consider the 
implications of the NHS London review of pathology for the sector. It was considered prudent to 
proceed as the final London solution was likely to take 2-3 years to realise, and the existing 
pathology system at NWLH was in a critical state and not expected to be operational beyond 
October 2012. 

The procurement scope included all of the general diagnostics pathology services i.e. Haematology, 
Biochemistry, Microbiology, Histopathology, Cytopathology.  Out of scope of the procurement were: 

• Consultant pathologists (they remain employed by the NWLHT) 

• Transport (a separate procurement was required for this element) 

• The mortuary 

• Specialist Genetics Laboratories within the Kennedy Galton Unit of NWLHT 

 

3. Timeline of significant events preceding the incidents 

TDL were appointed as Preferred Bidder in September 2011 and aimed to go live on the 5th January 
2012.  A number of issues with the lease and licenses delayed the start until 1st May 2012.  The 
contract management of this contract is a NWLHT on behalf of the three commissioners and the 
performance management of the contract sits with the CSU, with local support from the non-acute 
contracts manager for Brent and Harrow.   

 

4.  Incident 

Page 13



As previously described to the Committee the incident which led to the RCA fell broadly into two 
categories; 

4.1  Pathology results were received from the Pathology Service in a different format 
than previously experienced.  GP practices in Brent received pathology results presented in a 
manner that now makes it possible for one result being viewed, actioned, filed and archived with the 
subsequent result that other reports within the grouping, will be filed and archived in the patient’s 
records without necessarily being viewed or actioned.  This was a significant change from the 
manner in which results had previously been received in Brent and Harrow and represents a 
significant clinical risk.  

4.2  Secondary to the above; spurious results, missing samples, missing test results and 
multiple, batched test results were later reported by GPs.  There was also a failure on the part of the 
service provider to report some abnormal results and other abnormal results were not being flagged 
as such.  GPs were also concerned that reference values appeared to have changed. 

A Root Cause Analysis was initiated and chaired by a local GP, the report of which has been 
circulated to HOSC members previously, and an action plan drawn up to address the resulting 
deficiencies. 

5. Courier Service 

The courier service was not part of the pathology service and was procured through a separate 
tendering process.  The existing service provider was the successful bidder and the service continues 
to be provided by Revisecatch Limited (Courier Systems) who were appointed in October 2012 for a 
period of 4 years and 7 months to tie in with the Pathology service.   

Although not directly associated with the problems described above the storage, transportation and 
delivery times are being reviewed to ensure that they do not add to the instability of the samples 
due to fluctuation in temperature during storage at the GP practice or transportation to the 
laboratory.    

 

6. Root Cause Analysis  action plan 

The RCA is overseen by the Contract Review Committee which has clinicians and managers from the 
three commissioning organisations (Brent, Harrow CCGs and NWLHT), TDL and the Courier provider.  
The RCA is managed through the operational group which is chaired by the GP who led the RCA. 

The action plan is attached as Appendix 1.   

 

7. Conclusion 

The HOSC is asked to receive and note the report and the updated action plan. 

Page 14



  

Page 1   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 

                                                                                                                             
 

 
 
 

Root Cause Analysis Investigation Report 
 
 

  

 
 
 

Incident Investigation 
Title: 

 
Pathology Contract Tests and Reporting of results 

Incident Date: First Reported 20 December 2012 (Multi-incident 
investigation) 

Incident Number: StEIS number 2013/1282; Datix (web1488) 

Author(s) and Job Titles 
 
Pauline Johnson Interim Deputy Director of Quality and Safety,  
(Brent, Ealing, Harrow and Hillingdon CCGs) 
 

Chair of the 
Investigation 

 
Madhukar Patel, Chair of RCA investigation and Brent GP 

Investigation Report 
Date: 

28 March 2012 

 

Page 15



  

Page 2   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Contents 

Executive Summary 4 

MAIN REPORT: 9 

Incident description and consequences 10 

Pre-investigation risk assessment 10 

Background and context 10 

Terms of reference 11 

Level of investigation 13 

Information and evidence gathered 13 
The Procurement Process 13 
Aims of the Pathology Procurement 14 
Procurement Evaluation Process 15 
Financial Assessment of the preferred bid 15 
Feedback from Brent GPCE and Harrow CCG 16 
Overall benefits of the procurement as they were stated 16 
Risk Analysis 17 
NHS Brent and Harrow Trust Board meeting held 01 September 2011 18 
Chairs Action 19 
Risk Assessment for Transition and Implementation 20 
Timeline of significant events preceding the incidents 20 

Communication  21 
Key Performance Indicators 21 
Primary Care Workstream 22 
Clarification of Communication process 24 
Communication – summary 26 
Performance Management and Operational Management of the contract 26 
Quality Assurance and a Consultant led service 29 
Accuracy of results received / Reference Ranges 30 
Clinical Pathology Accreditation 31 
 

Causative factors 
IT System 32 
Equipment and Resources 36 
Organisational factors impacting on the risk to the procurement and transition 38 

FINDINGS: 40 

Chronology of events 40 

Detection of incident 42 

Care and service delivery problems 42 

Page 16



  

Page 3   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Impact on patients 44 
Impact on Practices 46 
Courier Service 47 

Contributory factors 50 
Individual (Staff factors) 50 
Leadership 50 
Communication 50 
Organisational and Strategic factors 50 
Team Factors 51 
Equipment and resources 51 

Root causes 51 

Notable practice 52 

Lessons learned 52 

Post-investigation risk assessment 52 

CONCLUSIONS: 53 

Recommendations 53 

Distribution List 58 

Appendices 59 

Action Plan 63 

Glossary 64 

Page 17



 

Page 4   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Executive Summary 
A Brent GP noted that individual patient results were presented as a long list and that it was 
possible to view, action and if the GP chose to file and archive, then all the results for that 
patient would be filed.  He was concerned about the ability for results to be filed automatically 
into the patient’s notes without the GP having confirmed each of the results as normal or 
identified as requiring action.  He flagged this up to the Chief Operating Officer of Brent Primary 
Care Trust/CCG on 20 December 2012.  This was considered a near miss and was logged as a 
Serious Incident on the StEIS and Datix systems. 
 
When the GP raised this with the PCT, a preliminary enquiry into the concerns was raised by 
the PCT contract manager with the pathology service contract manager from NWLHT, to 
determine the cause.  It was thought to be an isolated incident and reassurances were given 
that appropriate support would be given.  The GP subsequently contacted the PCT with other 
issues relating to the pathology service including missing results, codes had changed and 
samples returned as unable to process. 
 
Upon further investigation, it became apparent that the assumption that the GP was alone in not 
being aware of the communications sent out by TDL the new service provider, were erroneous.  
Steps were immediately taken to resolve the issues raised.  Within days, another GP contacted 
the PCT concerned about spurious results, missing results and samples not processed, and it 
became clear that the remit of the investigation would have to be broadened to take account of 
both the formatting of results and the processing of samples.  It was noted that reference ranges 
had changed and also the presentation of the results into groupings that did not make sense.   
 
The Pathology service for Brent and Harrow GPs was provided by North West London Hospitals 
Trust (Northwick Park Hospital) until May 2012 when the contract was taken over by The 
Doctor’s Laboratory (TDL).  They were awarded the contract in January 2012, with the service 
transferring in May.  The CEO of Harrow PCT had initiated a market intelligence exercise in 
2009 to determine if there was a market for pathology services.   
 
Correspondence from 2011 highlights that another reason for the Pathology Service being 
tendered out was due to problems with the infrastructure at the North West London Hospitals 
laboratory.  A letter from the NHS Brent and Harrow CEO dated 30 June 2011 to the CEO of 
NWLH, acknowledged the ‘historic lack of investment at Northwick Park and the urgent need to 
replace pathology reporting systems in the Trust’.  This was reiterated in a NHS Brent board 
paper dated 19 August 2011, which noted the previous system being ‘under strain and, if the 
procurement is not the preferred option, there will have to be both capital and revenue 
investment’. 
 
The procurement was undertaken over a protracted period of time and many people were 
involved.  Ownership at Board Level was an issue and there was a lack of involvement at a 
senior level.  At the time of the first expressions of interest, anecdotal evidence suggests that 
Brent PCT was not really engaged; the re-tendering was driven by the then CEO in Harrow and 

Page 18



 

Page 5   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

subsequently became low key.  The procurement lead was an interim who subsequently left the 
organisation, but returned to carry out the courier service procurement. 
 
Despite the procurement being discussed and subsequently carried out over a lengthy period 
(over 2 years), when the paper relating to the procurement was presented to the PCT Board in 
September 2011, the non-executive directors were not sighted on the procurement and sought 
assurances that the provider was able to deliver a safe and effective service.   GPs on the two 
board subgroups for Brent and Harrow also highlighted concerns about the risks involved in the 
transition of the service and thought that there would be a risk analysis of the issues to take 
forward into the OMC.  This did not happen in that there was no input from primary care 
clinicians (GPs) on the transition board for the project; the Operational Management Committee 
(OMC) was established and held meetings but these were not quorate because no GPs were 
present. 
 
It is unclear why the primary care workstream, which was to have been established in August 
2011 to start work on Key Performance Indicators, data reporting requirements, clinical and 
operational management group attendance and implementation of order communications, was 
never put in place.  Instead, the communication about KPIs appears to have been undertaken 
through the medium of emails to Brent GPs via the CRO for pathology for the PCT who had also 
been involved in the procurement.  The CRO and GP lead for Harrow was not involved in any 
discussions regarding KPIs.  It also appears that discussions about the other key aspects of the 
implementation and mobilisation of the contract with TDL did not involve GP clinical 
representation.   
 
The team is unaware of any primary care involvement in the transition, implementation or 
monitoring process, apart from the two Clinical Directors and other CCG board members who 
may have been involved in discussion about the contract.  The team has no evidence of grass 
roots primary care involvement in this contract.   The Clinical Directors are in post to represent 
the GP community but they do not appear to have cascaded any information out to GPs or 
collated views for feedback to the service provider.  
 
A risk analysis was not undertaken nor where the concerns taken forward to the OMC because 
attendance at this group was problematic.  It is unclear whether the unavailability of the 
nominated representatives was escalated to the PCT management or whether any attempt was 
made by the PCT to find alternative representatives from the wider GP community, but this was 
clearly a risk for the PCTs and TDL, and limited the availability of the primary care perspective 
on the service and sharing of information out to primary care.  It ran counter to the expectations 
of the PCTs who had conducted a risk analysis of the procurement and identified the risk of 
PCT capacity to effectively input into the contract negotiation and ongoing monitoring.  
 
More importantly, it did not achieve buy-in and ownership of the service which would have been 
key to early resolution of the problems experienced in December 2012 to January 2013.   
However, the constitutions of the CCGs (then in shadow form) are quite specific about who can 
represent the interests of GPs. 

Page 19



 

Page 6   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

 
Communication was an issue within the PCTs and out to primary care.  Information flow via 
emails to key personnel in the PCT was an ineffective way of communicating with practices, as 
there was an assumption that someone else on the circulation list was dealing with cascading 
the information.  GPs therefore, remained largely unaware of key changes within the pathology 
service in particular a Notification in November 2012 regarding important changes to the 
Pathology was not sent out to GPs.   
 
Both the Brent and Harrow CROs for pathology advised the investigation that they were 
unaware of a communication strategy.  This was despite an email setting out the agreed 
process being sent in June 2012, some six weeks after the service went live.  A communication 
and escalation process was devised at the OMC with representation from PCTs and the 
communications model is identical to that approved by the senior manager on behalf of PCTs / 
CCGs and GPs and acknowledged by at least one of the CROs.     
 
In respect of communications post transition, internally, with respect to NHS Brent, once it was 
identified there were issues with the pathology service in early January 2013, there was difficulty 
in providing succinct information to practices. The system at the time was for messages to be 
sent to the locality coordinators and for them to be send messages onwards to practices. The 
pathology service issues raised concerns that this was not a streamlined approach as it created 
additional steps in the process and does not allow for staff absence. There were also concerns 
on how up to date the distribution lists and whether they only covered the principal GP rather 
than all relevant GPs. 
 
To address the matters concerning internal communication and alerting Brent GPs a meeting 
was held with the NHS Brent Communication team. The Communications team recognised this 
to be an issue and have taken steps to install a central alerting system that will be operated 
through the Trust intranet site. This intranet site is due for completion mid-2013. The 
Communication team has also taken steps to update the distribution lists current used. 
 
The Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) for reporting abnormal results out of hours was 
different in each department:  Biochemistry rang the GP Practice with the result and contacted 
the appropriate OOH provider whereas Haematology assumed that the OOH provider was the 
same for all practices and phoned all results to them.  This highlighted the fact that TDL did not 
have up to date lists of practices in Brent and Harrow or who the OOH provider was for each; 
this has since been rectified and lists should be kept up to date by the CCGs.  TDL are to work 
with the CCGs to agree the codes used to ensure that results are allocated appropriately and 
review the procedures for notifying abnormal results with the consultant pathologists and GPs. 
 
Consultant Pathologists are the quality assurance mechanism for the service and advise the 
Trust whether the contractor is compliant with the standards required by the hospital Clinical 
Governance System.  The CCGs could have this dialogue with the pathologists should they so 
wish, in order to assure themselves that there is a robust clinical governance process in place 
between the service provider and the CCG, going forward. 

Page 20



 

Page 7   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

 
The pathologists also liaise with key stakeholder groups within the hospital trust and in respect 
of liaison with, and support for, GPs on whose behalf the CCG procured this service they were 
in continuous contact with GPs who were raising issues at the time, to offer clinical and 
operational advice.  They have also been out to GP practices and held GP open forums to 
discuss issues of concern 

The pathology service is not currently registered with the CPA but is working towards this. This 
is allowed for under the Deed contained in the Analytical Services part of the contract and 
requires it to be completed within a 9 month timescale.  There is also reference in the contract 
to a nine (9) month relief period but this only applies to the imposition of financial penalties for 
breaches of Key Performance Indicators.   
 
Lord Carter identified one of the barriers to change in pathology services as a lack of knowledge 
and understanding of laboratory services amongst commissioners and senior managers.  The 
CCGs should use the expertise of the pathology contract manager for technical contract support 
and not just as an operational lead for when things go wrong.   
 
The usual contractual levers are KPIs and NHS London have prepared a list of KPIs for Direct 
Access Pathology (at appendix 1).  The contract manager could support CCG contract 
managers and clinicians, through the medium of the OMC and CRC, to review this part of the 
contract as the terminology appears to afford sufficient flexibility to adjust the group of KPIs in 
place, at any point in time. This gives local control rather than rely that this will be taken forward 
through the CSU. 
 
The procurement was to have provided improved access to pathology services for primary care 
via the order comms rollout (ICE).  This is in place within the hospital service, but has not yet 
been rolled out across primary care, despite the funding being made available from the PCTs, at 
the start of the service.  TDL have offered to fund the rollout to primary care but there is a lack 
of clarity regarding funding for the training to support this. 
 
The Courier service was a separate procurement to the pathology service and has been 
implicated in the volume of high (and low) potassium results.  The specification for this service 
was to have been carefully drafted to include GP input so that a service that was fit for purpose 
was procured.  Despite GP representations, the service was procured to the same financial 
envelope that did not allow for temperature control of samples in transit.   
 
These problems persist and the Harrow GPs are experiencing a significant number of high 
potassium results.  It is suggested that this issue is explored further with a view to enhancing 
the service provided to mitigate for fluctuations in temperature and resulting spurious results.  
This should be augmented by a revised training schedule for the Brent and Harrow practices on 
the drawing and storage of blood prior to transportation to the laboratory.   
 
Organisational changes over the duration of the procurement and transition NHS Harrow and 
NHS Brent were separate up to April 2011 when the eight North West London re-configured into 

Page 21



 

Page 8   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

3 sub-clusters, and a Brent and Harrow sub-cluster was formed.  In April 2012, the two 
organisations separated again to form shadow CCGs in preparation for the implementation of 
the Health and Social Care Act (NHS Brent CCG and NHS Harrow CCG).     
 
Lack of capacity has been identified as an underpinning problem for all of the difficulties 
experienced.  Organisational changes throughout the procurement have resulted in a loss of 
managers and added to the pressures faced by clinicians and managers in keeping their eye on 
the ball, in continuity of representation and organisational memory.  The PCT is nearing its 
transition to CCG and should bear this in mind and learn from the mistakes of past 
reorganisations to ensure some continuity of key people and accessibility of relevant information 
relating to all services.  
 
The switch over of IT and equipment at the same time was a service requirement for TDL, 
however, it compounded the issues that GPs were already experiencing.  A key concern for 
GPs has been the presentation, and grouping, of patient results due to the change over to the 
new IT system.  Despite assurances from TDL (in their report of 08 March 2012) that they are 
compliant with standards and that this is a national issue, or that it does not appear to be a 
laboratory problem, the DH Informatics team have sent a representative out to a practice to see 
first-hand the issues presented to GPs by this format, and have agreed to instigate a national 
enquiry. 
 
The other issue reported by GPs was with regard to test results; GPs were raising concerns that 
they were receiving many more abnormal results than expected; some tests that were 
requested were never reported on and for others, only a partial result was forwarded.  Some 
reports issued were incomplete, therefore omitting a number of test results.  There was an 
operational issue with the new robotic sorter which resulted in a number of samples being filed 
incorrectly as ‘analysis complete’ and subsequently discarded.  There was also a problem with 
one of the lines in the calcium analyser as a result of which, samples were transferred to 
another laboratory, and a number of issues were attributed to human error. 
 
Adding to the confusion was a change in the reference value ranges which although a 
communication had been sent to the PCT for onward transmission to GPs, this never happened 
and so GPs were taken by surprise when the ranges changed (due to harmonisation as agreed 
nationally, and change of equipment and reagents). 
 
When there was an issue within the pathology service due to the changeover of equipment and 
IT system, TDL did not follow their own escalation procedure and alert the PCT or GPs about 
the problems that they could experience and what remedial action both should take.  NWLHT 
were also experiencing similar problems for their results.  TDL subsequently advised that they 
were pre-occupied in addressing the problems and this the delay in communication and 
recognised that with hindsight, they should have alerted the PCT and GPs earlier.  
 
 

Page 22



 

Page 9   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Changing the IT system also changed the way that samples were being logged at reception and 
action has been taken in sample reception to note on the form exactly what had been received 
and so reduce the number of reports identifying ‘no samples received’.  TDL have also 
transferred one of their senior managers to sample reception to carry out GP data review and 
raise the level of accuracy by staff at the point of data entry and continue to liaise with GP 
practices to confirm accurate listing of GPs at each practice.   
 
The report provided by TDL on 08 March, was light on detail in parts and so it was difficult to 
identify lessons learned.  TDL enjoy a good reputation and it is understandable that they would 
wish to protect this.  However, in light of the requirements to put patients first and the duty of 
openness, transparency and candour, as recommended by Francisi, it is felt that all involved 
could have been more open throughout the process.   
 
The outcome of the RCA highlights that there are lessons to be learnt by all three parties: the 
service provider TDL, the PCTs and NWLHT and this has been acknowledged within the 
constructive meetings of the RCA. 
 
Whilst the team is unaware of any reports of actual patient harm as a result of these issues, 
there have been many incidents of patients attending for repeat blood tests at both the practice 
and within the hospital and some patients had to be referred to A&E Department because of 
high potassium levels.   

The RCA team recognises, and gives credit to, the GPs of Brent and Harrow for their vigilance 
and diligence in ensuring that their patients have not come to harm as a result of the issues with 
the pathology service.   

Page 23



 

Page 10   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

MAIN REPORT: 
 
Incident description and consequences 
Incident description:  

Pathology results were received from the Pathology Service in a different format than previously 
experienced.  GP practices in Brent received pathology results presented in a manner that now 
makes it possible for one result being viewed, actioned, filed and archived with the subsequent 
result that other reports within the grouping, will be filed and archived in the patient’s records 
without necessarily being viewed or actioned.  This was a significant change from the manner in 
which results had previously been received in Brent and Harrow and represents a significant 
clinical risk.  
 
Secondary to the above; spurious results, missing samples, missing test results and multiple, 
batched test results were later reported by GPs.  There was also a failure on the part of the 
service provider to report some abnormal results and other abnormal results were not being 
flagged as such.  GPs were also concerned that reference values appeared to have changed.  

 
Incident date:   Initial concern reported on 20 December 2012 
 
Incident type:   Formatting of blood results  
 
Specialty:   Pathology 
 
Actual effect on patient: Unknown at that juncture  
 
Actual severity of the incident: Potential severity assessed as Major 
 

Pre-investigation risk assessment 

A 
Potential Severity    

 (1-5) 

B 
Likelihood of recurrence  

at that severity (1-5) 

C               
Risk Rating                               
(C = A x B) 

4 5 20 

 
Background and context 
In May 2009, NHS Harrow notified the existing provider of the pathology service, North West 
London Hospitals Trust (NWLHT) that it intended to commission a new pathology service 
because they wished to transform and enhance community requested pathology services to 
deliver benefits for the eight North West London PCTs.  NHS Harrow led a market intelligence 
exercise which established that there was a market for pathology and the potential to achieve 
significant savings. In January 2010, North West London Hospitals Trust, NHS Harrow and NHS 
Brent initiated a joint Competitive Dialogue process to procure a pathology service provider to 
develop and provide pathology services to the participating Trusts and to work with them to 

Page 24



 

Page 11   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

generate additional income from these services.  A full chronology of the process that led to this 
procurement and the timeline of the procurement is included in Appendix 2 of this report.  
 
A joint Pathology Project Board steered the procurement process and, at their meeting on 04 
July 2011, recommended the appointment of The Doctors Laboratory (TDL) as preferred 
provider for the provision of services.  The contract was awarded in May 2012 and the transition 
from NWLHT to TDL commenced. On or around 10 December 2012, TDL switched to new 
equipment and a new IT system.  There were issues occurring for GPs at the time, with the 
existing service and the changeover to the new equipment and IT system compounded the 
problem.  On 20 December a GP identified that pathology results were displayed differently on 
GP systems than previously.  Of concern was the fact that the EMIS LV  GP clinical system was 
now able to file results into the patient’s record without the GP having seen or reviewed them.  It 
later transpired that this was also occurring in the INPS Vision GP clinical systems and EMIS 
Web. 
 
Subsequently, GPs began noticing a number of spurious results; the reference ranges of the 
results were noted to have changed, samples were going missing, reports were being forwarded 
to the wrong GP, and there were multiple results coming through to clinicians with up to 300 
results at a time being reported.  Concerns were raised with the PCTs and in January 2013, this 
was logged as a Serious Incident.  
 
Terms of Reference 
 
Purpose 
To identify the root causes and key learning from the multiple-incidents and use this 
information to significantly reduce the likelihood of future problems within the pathology 
service and any potential for harm to patients 

Objectives 
To establish the facts i.e. what happened (effect), to whom, when, where, how and why 
(root causes) 
To establish the cause of the changes observed in the processing and reporting of results 
To look for improvements rather than to apportion blame 
To establish how recurrence may be reduced or eliminated 
To formulate recommendations and an action plan 
To provide a report and record of the investigation process & outcome 
To provide a means of sharing learning from the incident 
To identify routes of sharing learning from the incident 
 
Agreed Terms of Reference: 
 
· To identify any clinical risk or harm to patients in the interval between contract go-live and 

the issues becoming apparent and remedial action taken 
· To review the communication about, and resolution of problems that occurred on switch 

over to the new IT system and equipment once these were flagged to TDL 
· To understand the clinical engagement in the overall procurement process and to include a 

review of the communication to primary care around the change in the provider of the 
pathology service.  

 

Page 25



 

Page 12   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Key questions/issues to be addressed: 
 

1. Was due diligence paid in terms of the procurement of the new pathology service? 

2. What were the quality standards for the contract as the KPIs were seen as too broad? 
3. Do we think that the Quality Assurance process that was in place was sufficient, and 

were there robust governance arrangements in place? 
4. Can we identify if any actual harm came to patients as a result of missing test results 

and potential clinical management issues related to the receipt of spurious test results? 

5. Could better engagement from PCT in the procurement process and subsequently, 
have reduced the impact of the service issues? 
 

Key Deliverables  

Investigation Report, Recommendations, Action Plan, Implementation of Actions 
 
Scope  

Investigate the causes of the changes to the formatting and reporting of results, spurious 
results and batching of results.  Investigate both internal and external factors that may impact 
on the quality of the pathology service or contract. 
Investigation type, process and methods used 
Multi-incident investigation 
 
Process – gathering information from interviews / audit of email trails and relevant documents.  
Meetings with the service provider, GPs, primary care managers from Brent and Harrow, the 
pathology contract manager, commissioning/operational manager for the pathology service to 
discuss and gather evidence.  (Minutes at appendix 3)   
Research (relevant articles in references) and visits to Laboratories to see process first hand.   
Meeting internally with comms team (minutes and outcomes of meeting in appendix 4).   
Document review of electronic documents on shared drive. 
 
Methods used – Gathering and mapping the information and identifying contributory factors 
and assessment of root causes using ‘fishbone’ diagram (appendix 5) 
Arrangements for communication, monitoring, evaluation and action: 

The report will be made widely available to primary care (GPs), Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees for Brent and Harrow.  It will be presented to the Quality, Safety and Clinical Risk 
Committees and the Governing Body meetings of the Brent and Harrow CCGs.  

Investigation Commissioner   Jo Ohlson (Chief Operating Officer, Brent CCG) on behalf of Rob 
Larkman (Accountable officer Brent, Ealing, Harrow and Hillingdon CCGs) 
Investigation team 
Health representation : 
Dr. MC Patel, MRCGP, General Practitioner, Brent [Chair] 
Dr. Irfan Sayed, MRCGP, General Practitioner, Harrow 
Dr. Alan Selwyn, MRCGP, General Practitioner (GP IT Advisor) 
Pauline Johnson, MA, BSc(Hons) RGN, RM, RHV, Interim Head of Quality and Safety BEHH CCGs 
Andrew Atherton, MSc, BA, PDip, HNS; Head of Primary Care Network Development, Brent CCG. 
Isha Coombes, MA, BSc, Commissioning Manager Harrow CCG. 
Tony Afuwape, MSc, BSc, IT Advisor, Brent CCG 

Page 26



 

Page 13   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Mark Browne, Non-acute Contracts Manager Brent and Harrow CCGs 
Ian Winstanley, Deputy Borough Director, Brent CCG 
Matthew Longmate, Pathology Service Contract Manager, North West London Hospitals Trust. 
 
The Doctors Laboratory representatives: 
Tim Herriman:  Group Laboratory Service Director  
Cyril Taylor : Laboratory Service Compliance Director 
John Matthews : Chief Information Officer  
Jan Stewart : Director of Quality Management   
Resources  
See appendices and References 
Stakeholders/audience   
See Communications 
Investigation timescales/schedule 
15 January to 12 March 2013 

 
Level of investigation 
SI investigated at a level 2 (Comprehensive)  

   

Information and evidence gathered 
The issue of the formatting of pathology results was the trigger for this investigation.  The GP 
who highlighted the initial concern, raised the issue at the Harness Locality Clinical Forum and 
then with the Chief Operating Officer for Brent PCT.  He had already written to the CEO at North 
West London Hospitals Trust (NWLHT) and this was when he was advised that TDL had taken 
over the service.  At the time of the incident (December 2012 – January 2013) the GP 
community within Brent and Harrow appeared to be largely unaware that the pathology service 
was now provided by a new service provider, The Doctor’s Laboratory (TDL).   
 
In order to understand why this was, the RCA investigation team (RCA team) looked at the 
procurement process, the involvement of primary care in the procurement, subsequent 
communication to GPs and Practice Managers, and any training offered on the new system.  
Additionally, the reporting process within the PCT / CCG was reviewed in order to understand 
information flows both in respect of the dissemination and sharing of information and the 
gathering and providing feedback on pathology service related matters. 
 
The Procurement Process 
In May 2009, Harrow PCT (NHS Harrow) issued a letter to NWLHT the existing provider of the 
pathology service to Harrow GPs, notifying them that with effect from 2010/11, they intended to 
follow a tendering process to commission a new pathology service.  Their stated intention was 
to lead the development of a joined-up approach to the commissioning and possible market 
testing of Direct Access pathology services. 
 
Between July and September 2009, NHS Harrow led a market intelligence initiative with 
potential providers to establish whether there were opportunities to transform and enhance 
community requested pathology services to deliver benefits for the eight North West London 
PCTs: Barnet, Brent, Ealing, Harrow, Hammersmith & Fulham, Hillingdon, Kensington and 
Chelsea and Westminster).  This exercise established that there was a market for pathology 
and the potential to achieve significant savings.   

Page 27



 

Page 14   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

 
NHS Brent, NHS Harrow and North West London Hospitals Trust initiated a joint Competitive 
Dialogue process in January 2010 to procure a pathology service provider to develop and 
provide pathology services to the participating organisations and to work with them to generate 
additional income from these services.  A full chronology of the process that led to the 
procurement, and the timeline of the procurement, is included in Appendix 2 of this report.  
 
The formal procurement process started with a Contract Notice published in the Official Journal 
for the European Union (OJEU) in March 2010.  Following the final stage of competitive 
dialogue, the two remaining bids were subjected to clinical and commercial evaluation in May 
2011.  The joint Pathology Project Board, chaired by Fiona Wise (Chief Executive of NWLHT), 
steered the process and, at a meeting on 04 July 2011, recommended the appointment of The 
Doctors Laboratory (TDL) as preferred provider for the provision of services. 
 
North West London Hospitals had also flagged up a problem with their LIMS (Laboratory 
Information Management System), on 25 May 2011 to the CEO of NHS London and the 
Accountable Officer of Brent and Harrow PCTs, who was also the SRO for Pathology across 
North West London.  The problem with the LIMS was that it was not likely to be sustainable 
beyond 6 – 10 months when either a significant upgrade or replacement would be required.  To 
mitigate this risk the replacement process needed to be underway by the end of August 2011 if 
a decision was made not to proceed with the procurement of a new pathology service.     
 
Aims of the Pathology Procurement 
The aims of the project were to ensure that the future configuration of pathology services 
provided capacity and capability to grow the pathology business and provide a robust, cost 
effective clinical service for NWLHT, NHS Brent and NHS Harrow.  The service needed to be fit 
for the future and able to deal with increased volumes of activity going forward.  The target 
outcomes for NHS Brent and NHS Harrow in entering into a joint procurement can be found at 
Appendix 6 of this report.    

The final model also had be compliant with the aims of the NHS London Pathology group, 
which had made recommendations for pathology services in London following Lord Carter’s 
national review of pathology servicesii.  The NHS Londoniii review recommended that pathology 
laboratories and clusters of laboratories require a high level of interoperability to support both 
primary and secondary users of pathology.  

The NHS London review also recommended that ‘Robust logistics and information 
management and technology (IM&T) are therefore fundamental to successful implementation of 
any networked service, providing well-ordered specimen reception with the ability to, trace and 
track samples and provide accurate and timely results that can be relied on. IT should be 
configured to support the work of clinical networks and MDTs.  The needs of GPs should be 
incorporated so that they can access the results whether requested by them or not.’  The 
procurement would seek to ensure this flexibility and improved IM&T capabilities.  

Lord Carter described the need to rationalise the number of providers of pathology services 
through the development of pathology networks and single integrated management structures 
and to ensure that patient pathways remained intact.  The report also identified several barriers 
to change which are: 

· Fragmentation of arrangements for collecting and transporting samples 

· A lack of end to end information technology (IT) connectivity 

· Variability in test repertoire, investigation protocols and reference ranges 

Page 28



 

Page 15   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

· Uncoordinated use of point of care testing (POCT) 

· A lack of knowledge and understanding of laboratory services amongst commissioners 
and senior managers 

· A complex workforce lacking in appropriate planning and development 

The procurement process was paused in March and April 2011 to allow time to consider the 
implications of the NHS London review of pathology for the sector. It was considered prudent to 
proceed as the final London solution was likely to take 2-3 years to realise, and the existing 
pathology system at NWLH was in a critical state and not expected to be operational beyond 
October 2012. 

The procurement scope included all of the general diagnostics pathology services i.e. 
Haematology, Biochemistry, Microbiology, Histopathology, Cytopathology.  Out of scope of the 
procurement were: 

· Consultant pathologists (they remain employed by the NWLHT) 

· Transport (a separate procurement was required for this element) 

· The mortuary 

· Specialist Genetics Laboratories within the Kennedy Galton Unit of NWLHT 
 

Procurement Evaluation Process 
Three bidders entered detailed dialogue with the procurement team and following that were 
invited to submit Best and Final Offers (BAFO) in April 2011.  The BAFO submissions were 
received on 16th May at which point one of the bidders advised that they had decided to 
withdraw. 
 
The clinical and commercial evaluation was conducted against published criteria.  The clinical 
submissions were assessed by a panel of 26 clinicians (including GP representatives from NHS 
Brent and NHS Harrow), managers and pathology staff, and were based on written submissions 
by the bidders and presentations made to the evaluators during an evaluation event.   

A panel of 6 managers performed the commercial evaluation including the Assistant Director of 
Commissioning from North West London Commissioning Support Unit (NWLCP) representing 
NHS Brent and NHS Harrow.  The panel was chaired by the NWLHT Assistant Director of 
Finance.   

 
Financial Assessment of the preferred bid 
Full financial evaluation of the preferred bid was included in the part 2 paper presented to the 
01 September 2011 NHS Brent and Harrow Trust Board meeting.  This is not included in this 
report because it contains commercially sensitive data.   

As the preferred proposal put to Board did not include the full scope of the current service, it 
was noted that there were a number of areas for negotiation and agreement between NHS 
Brent and Harrow and NWLHT. These included: 

· Consultant pathologists 

· Costs of the procurement project management 

· Ongoing contract management 

· Implementation costs 

Page 29



 

Page 16   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

· Service overheads 

Overall, the proposal from the preferred bidder was thought to deliver significant savings to the 
health economy and should enable them to manage future financial pressures in pathology. 
 
Feedback from Brent GPCE and Harrow CCG 
The paper presented to the PCT Boards in August 2011 advised that the Brent GP Clinical 
Executive (GPCE) and the Harrow CCG sub-groups had reviewed early drafts of the paper that 
was presented to the Trust Boards.  The sub-groups had received details of the financial 
implications and clinical input into the decision making process. Both groups were reported to 
have said that they: 
 

· Noted the financial benefits 

· Sought assurance about the ability of the preferred bidder to deliver a safe and efficient 
service and were assured that this has been provided by the process followed by the 
procurement project board 

· Highlighted concerns and risks involved in the transition process. The groups are 
reported to have discussed this at length and understood that this would inform the PCT 
input into the operational group that was to be set up to monitor the service and ensure 
a smooth transition 

· Approved proceeding with the appointment of the preferred bidder 

 
Overall benefits of the procurement as they were stated 
In addition to the financial benefits referred to (and detailed in the part 2 paper) there were a 
number of other significant benefits to the health economy of the procurement. 
 
·  The existing Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) was deemed to be in a 

critical state and no longer stable or sustainable, both in terms of hardware and software, 
with an expected remaining lifespan of 6-10 months (as at September 2011).  A full OJEU 
procurement and implementation programme would have been required to replace this and 
which may not have been deliverable before the system failed. 
 

·  The existing model of receipt for direct access Pathology samples places immense strains 
on the service with many thousands of sample tubes arriving in the early evening.  This was 
seen to cause backlogs and delays in reporting results to clinicians and, in some cases, 
directly impacted on the quality of the sample and therefore the clinical utility of the results. 
The delivery of a full order communications system across Primary Care and Secondary 
Care was required coupled with new automated analytical platforms to mitigate this risk and 
ensure samples remain stable throughout the process. 
  

· The existing necessity for an absolute 1 hour turnaround for emergency pathway specimens 
was becoming increasingly difficult to deliver due to both volume increases and the 
limitations of the existing systems and equipment.  

 

Other benefits, more difficult to quantify, would result from the proposed partnership. These 
included: 

· Improved Primary Care access to service through order communications roll-out 

Page 30



 

Page 17   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

· Reduction of duplication through visibility of results across the local health community  
· Ability to support a robust demand management scheme 
· Detailed activity reporting to understand requesting patterns and educate requesters in 

appropriate use of Pathology Services 
· Ability to limit financial liability of existing growth through marginal pricing above baseline 

activity 
 
Risk Analysis 
NHS Brent and Harrow commissioners / project board, were aware of a number of issues 
associated with the procurement project, the most significant being described below and were 
presented to the NHS Brent and Harrow Trust Board to inform the discussion and decision 
making process when agreeing for the Project Board to proceed to appoint a preferred bidder. 
 
Issue/Risk Description and mitigation 

Current LIMS is not 
robust and sustainable 

The LIMS was not likely to be sustainable beyond 6 – 10 months 
when either a significant upgrade or replacement would be required 
To mitigate this risk the replacement process needed to be 
underway by the end of August 2011 if a decision was made not to 
proceed with the procurement 

Over or under counting 
of test numbers 

The integrity of the data being extracted from the LIMS had been 
flagged as a risk as the LIMS was beyond its normal life cycle and 
not originally designed to give patient level data.  
 
The project team has taken all possible steps to validate the data 
and ensure that it is reproducible.  

Ability to manage 
demand 

Unplanned increases in demand are a risk 

Agreement on contract monitoring arrangements was to be 
negotiated before contract sign off.  It had already been agreed that 
volumes in excess of baseline activity levels, will be at marginal 
rates. Detailed information of activity at patient and GP level would 
be made available which would support demand management 
initiatives 

Transport 
arrangements 

The current transport contract had expired and is being rolled over 
on a month by month basis.  
 
NHS Brent and NHS Harrow would have to go out to procurement 
immediately to identify a transport provider. The specification would 
have to be carefully drafted with GP input to ensure that the service 
commissioned will dovetail with the KPIs agreed in the final 
pathology contract to ensure turnaround times can be achieved. 
 

Final agreement not 
yet achieved with 
NWLHT on recharges 
of full service costs 

Consultant pathologists are out of scope of the procurement and 
other overheads such as rent and rates, contract management 
costs and implementation costs would need to be apportioned 
between the three Trusts 
 
Negotiation and agreement on these areas were to be undertaken 
in September 2011 and agreed before contract sign off. 

Page 31



 

Page 18   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

PCT capacity to 
effectively input to the 
contract negotiation 
and ongoing monitoring 

Both Harrow CCG and Brent GPCE have agreed to identify lead 
clinicians. 

Management resource to be identified. 

 
A risk overview of the Pathology Procurement was undertaken by the three authorities on 30 
September 2011 and this is included in Appendix 7 of this report.   
 
NHS Brent and Harrow Trust Board meeting held 01 September 2011. 
The pathology project team and the managers and clinicians involved from NHS Brent and NHS 
Harrow presented the details of the procurement (as set out above) to the Trust Board at an 
extraordinary meeting held on 01 September 2011.  They informed the PCT Boards that the 
Board of NWLHT had given approval to move to the Preferred Bidder stage at their July meeting 
and advised the Brent and Harrow Board that the offer from the Preferred Bidder represented 
good value, meeting the objectives of the project of consolidating and modernising the service, 
delivering a significant saving to the health economy and potential for gain share as additional 
volume is brought in from new clients / sources.   

They presented the detailed financial and commercially sensitive information to the Trust Board 
in the private session (part 2) of the meeting.  The importance of the mobilisation process was 
emphasised to the board with the intention to sign off the contract in the week of October 3, 
2011 and then to initiate a separate procurement for the transportation of pathology samples.  
Subject to board agreement to progress to appointing the Preferred Bidder, there would be a 
consultation and TUPE period  of three months with the existing staff at the NPH laboratory.  
The aspiration at that point, was that the Preferred Bidder would take over the service from 5th 
January 2012 and it was noted that the Preferred Bidder had a good track record elsewhere.   

 
On this basis they recommended that the Board: 
 

· Approve the preferred provider of Pathology Services  
 

· Authorise the Chief Executive and Director of Finance to secure the best possible 
position in negotiations with NWLHT on the recharges of overheads relating to 
consultant costs, rent and rates, contract management charges, project costs and costs 
of implementation.  

 
Attention was drawn to an appendix in the paper to the Board, detailing the process chronology 
and board members were advised that those wishing to have the detailed specification would be 
provided with it.  One Board Member suggested that ‘given the complexity of the process and 
issues involved, that chair’s action be sought prior to contract signature’. 
 
The Boards of NHS Brent and NHS Harrow approved the recommendation from the Pathology 
Project Board to move to contract agreement and signature with the Preferred Bidder for the 
provision of Pathology Services and Transformation to the three parties - North West London 
Hospitals NHS Trust, NHS Brent and NHS Harrow, and subject to chair’s action. 
 

Page 32



 

Page 19   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

At the meeting, and should the appointment of Preferred Bidder be approved, the following 
action plan was tabled: 
 
Dates Actions 

August 2011 Primary care workstream established to start work on Key 
Performance Indicators, data reporting requirements, clinical and 
operational management group attendance, implementation of 
order communications and so on. 
 

September 2011 Detailed contract negotiation with the preferred bidder to agree: 
 

· Schedule 3: Performance mechanism: Finalise list of KPIs 
· Schedule 5: Continuity plan 
· Schedule 6: Contract management 
· Schedule 17: Mobilisation plan 

 
Detailed negotiation with NWLHT to agree cost apportionment for 
overheads and costs of consultant pathologists 
 

Week beginning 3rd 
Oct 2011 

Contract sign off with the preferred bidder 

SLA sign off with NWLHT 

Week beginning 10th 
October 

Initiate procurement process for transport 

Oct – Dec 2011 Consultation period and TUPE arrangements for current NWLHT 
pathology staff. Monthly meetings of operational and clinical 
management groups 
 

5th Jan 2012 Preferred bidder take over current service and implementation 
phase begins with full implementation by end September 2012 at 
the latest 
 

 

Chairs Action 
On 04 January 2012, the Deputy Borough Director / Procurement Senior Manager (senior 
manager) prepared a paper for Chair’s action as recommended in the 01 September meeting of 
NHS Brent and NHS Harrow.  This paper is not included as an appendix to this report because 
of the commercial and financial information contained therein.  Chair’s action prior to contract 
signature, was requested by the Boards because as reported in the minutes, the issues were 
too complex and because a number of significant issues had not been fully resolved at the time 
that the Boards met in September. 

Chair’s Action means that the Chair is taking the decision and having it effected without calling a 
further meeting of the PCT Board (in this case). It's quite a common thing to do where a 
situation arises that has to be dealt with very quickly, so quickly that it is not possible to wait for 
a formal meeting of the PCT Board. The chairperson may consult informally with the PCT Board 

Page 33



 

Page 20   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

members, and would usually subsequently report the decision to the PCT Board although in this 
instance, the Board had already met.  

The guidance from the chair listed what the paper should contain which in summary, meant that 
the paper had to be able to stand on its own so that anyone picking it up will understand what is 
being asked for, why, how things have meant amending the previous decision making and 
assurance processes that it had already gone through. 
 
Approval was given to contract signature and to the agreement reached on the apportionment 
and payment mechanism between NHS Brent, NHS Harrow and NWLHT.  With regard to the 
risk of the potential for LIMS system failure, this was added to the corporate risk registers for 
both Brent and Harrow PCTs. 
 
Risk Assessment for Transition and Implementation 
The risk overview of the Pathology Procurement that was undertaken by the three authorities 
on 30 September 2011 (included in Appendix 7 of this report) concentrated on the financial 
aspects of the tender (including VAT).  Whilst this is important, there should have been a risk 
analysis of the clinical and service risks throughout transition for what is essentially a clinical 
service.  The team found no evidence of any risk assessments being done from the PCT point 
of view given that they initiated the procurement and as commissioners were responsible for 
procuring an effective safe service.  It is a risk for the CCG going forward and a key 
recommendation as the team would advise that the CCG carries out risk assessments on all 
procurements and services changes including QIPP. 

The team asked TDL for their risk assessment of the service transition and implementation but 
was advised that they had not undertaken any risk assessments.  Advice since suggests that a 
a detailed and substantive risk assessment, including change control, was undertaken for every 
element of the transition although this has not yet been made available to the investigation.  
Clearly, the PCT were unaware that this existed and were not able to learn from, or contribute 
to this.  As the teams established to oversee the transition and implementation did not include 
primary care representation, all three (3) organisations were exposed to the risks that followed. 

 
Timeline of significant events preceding the incidents 
TDL were appointed as Preferred Bidder in September 2011 with the aspiration that the service 
would go live on the 5th January 2012.  This did not happen because of issues with leases and 
licenses and the need to secure additional capacity in the power supply.  Details of preparatory 
work undertaken are set out in the Blood Sciences timeline at appendix 8). 
 
The TDL contract as Pathology Provider to the three authorities (NWLHT, Brent PCT and 
Harrow PCT) commenced on the 01 May 2012.  The contract management of this service is 
through the NWLHT pathology contract manager on behalf of the three commissioners.  The 
team was advised that the intention was that the performance management of the contract 
would be undertaken by the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU), with local support from the 
non-acute contracts manager for Brent and Harrow.   
 
The responsibility for this rests with the senior manager for the procurement and contract (and 
successors) ,from the PCT who should ensure appropriate GP and PCT input into the process.  
However, the Contract Review Committee did not progress beyond the first meeting and the 

Page 34



 

Page 21   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

OMC could not continue because of the lack of attendance from the PCT and GPs.  The senior 
manager left the organisation in October 2012 and whilst the local non-acute contracts manager 
attended those meetings that were held, there was insufficient presence from the PCT to allow 
performance management of the service.   
 
There has been no active engagement from PCT management of the monitoring of the service 
from the point of the senior manager’s departure, to date.    This was evident at the first RCA 
meeting and it is noted that the transfer of the responsibility to CSU only takes place in April 
2013.  There is an SLA between the PCTs and NWLHT covering the recharge elements of the 
pathology service that are not covered by TDL, mostly relating to the recharge for the 
consultants who remain employed by NWLHT, but also includes a proportion of the cost of the 
contract manager whose expertise in respect of contract monitoring and negotiation is available 
to the CCGs.   
 
The TDL laboratory based at NWLHT (NPH) processes bloods for all of Harrow GPs and most 
of Brent GPs with the Imperial Hospitals Trust (IHT – based mostly at St. Mary’s Hospital) 
processing samples for a small number of Brent GPs in the south of the Borough.  This 
information only came to light as a result of this investigation and the review of pertinent 
documentation.  The communication process therefore needs to reflect this fact.  
 
Communication 
Communication to GP practices and from GP practices on service wide issues was agreed to be 
as set out in the Communication and Escalation protocol to be found at appendix 9 of this 
report.  For day to day individual practice or patient queries, the practices were to continue to 
use the telephone numbers previously supplied to them for contacting the relevant department 
within the NWHT laboratory. 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
Emails available to the RCA team show that on 09 September 2011, the pathology contract 
manager (NWLHT) sent an email to the commissioning lead and the CRO / GP lead for Brent 
and for Harrow.  The attachment to the email was the appendix from Schedule 3 of the Contract 
(Performance Monitoring and Service Levels) containing the KPIs and service deductions 
against them (see appendix 10 of this report).  This email was sent with the following 
instructions: 
 
‘We legally, cannot make any material changes to the contract and the service deductions are 
not intended to be punitive.  All of the KPIs must be measurable, realistically achievable and 
within the providers sphere of influence; as such, the attached does cover the majority of 
enforceable KPIs within any private Pathology contract. 
 
In summary the KPIs are: 

o Turnaround times 
o Commenting on results in an agreed manner 
o Contacting clinicians regarding abnormal results 
o Availability of IT systems 
o Telephone response times (laboratory queries) 
o Maintenance of legislative accreditations (CPA, MHRA etc) 
o Management reporting within specified times. 

 

Page 35



 

Page 22   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

The email asked for final feedback no later than the morning of 15 September from any 
colleagues who wanted to comment – any additional items will be subject to review and 
approval by our legal advisors who’s view on suitability, legally and operationally, will be final’. 
 
This was relayed on 12 September, via the CRO for Brent to the seven CCG GP members / 
Clinical Directors for Brent; a reply was received that day from one GP member, but no other 
replies are evidenced.  The KPIs were not cascaded to the Harrow GPs because there is no 
evidence to suggest that this was also received by the Harrow CRO.  He confirmed to the team 
that he did not receive them and advised that he has asked for the KPIs on many occasions.   
 
The GPs were asked to comment within 2 days on KPIs and to which they couldn’t make any 
material change, which may account for the lack of response.  However, the team is aware that 
the CRO were given the opportunity to comment on the performance schedules from their 
inception in January 2011, but had not done so.  The reasons for this are unclear; whether PCT 
management had omitted to request comments, or whether it was due to workload pressures.  
What is clear is that, throughout the transition and implementation phase, there was no 
significant involvement from the CROs into the transition and implementation phase..   
 
Primary Care Workstream 
A second email trail starting on 28 September 2011 was sent by the pathology contract 
manager to the pathology procurement project lead, and the Brent and Harrow non-acute 
contracts manager advising that: 

‘in this phase of the procurement there is no room for material or substantive changes to the 
documents as it may be claimed that we have offered a commercial advantage to the preferred 
bidder and therefore grounds for challenge.... we are getting to a point where the process is 
complete for a number of schedules so final versions will be sent through so you can familiarise 
yourselves with the content and thus be comfortable to sign in the week commencing the 10th 

(October). 

  

TDL would really like to meet with you and the CCG Contracts Manager, and the GP Leads if 
possible, to ensure that there is a good understanding of the Primary Care facing elements of 
the model.’ 
 
 A meeting was proposed at which the above and the recharge mechanism would be discussed 
and the following timetable set out: 

  
 

Mon 10th - Complete collation and printing 

Tues 11th - Sign contract (all 4 parties) 

Wed 12th - Issue Staff consultation papers 

Thurs 13th - Formal staff consultation starts 

 
The CROs for Brent and Harrow were invited to this meeting; confirmed as 12 October 2011 
and contributed the following to the proposed agenda: 
 
Key areas: 
(1) OOH abnormal results pathway. 
(2) Lost specimens (i.e. path form reaches lab but no specimens). 
(3) New User Interface (show what it will look like) = live is better than screen shots. 

Page 36



 

Page 23   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

(4) Project Management for education/training of HCP (healthcare practitioner) in using the 
future TDL Software that will sit at the User end. 
(5) The setting up of a NWLHT Pathology CQG, (similar to NWLHT CQG). This would be a 
standing committee with Clinicians from Harrow and Brent to clinically monitor TDL (TOR would 
have to be agreed). 
(6) Performance Management of the TDL Contract (KPI / SLA) would be monitored at the 
Pathology Operations Meeting? 
(7) Unlabelled Specimens Protocol (will we pay?) 
 
The CRO for Brent also added that Key for GP leads is a clear Project Timeline (with "gates") 
showing the delivery of the new Pathology software/hardware once the contract with TDL has 
officially been signed with the Trust (NWLHT) and also Brent and Harrow PCTs. 
 
This meeting went ahead on 12 October 2011 and information available to the RCA team shows 
an agenda and notes from the meeting that shows that this initial meeting covered a lot of the 
areas that was intended to be discussed in the Primary Care Workstream.  There is evidence to 
suggest that the CRO were invited to a meeting on 05 September 2011 from a paper with 
handwritten notes from the Pathology Project Board.  This appears to have been the embryonic 
Primary Care workstream (or preparations for) and which demonstrates the input of at least the 
one CRO in discussions around risk assessment, KPIs and the implementation of order comms.   
 
The future meeting was to have been on 03 October but there is no evidence that this took 
place, and certainly, requests to the CROs did not indicate that this was a regular occurrence.  
The team is not aware of anything else that might have constituted a primary care workstream 
although there is evidence to suggest that the CROs were unable to attend other meetings 
regarding pathology due to excessive workloads.  
 
After the contract was awarded, the main vehicle for communication to and from GPs and the 
PCT around the pathology service would have been the Primary Care Workstream.  This was to 
have been established to start work on Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), data reporting 
requirements, order communications and so on, nor was there the appropriate attendance at the 
OMC.  The team were are not able to establish a reason for this but what is clear is that the 
PCTs were not able to did not comply with the requirement to provide input into the OMC, or the 
reasonable expectation that they would be key participants in the agreed Primary Care 
workstream. 
  
There was an agreement in respect of how key information would be fed from TDL, through the 
PCT to general practice and back to the pathology contract manager and TDL as required.  The 
pathology contract manager confirmed at one of the RCA meetings that the PCTs had agreed 
the communication protocol and which had subsequently been amended following discussion 
between the relevant parties at one of the OMC meetings. 
 
This would seem to shift the onus from the CROs to communicate onto the senior manager and 
non-acute contracts manager for Brent, to ensure that information was cascaded out to GPs. 
However, because the amended process was not ratified at future OMC meetings as they were 
not quorate, then the process described in the communication and escalation procedure and 
reaffirmed in the 21 June email below, continued to apply. 
 
. 
 
 

Page 37



 

Page 24   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Clarification of Communication process 
The following email sent on 21 June 2012 from the pathology contract manager was provided to 
the RCA team and was intended to re-iterate or clarify the understanding that the agreed 
communication process was as set out in the protocol.  This email is set out in full as it contains 
relevant information:     
 

I thought that I would take a moment to contact you both to catch up with events over the last 
few weeks within Pathology as we have not had an opportunity to meet more recently. 
  
As you are aware the contract with TDL went live as of the 1st May 2012 and as such has 
been live for some 6 weeks. 
  
So far there has been a large amount of preparatory building work that has been undertaken 
which has been carried out safely and with no disruption to service provision………The main 
phases of construction works for the new laboratories is about to start followed shortly by a 
change in equipment based on what has been included in the contract. This will bring the 
Pathology service to the forefront of current laboratory technology and automation and afford 
us the scale and performance we require going forwards.   
 
 As different manufacturers utilise different methods to generate results there will 
undoubtedly be a number of assays which will require a change in the way that a clinician 
interprets or acts upon the results; this is mostly related to more complex investigations such 
as hormones and tumour markers for instance and may mean that patients will require new 
baselines created with respect to some of the more prognostic markers viewed over time. 
To ensure that patient safety is maintained there is a very thorough process of comparison 
statistical analysis and verification both at a technical and clinical level that is being governed 
by the consultant Pathologists in each discipline. From this there will be a process of 
communication of changes required and this will take place in a stratified way to ensure that 
the clinically important impacts are understood before changes are made.  
 
We will stratify the communications into: 
·         For information: a minor change to result interpretation or clinical practice that will not 
result in patient harm if not observed 
·         Important: changes to results interpretation or changes in clinical practice required 
which may affect patient care but not be of significant impact to a patient if not observed 
·         Critical: changes to results interpretation or changes in clinical practice required which 
may directly cause harm to a patient if not observed 
  
Obviously all of the above are important but there is a need to ensure that critical information 
is well identifiable and acted upon with due care. 
  
With regard to communication within the Primary Care GP community I am a little concerned 
that a number of practices are unaware that the contract has gone live… I would like to ask if 
we can reflect now on the channels of communications that we have to get information 
disseminated to the clinical users of the service before we are in a position to have to 
communicate critical information out. 
 
My understanding of the agreed flow is as follows: 
  
 
 

Page 38



 

Page 25   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   If preferred 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please do make comment if this is not your expectation so we can create a pathway that is 
effective and minimises patient risk. (Apologies if I have the wrong acronym for the 
commissioning boards). 
  
Dates are being circulated for the initial contractual meetings and your attendance would be 
gratefully received where possible. 
 

The diagram set out above is the one included in the communication and escalation procedure 
(included at appendix 9) and was made available to the RCA team.  The procedure also 
includes the escalation process to be followed when there is a significant impact to patient 
safety or service provision such as in the case of a failed instrument, as was the case with this 
incident.  If this escalation protocol was in place, then the team is at a loss to understand why it 
was not followed when these issues arose.  

 
TDL 

NWLH Clinical 
Leads 

(Departmental 
Consultants)  

 
Brent Clinical Lead 

(CRO) 

 
Harrow Clinical 

Lead (CRO) 
 

 
NWLH Clinical Body 

 
Brent CCG 

 
Harrow CCG 

 
Brent GP  

Community 

 
Harrow GP 
Community 

PCT Operational 
Leads 

Contract Manager 

Page 39



 

Page 26   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

In September 2012 an email from NWLHT was cascaded to all GPs informing them of the 
problems that the Trust were experiencing with the IT system used to send out Pathology and 
Radiology results to GP practices and providing them with the relevant information to access 
missing results (Revive system).  This also provided the contact numbers for Pathology and 
Radiology for those practices that were not on Revive.  This is thought to have been received by 
all the practices concerned because it was sent out by a different route, however we are unable 
to validate this as some practices did not receive it.  
 
On 28 November 2012, a communication was sent to the respective PCTs advising them of the 
impending transition date of the blood sciences department.  This was sent from the pathology 
contract manager to the COO for Brent and Harrow PCTs, the two CROs for Brent and Harrow, 
the chair of the Harrow CCG and the commissioning manager from Harrow, asking that it be 
communicated to all practices, GPs and others that routinely access pathology services.  This 
was received in Harrow but not Brent.  The email included an attachment ‘Important changes to 
your pathology service (which can be found at appendix 11). 
 
In addition to this communication, on 11 December 2012, a standard comment was attached to 
all reports to GPs indicating changes in the reference ranges due to service transition: viz 
'Effective 11/12/12, Please note changes in reference ranges for selected Chemical Pathology 
investigations, made at the recommendation of the United Kingdom Pathology Harmony 
Projectiv'. 
 
Communications (summary) 
Communication between TDL and primary care clinicians as described above, was clearly not in 
place as many GPs were unaware that the new service under contract with TDL had gone live 
in May 2012.  The email from the pathology contract manager to the PCT senior manager and 
the non-acute contracts manager, on 21 June 2012, some six weeks later was intended to re-
iterate the agreed communication process as set out previously in the communication and 
escalation procedure.  
 
The senior manager formally approved this mechanism and the Brent CRO noted the contents 
and appeared to indicate his understanding of the agreed process.  Therefore, TDL continued to 
use this process without identifying concerns about gaps in communication to PCT 
management as these were not immediately obvious.  That the communication channels 
described in the email and used by TDL, were not able ensure that the relevant information 
about the service was relayed to GPs, was evident in December 2012 – January 2013 when 
problems started to arise with the pathology service. 
 
The CROs were copied into information from TDL but without understanding their role in the 
communication process, they did not ensure that the information was forwarded on to the wider 
GP community.  It also appears that the recipients of the emails each assumed that it was the 
others’ role to do this.   
 
The team was advised by the CROs that they were not aware of a communication strategy 
relating to the dissemination of information about the pathology service and the communication 
and escalation procedure made available to the RCA investigation, did not appear to have been 
seen by them.  Had there been primary care representation at the OMC then this could have 
been developed jointly and cascaded to primary care as an appropriate way of communicating 
effectively with the pathology service.   
 

Page 40



 

Page 27   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

GPs would have had forewarning of the changes to the IT systems and switch-over to new 
equipment and would have been able to use this process to ascertain the cause of the 
formatting of results and spurious results that they experienced in December.  There would 
have been immediate communication from TDL to primary care and there would certainly have 
been a different outcome.  
  
As previously noted, the escalation process was not followed by TDL when problems arose with 
the issuing of blood results, and it is thought that TDL were concentrating on resolving the 
issues rather than alerting the PCTs and GPs that they were experiencing difficulties.  It is 
probably also true to say that TDL were unaware of the extent of the issues that GPs were 
faced with.   
 
The team questioned whether the procedure as described was realistic in its expectations that 
two very busy CROs would be an appropriate conduit to cascade information out to the wider 
primary care and in any event, this expectation was not shared effectively with the CROs as to 
secure their agreement.  There is also a mechanism already in existence which although it has 
been recognised as cumbersome, it was a recognised communication channel and did work.   
 
Performance Management and Operational Management of the contract 
Schedule 6 of the contract sets out the agreed monitoring arrangements through the bi-annual 
Contract Review Committee (CRC; Terms of Reference (ToR) and membership included in 
schedule and as set out in appendix 12), and monthly Operational Management Committee 
meeting (OMC, ToR and membership set out in schedule 6 – also at appendix 12 of this report). 
 
The team has access to one set of minutes dated 28 August 2012.  It appears that of the four 
invitees from the PCTs for the 28 July meeting, only one was able to attend; subsequent 
meetings on 28 August and 25 September had two and one management representatives from 
the PCTs but no GPs were able to attend any of the meetings.   
 
From the OMC meeting on 28 August 2012, TDL were tasked with developing the Performance 
and Quality monitoring reports.  The pathology contract manager was asked to create an activity 
reporting tool and basic trend analysis.  These contract monitoring tools were to be developed 
through the OMC, in conjunction with GPs and PCT managers but as they failed to attend, 
these were prepared by TDL and the pathology contract manager.  The only representative was 
the local non-acute contracts manager who was deputising for the senior manager and who has 
since left the organisation (as of 18 February).  It is not known what handover was provided to 
the senior manager at the time but who left shortly after (October 2012) as the handover notes 
from the senior manager do not reflect this work.   
 
It was at the OMC meeting, that the pathology contract manager was tasked with creating a 
communication and escalation procedure.  As discussed, this procedure was shared with the 
PCT managers but was not formally adopted by the CROs.  Therefore, when the pathology 
contract manager circulated a communication about the new Blood Transfusion service using 
this procedure, the appropriate action was not taken by the PCT, which would be to cascade the 
information to GPs. 
 
The inaugural meeting of the CRC was held on 02 October 2012 and consisted of the non-acute 
contract manager for Brent and Harrow and representation from NWLHT and TDL.  There are 
no minutes of this meeting available to the team despite asking TDL and checking the shared 
drive within the PCT.  The only minutes available to the team (at the time of writing) from the 
CRC and OMC meetings held, are the OMC meeting of the 28 August 2012 and which appears 

Page 41



 

Page 28   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

to have been the Inaugural meeting of that forum.  The ToR as set out in the contract was 
adopted and it was noted that this meeting was not quorate as no GPs were present.  The 
discussion regarding the chair of the group elicited a requirement for the Harrow CCG chair to 
be approached but the team is not aware of the conversation, just that this did not happen. 
 
Generally speaking, the decisions made at a meeting of an organisation are only binding if 
enough members are present at the meeting. This minimum number of members, called the 
“quorum” of the assembly, is beneficial because it protects the association from decisions being 
made by unrepresentative subsets of the membership.  Minutes should be taken, and read and 
approved at the next quorate regular meeting in the usual manner; meetings held without 
quorum have very little ability to make important decisions that are binding upon the 
organisation.  At subsequent meetings, there were also no GP representatives available, so 
meetings were cancelled and therefore the minutes recording decisions, were not approved. 
 
However, TDL suggest that the contract is silent with regard to the need for the presence of 
GPs – in other words both Committees can be quorate without any GPs being present.  It would 
be unusual if that were the case as decision could be made about services that impacted on the 
GPs for whom the CCG had commissioned the service, without any clinical representation from 
the CCG / GPs. 
 
There was a meeting held on 05 September 2011 and one planned for the 03 October that 
appeared to be the Primary Care Workstream, however, these did not continue.  The meeting 
held on 12 October 2011 may have proved to been an alternative date as information recently 
available suggests that the agenda (see Appendix 13) covered the primary care interface, 
clinical and operational management, and performance of the service.  Also discussed was the 
change to the reference ranges and the integration of IT systems.  Of note is that the meeting 
also dealt with general operational questions such as lost samples, unlabeled samples, the 
telephoning of abnormal results out of hours and so on.  None of this was relayed to the wider 
GP community and represents a missed opportunity to involve GPs in information exchange 
about the pathology service.   
 
This meeting did include GP representation in that the CROs for Brent and Harrow attended, but 
the team is advised that no further meetings took place and is suggestive of a lack of ownership 
from the PCT perspective in that there was insufficient, relevant input into key decisions 
regarding the pathology service, particularly in ensuring that it meets the needs of GPs.  This 
absence may also reflect one of the barriers to change cited by Lord Carter which is a lack of 
knowledge and understanding of laboratory services amongst commissioners and senior 
managers.   
 
The continuity provided by the senior manager for the procurement and transition within the 
PCT, was lost when they left the organisation at a crucial time in October 2012.  It is thought 
that two or more managers took a caretaker role rather than truly engaging in the management 
of the contract to ensure PCT input into the transition and implementation.  The team has since 
discovered that the files made available at the initial handover were still with the ‘caretaker’ of 
the service and not with the current responsible senior manager, again suggestive of a lack of 
ownership of the responsibility for the pathology contract.  These files contained a great deal of 
information about the planned primary care workstream and other key documents including the 
work schedule going forward. 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

Page 29   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Quality Assurance and a Consultant led service 
Schedule 4 of the contract is the Governance and Consultant Led policy for the service.  
Consultant Pathologists are consulted on strategic and operational issues and any significant 
change in the service to the hospital or GPs, is expected to be informed through the 
management structures between the contractor and the Trust (NWLHT).  They set the 
standards and procedures for the total quality system of the contractor, and the appropriate 
clinical and senior biomedical staffs support the design of the quality and performance 
framework for the service model, as part of the contractor organisational requirements. 
   
The schedule also confirms that Quality and Performance Management is integral to the 
operational management arrangements between the contractor and the Trust.  This should 
more accurately be the Trusts, to include all three relevant signatories to the contract.  The 
consultant pathologists monitor quality measures on a regular basis in their respective 
disciplines and take action when performance falls short of the agreed standards. 
 
The role of the Consultant Pathologist includes, but is not limited to: 

o review of Quality Control and Quality Assurance data; 
o liaison with the Trust’s users of the pathology services;  
o determine action limits for telephone reporting of abnormal results; 
o determine clinical priorities in the work of the department; 
o request repeat analysis of any patient test or tests; 
o ensure additional investigations are carried out as a consequence of results found on 

specimens; 
o appropriateness of test requests and specimens; 
o monitor requests and influence demand from the Trust’s users of the service; 
o audit, research and development, and 
o direct patient care. 

 
It is understood that the consultant pathologists undertook comparative studies of every test that 
had changed, including statistical assessment and clinical assessment in order to understand 
what had happened during this incident.  We are informed that they liaised with some GPs who 
had raised concerns and provided clinical guidance where appropriate.  They are also reported 
to have monitored trends in poor assay performance and verified that the quality improvements 
were successful.  They ensured that TDL had appropriate mechanisms for change management 
in place and identified many functional issues in the IT system.  When asked if they were now 
able to reassure GPs that the service was safe as a result of the measures in place, they 
advised that it was too soon to say, as the measures taken needed to be sustainable before it 
could be referred to as safe. 
  
Consultant Pathologists also ensure that the laboratory Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) 
are present, correct and appropriate to the contractor.  Schedule 6 of the contract, also contains 
the right for Consultant Pathologists to advise the Trust whether the contractor is compliant with 
the standards required by the hospital Clinical Governance System.  It is not explicitly the right 
of the other two parties to receive this advice, as it was never requested by the PCTs at the time 
however; the CCGs are at liberty to ask if any of the clinical team (pathologists) could verify if 
TDL/PCTs have appropriate clinical governance arrangements in place.   
  
General Practitioners appeared to be unaware of the process that TDL intended to follow for the 
telephoning of urgent bloods as they raised concerns that some results had not been 
telephoned through but were sent using the same process as routine reports.  The telephoning 
of urgent bloods are as set out in the Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and whilst these 

Page 43



 

Page 30   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

are the same NWLH SOPs that had been in place for a number of years with only slight 
variations, these have only recently been shared with general practice and there has been a 
request that these be reviewed with GP input. 
 
The Consultant in this service is expected to act as the patients’ advocate and where the 
management of the patient demands flexibility, they can request that samples are fast tracked, 
repeated or referred externally for analysis.  The calcium issue is a prime example; many 
batches of results were re-run and verified.  This resulted in a deluge of corrected reports as a 
result of the consultants identifying issues, asking for remedial actions and the service re-
reporting appropriately.  Specialist assays with poor performance were also sent to alternative 
laboratories and certain assays were taken out of service at NWLH to be run at other TDL 
laboratories at the request of the consultants.   
 
The actions taken by the consultants, eventually stemmed the flow of spurious results and it is 
now known that they and TDL have developed a comprehensive action plan to address 
deficiencies in the system during transition and deal with artifacts as they arose although they 
did not immediately initiate contact with GPs as this was an emerging, complex situation where 
GPs were already on heightened alert.  However, Consultants did say that they are continually 
monitoring trends and results to ensure that what is reported is as accurate as possible, given 
the circumstances.    
 
The pathology contract manager (in his role as General Manager for Pathology at NWLHT), 
along with the Consultant Biochemist, met with local trust stakeholders who had collated 
incidences of issues. This operational and consultant clinical support was also provided to 
primary care by phone, email and by visiting practices in order to support community users.  
 
Through detailed investigation of issues being raised by primary care and secondary care, they 
were able to ascertain the root causes of the issues as broadly falling into the following 
categories: 
 

o General Equipment Stability 
o IT Systems and sample handling systems set-up 
o Laboratory staff familiarisation with equipment and systems 
o Customisation of a system to meet end users clinical needs 

 
It is also notable that the general service provision issues seen by GPs were not exclusive to 
primary care but were also present in the acute trust (NWLHT). These were actively managed 
by the General Manager for Pathology with TDL, which led to their resolution. 
 
Accuracy of results received / Reference Ranges 
One of the first changes that GPs became aware of when the new system was introduced was a 
change in the reference ranges of the tests that they were ordering.  Although this had been 
communicated out to GPs on 28 November 2012, we have seen that the communication 
process was not effective and quite clearly did not work.  Laboratory test results play a crucial 
role in the decisions that doctors make about the health of a patient, from diagnosis to 
monitoring and prognosis.  Test results are usually interpreted based on their relation to a 

Page 44



 

Page 31   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

reference rangev and so this communication was crucial to GPs understanding and 
preparedness for the changes. 
 
The article referenced above notes that ‘Reference values are dependent on many factors, 
including patient age, gender, sample population, and test method, and numeric test results can 
have different meanings in different laboratories. The laboratory report containing test results 
should include the specific reference range for the test(s) ordered.  Whether or not a test result 
is within the laboratory reference range, the result must be considered within the context of the 
patient’s personal circumstances, and with the benefit of the doctor's knowledge of the patient’s 
past medical history, current medication and the results of any other investigations.  Also, when 
interpreting laboratory results it is important to know that the sample was collected and handled 
correctly.   
 
Doctors trust laboratory results.  That trust is well placed because Clinical laboratory testing has 
to meet very high standards.  A test method must meet rigorous criteria before it can be used in 
clinical practice and a laboratory must demonstrate that it is able to perform tests in a clinically 
acceptable way. A professional accrediting organisation for pathology, Clinical Pathology 
Accreditation (CPA) (UK) Ltd, monitors laboratories and sets standards that a laboratory must 
meet in order to be accredited to perform clinical testing. Some of these standards are routine 
quality control tests and demonstrate that they have policies and procedures in place to help 
ensure that the sample is collected and handled in an appropriate way and that results are 
reported with information to help with interpretation of the result. 
 
These requirements ensure that the tests performed by clinical laboratories for patient care will 
produce results that can be trusted’.  However, the incidents that occurred throughout the period 
beginning 20 December, have shaken confidence in the pathology service and undermined that 
implicit trust. 
 
Clinical Pathology Accreditation 
CPA UK Ltd was formed by the main UK organisations of laboratory professionals to operate a 
scheme of voluntary accreditation for laboratories. Laboratories participating in the scheme are 
inspected every four years and have to renew their registration every year, confirming that they 
are continuing to operate according to strict guidelines. Although the scheme is voluntary, a 
significant number of UK clinical laboratories are currently accredited by the scheme, and the 
phrase 'CPA accredited laboratory' is a guarantee that the laboratory has been inspected and 
approved as a provider of results which meet accepted standards. 
 
The team understands that at the time that these issues arose, the TDL Laboratory on the 
NWLHT site was not accredited and that the nine month timeline for this is set out in the 
transition plan.  The other reference to a nine month timescale that the team were aware of was 
the relief period and which is a contractual agreement in relation to the time from 
commencement of the contract, within which no financial penalties will apply to the provider 
under the terms of the contract, whilst the service ‘beds in’.  The application for accreditation 
(also on a nine month timescale) after service commencement was required because”there had 
been a change in legal entity and re-application was carried out in line with the Contract”.   
 
Causative Factors 
With regard to training, this was to be cascaded training using the practice managers to ensure 
that the new system was understood and that specific issues and concerns would be escalated 
appropriately.  The team was advised that in the handover from the senior manager, it was 

Page 45



 

Page 32   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

suggested that there had been a meeting with the practice manager’s forum to go through the 
new system and this was supplemented by a series of emails.  It became apparent only when 
the investigation began that this did not take place; the practice manager’s forum in Brent meets 
quarterly, and in Harrow, monthly.  There is no recollection of this discussion taking place 
amongst practice managers in Brent, nor is there any reference to this discussion in the 
minutes.     
 
Emails sent to the CRO intended to advise practices and GPs that the system was going live, 
were not forwarded on to practices and therefore, none were alerted to this through this 
medium, nor did any of the GPs or practices receive any training on the new system.  TDL 
advise that they would not have offered this as they could not have been aware of the changes 
in format of results that subsequently followed.  

However, TDL approached 6 Harrow and one Brent practice to participate a pre go live test: 

1. Practice E84015 Brent - - Clinical system Vision (INPS) 

2. Practice E84009 Harrow – Clinical system Vision 
  

3. Practice E84057 Harrow  – Clinical system EMIS 
  

4. Practice E84068 Harrow - Clinical system Vision 
  

5. Practice E84008 Harrow – Clinical system Vision 
  

6. Practice E84061 Harrow – Clinical system EMIS 
 

IT System 
The old Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) used by NWLHT was Cerner 
Millennium. This was a 12 year old system which ran on obsolete hardware and had a failing 
operating system. In addition there were concerns of the system not having sufficient data 
storage capacity to accommodate the expected volume in pathology data. It was therefore 
deemed that Cerner Millennium was not “fit for purpose” with a risk associated to its stability and 
deterioration as it approached its operational expiration.  

As part of the changeover in the provision of pathology services it was agreed that the 
contractor (TDL) would introduce its own LIMS into NWLH as soon as practically possible 
following the signing of the contract and before the old LIMS failed.  

The Cerner Millennium LIMS continued to be used by TDL until 11 December 2012 when the 
new system Clinisys WinPath LIMS came on stream.  TDL also provided dedicated interfaces to 
Indogo4’s Keystone Enterprise a middleware technology used to manage the pathology data 
flows to the GP clinical systems which supported the National Pathology Messaging 
Implementation Programme (PIMP) specification.  

Below are two diagrams depicting the data flows between the systems before and after the 
change: 

Page 46



 

Page 33   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

 

Page 47



 

Page 34   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 

Diagram 1: Laboratory Data Flow before the Change with Cerner Millennium LIMS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lab Analysers 

 

Ce
rn

er
 M

ill
en

ni
um

 

In
te

rf
ac

e/
In

te
gr

at
io

n 
M

od
ul

e 

Indigo 4 Keystone 
Middleware 

GP System 

Lab results in 
National Standard 

format (Ungrouped) 

Lab results in 
National Standard 

format (Ungrouped) 

Lab results in 
National Standard 

format (Ungrouped) 

Lab results in 
National Standard 

format (Ungrouped) 

Lab results in 
proprietary format   

Page 48



 

Page 35   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 

Diagram 2: Laboratory Data Flow after the Change with Clinisys Winpath LIMS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Before the changeover, the old LIMS (Cerner Millennium) was only able to send pathology 
results individually under one header/profile and as a result GP practices were receiving results 
ungrouped. The inability of Cerner Millennium to send the pathology messaging in batches 
meant that it actually provided a better service to GPs in terms of presenting the data by patient 
and allowing each result to file separately.  

With the changeover the new LIMS is now grouping a full set of results together as batteries and 
sending under one file. Practices are now receiving multiple test results under one 
heading/profile. As a result the GP clinical systems are displaying the results to the GP in a way 

Lab Analysers 

Indigo 4 Keystone 
Middleware 

GP System 

 

Cl
in

is
ys

 W
in

Pa
th

 L
IM

S 

In
te

rf
ac

e/
In

te
gr

at
io

n 
M

od
ul

e 

Lab results in 
proprietary format   

Lab results in 
National Standard 
format (Grouped) 

 

Lab results in 
National Standard 
format (Grouped) 

 

Page 49



 

Page 36   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

that presents a clinical risk to the management of the patient. The mechanisms of messaging for 
both LIMS are compliant with CfH’s National Pathology Messaging specification.  

However it is the display of the messaging in the receiving GP clinical system ( i.e. EMIS, Vision 
etc.), which are compliant to national PIMP messaging standards, that causes the risk as the 
example below illustrates; 

1. The 1st test result available from the Laboratory is displayed as an entire report which 
has the title of the header result (this is not necessarily the primary test result requested) 
and the other test results are displayed as subsets. The clinician might be inclined to 
read the header result (e.g. for a normal B12) and miss the abnormal (e.g. folate result) 
listed as a subset under B12 header (which can be displayed a different location on the 
screen). Indeed if there is a long list then important results such as a grossly abnormal 
TSH result could ‘scroll off’ the screen and be missed. In addition if the GP opens and 
accepts the result it will file the entire report, therefore, inadvertently file the subset 
results without clinical review.  

The filing of the subset of a patient’s results without the necessary clinical interface is a concern 
and could have serious consequences on the clinical management of the patient. As this 
appears to be happening across the country due to the National Standard format of results, this 
concern has been escalated to the Department of Health and the Secretary of State for Health.  
On 29 January, Connecting for Health (CfH), EMIS and Vision(INPS) were notified of this as a 
problem and then on 05 February, the clinical safety teams for Vision (INPS) and EMIS were 
alerted.  To date, there has not been a formal response from CfH.  

On 07 March 2013 the National Clinical Lead for GPs and Clinical Director for Electronic 
Prescription Service within the Department of Health Informatics Division (National Clinical 
Lead), visited the practice of the chair of the RCA investigation and observed first-hand the 
issues experienced by GPs using EMIS LV.  He acknowledged that this is a problem and has 
advised that he will now escalate this nationally with the intention of setting up a national 
enquiry to look into the issues presented.  He has also acknowledged that the grouping of 
results is unsafe and the team will agree how to progress this concern. 

 
Equipment and Resources 
Schedule 9 of the contract identifies the new equipment that TDL intended to purchase as soon 
as practicable after day one of the contract, and in accordance with the transition plan.  For 
example in haematology, the automated FBC analysers; an automated ESR analyser with the 
potential to connect to a Tosoh HbA1c analyser; a standalone medium-capacity coagulation 
analyser will also be installed, together with tube sorter robotics; automated pre analytics, fully 
tracked and integrated Biochemistry analysers, with post analytic sample filing and sorting.  
Similar upgrades in equipment introduced in biochemistry, microbiology, cytopathology and 
histopathology means that the laboratory will be a fully automated, state of the art technology to 
support sample analysis.     
 

Page 50



 

Page 37   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

The introduction of this new equipment over time replacing the existing NWLHT laboratory 
equipment will be undertaken in a phased way in line with the transition plan.  It is anticipated 
that there will be sufficient capacity in the new analysers for current and projected workloads 
and sufficient analytical provision for unexpected downtime and to maintain the specified 
turnaround times (TaT).  All analysers are to be connected to the LIMS database. 
 
The IT system and key equipment were changed over at the same time which potentially 
exacerbated any problems with one or the other.  However, it is understood that IT and 
analysers had to be changed simultaneously as the in-use analysers and IT were considered to 
be at risk of affecting the service.  Blood sciences had to be a single transition due to fact that 
samples arrived together on the same request form and mapping analysers to existing IT 
system was not possible.  Protocols are in place for back-up at a tertiary site should the NWLH 
laboratories suffer catastrophic failure and the back-up plans were mobilised whilst the 
investigation of the calcium assay performance was underway.  Samples were transported to 
the Whitfield Street laboratory in line with the contingency on 12 January, although this was not 
relayed to the PCT until a meeting on January 15, 2013.  
  
Certain assays are available as a single test and the RCA team was keen to know why the ‘odd’ 
groupings that were received GPs.  The team is advised that this is because the results often sit 
in a group profile and this is standard practice across pathology facilities, e.g. Haematinic profile 
as opposed to individual request for B12, Folate and Ferritin.  
. 
TDL advise that new analysers always require new reagents to be IVD (In Vitro Diagnostic) 
registered, which may have an effect on blood results that is usually highlighted during 
validations.  In respect of the Biochemistry assays the vast majority of commonly requested 
tests covering GP work were changed from the Abbott to Roche analysers.  The team are 
advised that: 

 
“As part of the comprehensive validation process, the Head of Biochemistry looked at 
comparisons between original reagents / methodology and proposed reagents / 
methodology and took a view on whether the methods gave comparable results, and 
whether any change required specific advice on method change and whether the 
proposed method was suitable to move to for routine clinical use” 

  
A number of assays have been highlighted as potentially having problems since the transition, 
these include: 
 

o Creatinine 
o Albumin 
o Vitamin B12 
o INR 
o HbA1C 
o Potassium 

 
As described, the Consultant Biochemist and Haematologist completed a detailed statistical 
method comparison for assays that had a change in methodology or platform in order to validate 

Page 51



 

Page 38   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

the performance and clinical impact of the changes. This process identified that there would be 
some variability in results for a number of the assays but not of significant clinical impact when 
adjusted reference ranges were applied. This change in reference ranges was communicated 
from the pathology contract manager to the PCTs to be communicated onto GPs.  
 
The communication was stratified as important - which indicates that there are changes to 
results interpretation (or changes in clinical practice required) which may affect patient care but 
not be of significant impact to a patient if not observed.  This communication was not received 
by the GP communities in Brent and Harrow. 
 
A number of the tests listed above are covered in more detail in the section looking at the 
impact on patients and practices. 
 

In the period 20 December 2012 to 25 February 2013 TDL logged 33 incidents.  These were 
investigated in line with their SOP, Incident Reporting and Management in Q-Pulse, this 
together with the SOP for the Management of Non-Conformity can be found at appendix 14. 

Organisational factors impacting on the risk to the procurement and transition 
Organisational changes during the procurement and transition were primarily due to the PCTs 
response to emerging national policy.  The NHS White Paper issued in July 2010vi setting out 
the Government's long-term vision for the future of the NHS, signalled the coalition 
government’s policy (subject to consultation) that GPs should lead commissioning and that by 
April 2013, GP commissioning consortia will be responsible for commissioning many of the 
services currently commissioned by PCTs.  
 
In 2010/2011, NHS Brent and NHS Harrow went through re-organisation to take account of the 
management costs reduction requiredvii.  On 1st April 2011, the North West London Cluster 
(NWLC) of 8 PCTs formed 3 sub clusters:  

1) Inner: Kensington & Chelsea, Hammersmith & Fulham and Westminster PCTs,  

2) Outer: Hounslow, Hillingdon & Ealing PCT and  

3) Brent & Harrow PCTs (Brent & Harrow sub cluster).  

The sub clusters started working with commissioners on how they could support GP 
commissioning, in advance of the Health and Social Care Act 2012viii passing legislation (the 
King’s Fund provide a very useful summary and visual timelineix. From April 2011 and as the 
Brent and Harrow Sub-cluster, Brent and Harrow operated as a single Board with six non-
executive directors drawn from the Brent and Harrow PCT Boards. 

In April 2012, the NW London Sub-cluster changed again to four PCTs for Inner NWL and four 
for Outer and which included Brent, Ealing, Harrow and Hillingdon (BEHH) in order to support 
the 2012 Shadow CCGs which were set up in October of that year, prior to them being 
authorised in April 2013. 

Page 52



 

Page 39   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

An analysis that is available from the King’s Fundx suggest that CCGs will differ from PCTs in 
two key ways (the first is very important in the context of this report).  First, management 
resources will be lower for CCGs, and as a result of this more of their functions will be shared 
between CCGs or delegated to commissioning support services and other organisations. So the 
organisations themselves will be smaller than PCTs even if the population size they cover is 
comparable. In some cases the extent of sharing or delegation of commissioning functions may 
raise the question of whether the size of each individual CCG is the most important issue. 

Second, while the degree of variability may be similar for CCGs and PCTs, the factors driving it 
could be very different. PCTs are administrative constructs, whereas the shape and size of 
CCGs has been influenced by a number of factors, including clinical flows, perceived ‘natural’ 
population groups, the pattern of professional relationships across a local area, and existing 
administrative boundaries. A CCG may be small (or large) for different reasons than those that 
determine PCT size. 

With regard to the first key difference, the management resource is already lower in PCTs due 
to the three month shadow period before authorisation.  This means that the work entailed in the 
transition from one organisation to another has to be carried out with a shrinking resource whilst 
still maintaining business as usual.  Managers are leaving to secure permanent roles, interims 
are covering vacant positions, and the movement of key staff means an inevitable loss of 
capacity and organisational memory.   

Page 53



 

Page 40   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

FINDINGS: 

Chronology of events 

Chronology (timeline) of events 
Date & Time Event 
12.12.12 TDL contract go-live date using a new IT system and new Equipment.  Communication 

out to GPs to advise that largely, GPs would see no difference apart from improved 
performance which will become apparent over the next few months as the services bed 
in and alerting them to 3 key changes: 

1.  Reference Ranges – will change for a number of tests 
2. Serum Folate – this test will replace the red folate test 
3. Autoantibodies screen – this profile will be replaced with number of condition 

specific profiles. 
The full text of this email can be found at appendix 15 of this report. 

17.12.12 TDL advised (subsequently) that issues with the new robotic software meant that some 
HbA1c assays remained un-analysed (samples taken on 12, 13, 14 December).   
Remedial action taken by TDL but not flagged to the PCT  

20.12.12 A Brent GP raised concerns with the PCT to advise that the formatting of results had 
changed in such a way as to permit the filing of results into patient’s notes without the 
pre-requisite clinical interface. 
An internal investigation was undertaken to look into this. 

21.12.12 TDL laboratory staff noted that the post analytic sorting robot was filing incomplete 
assays as completed. 
This was not reported to the PCTs at that time because the scale of the incidents was 
not apparent to TDL at that time. 

22.12.12 Senior TDL staff on site with BMS (Biomedical sciences)staff to investigate the post 
analytic robot issues that had occurred the previous day. 

23.12.12 Roche diagnostics attended the NPH Laboratory to undertake an assessment of the 
post analytic robot issues of 21.12 12.  The cause was found to be a software issue 
and remedial action taken. 
The PCTs were not alerted to this at this time.  

02.01.13 The GP who raised the concerns about the filing of results on 20.12 12 contacted the 
PCT to advise of further issues: 

a) Results missing since 18.12.12 for one GP and 21.12.12 for another 
b) Samples returned and labelled too old despite being sent same day as taken 
c) Automated request forms being filed as origin unknown or identified as 

originating at the hospital 
d) Some codes had changed making it difficult to reconcile with QoF 
e) Some samples being filed on the NWL browser 

09.01.13 The issue was logged as a SI on Datix and StEIS 
10.01.13 COO of Brent PCT advised that the issues arising had been added to the PCT Risk 

Register. 
10.01.13 A GP contacted TDL querying a low calcium result.   

This was investigated but was not conveyed to the PCTs at that time. 
10.01.13 Another Brent GP contacted the PCT to advise of several issues with spurious results 

and missing results, some retrievable and some not. 
10.01.13 A Brent GP advised that circa 300 results had been received by the practice and that 

many of them dated from October 2012.  
TDL later advised that it was due to corrective action due to database review. 

10.01.13 Conference call between Brent COO, Operational Manager for Pathology contract and 
the GP who originally raised the alarm to agree responsibilities and timelines: 

1. Urgent communication to all Brent GPs about the risk of missing pathology 
results with the way that results are currently communicated by TDL 

2. Ensure logged on Datix and complete Root Cause Analysis 

Page 54



 

Page 41   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

3. Investigation to be undertaken 
4. Meeting with Brent, Harrow and TDL to identify all issues relating to flow of 

pathology results and agree remedial action 
5. Other issues raised (e.g. Community services access to results to be 

separately logged and investigated  
10.01.13 Brent GP contacted LMC regarding the concerns of GPs and this was forwarded to the 

COO for her response and action and received on 11.01.13. 
11.01.13 Harrow PCT were alerted to the escalating issues and asked to enquire if Harrow GPs 

were experiencing the same volume of spurious results, missing results and missing 
samples as the Brent GPs are reporting. 

11.01.13 One Brent surgery undertook an audit of blood test results and identified: 
· Excessive number of spurious results necessitating patients to be re-bled 
· Confidence lost in the service; 
· Lost results particularly problematic for those practices with sessional doctors 
· Confusion as to which codes to use (GMC, GMP prescribing codes etc)    

11.01.13  
 
 

NHS Brent and NHS Harrow contacted all practices to advise of recent changes to the 
Pathology Service based at NPH in that the service provider was now TDL.  GPs and 
Practice Managers needed to be aware of the following factors: 
a) Format of the report has changed to a single report issued rather than multiple 

reports per request 
b) Due to the bedding in of equipment and refinement of laboratory processes, there 

has been some delay.  Practices would see some retrospectively reported results 
appearing over the following few days. 

c) Urgent meeting scheduled with TDL for the following week to address these 
concerns; a root cause analysis is to be undertaken and the concerns to date have 
been logged on Datix (as a Serious Incident) 

Contact details for the pathologists were appended to the foot of the letter, the full text 
of which can be found in appendix 16. 

 13.01.13 Brent GP reported Urinalysis shows unusual ACR/microalbumin 
TDL advised. 

14.01.13 Harrow GP advised of problem with abnormal calcium and raised MCV levels.  They 
queried this with TDL who re-ran 300 samples with many amended normal results. 

14.01.13 Other Harrow GPs reporting problems with the laboratory service: 
a) Lab results collated in an unusual way and Vision website had become less 

functional; 
b) Spurious results and failure to process 

14.01.13 One Brent GP advised wrong result on H. Pylori test – was sent report for a different 
patient (patient not positive at all, but negative) 

14.01.13 Brent GP - HbA1c specimen inadvertently discarded in hard to reach patient. 
14.01.13 The Chief Operating Officer (COO) of NHS Brent contacted the COO at NPH to see if 

they were experiencing problems with INR results.  
NWLHT advised that they too were experiencing issues with INR results. 

15.01.13 The first meeting of the Root Cause Analysis (RCA) into the Pathology issues was held 
and included representation from NHS Brent, NHS Harrow, Brent and Harrow GPs, 
primary care managers from both CCGs, the contract manager for pathology from 
NWLHT, the local non-acute contracts manager, the Deputy Borough Director with a 
responsibility for pathology, Directors and managers from TDL and the IG manager 
from Brent and Harrow CCGs.   
Minutes can be found at appendix 3 of this report. 
Action points can be found in the Chronology of events at appendix 17) 

16.01.13 A letter was sent to all GP practices from the Accountable Officer for NHS Brent and 
NHS Harrow advising of the outcome from the meeting (in appendix 16 of this report) 
A letter of apology from TDL was also included in the communication.  

22.01.13 RCA meeting (2) held with CEO of TDL present (minutes at appendix 3 of this report 
and Action in Chronology at appendix 17)   

Page 55



 

Page 42   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

29.01.13  RCA meeting (3) (minutes at appendix 3 of this report and Action in Chronology at 
appendix 17)  

29.01.13 Format of results raised with CfH, EMIS and Vision (INPS)  
05.02.13 RCA meeting (4) minutes can be found at appendix 3 of this report and Action points at 

appendix 17)  
05.02.13 Clinical Safety teams in EMIS and Vision (INPS) alerted regarding format of results 
05.02.13 GP in Harrow using Vision, flagged up to TDL that the grouping of his results did not 

make sense and asks TDL if this can be fixed.  Advised TDL working with PCT to fix it. 
06.02.13 CQC Inspector (1) contacted  team regarding an issue raised with him by a GP 
08.02.13 CQC Inspector (2) contacted team regarding conducting inspection of TDL Laboratory 
08.02.13 Letter from MP to Accountable Officer of PCTs, seeking information and  reassurance 

around patient safety following an alert from a constituent. 
12.02.13 RCA meeting (5) minutes can be found at Appendix 3 of this report and Actions in 

Chronology at appendix 17) 
13.02.13 GP in Harrow contacted TDL cc PCT and challenges the view that it is a Vision 

problem because never occurred before when working with NPH (previous system).   
Flags up a near miss where a grossly abnormal TSH was almost missed because it 
was received under a bulk FBC header and was so far down the screen that it scrolled 
off the page (copied to TDL).  He was to ask Vision Helpline for their perspective. 

13.02.13 TDL respond saying working with Indigo4. EMIS and Vision.  National specification for 
these messages allows for multiple test sets to be sent in single messages.   
GP encouraged escalate to Vision. 

15.02.13 GP IT Lead for Brent PCT advises that he has raised the issue with the Vision National 
User Group and others using EMIS.  He suggests a high level alert be sent to all GPs 
in Brent and Harrow regarding due care and attention; to scroll to end of every list sent. 
He further suggests an interim safety measure (treating requests in bundles of no more 
than 3 sets) before a significant error occurs.  

15.02.13 CCG Chair of Harrow raises his concerns about format of results and volume of 
erroneous tests still coming through; and courier service and high Potassium results. 

18.02.13 Response to CCG Chair from Director of Quality and Safety re-affirming RCA process 
and report due to be published – but answering the questions raised. 

 
Detection of incident 
Please refer to the Incident description (p10) and Conclusion and Recommendations (53) for full 
details.   

Care and service delivery problems 
From the date of go-live, a number of issues presented themselves to clinicians as missing 
results, poor turnaround times and general poor quality of service provision.  Specific issues that 
have caused difficulty in patient management include: 

o Turnaround times, particularly noted by hospital clinicians in A&E and paediatrics; 
o Un-reportable HbA1c results as a consequence of machine failure; 
o Calcium results missing from some requests; 
o A perceived increase in haemolysed samples; 
o  Second glucose results missing from glucose tolerance test requests. 

 
Other symptoms of a problematic service transition were also apparent such as:  

o High levels of incorrect Potassium results, either too high a value or too low;  
o Calcium – excessive numbers of low calcium levels were reported by many GPs  

Page 56



 

Page 43   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

o Unexpectedly low INR results with attendant problems with clinical management of the 
patient.  

Incorrect abnormal results and differences in the reporting of results can occur in laboratories 
due to changing the analytical platforms. Assays can also be affected by various pre-analytical 
techniques e.g. phlebotomy and equipment used for the phlebotomy. All service related areas 
are susceptible to human and clerical error and laboratories are no different in this regard. Each 
area has now been thoroughly investigated and the following are advised to be the causative 
factors: 

o HbA1c results – this was due to the failure of the robotic arm.  Samples were compared 
across sites to perform a comparability check on the NWP analyser.  There are reported to 
be no changes from the pre-transition analysers, reagents or staff running the analysers at 
NWP. A cross site check was performed in order to see if NWP analyser is reading high, as 
comments indicated  that it was a significant new phenomena (full analysis at appendix 18). 

 
o Calcium  - abnormal Calcium results were due to a poor calibration of the assay on one line 

of the analyser. TDL have investigated with the supplier and this has been reported as such, 
which has now been modified so that this is unable to occur again. 

 
o Haemolysed samples were due to the issues with transport and phlebotomy technique. 

 
o GTT (second test missing) – was as a result of human error on the part of a laboratory 

technician who thought that the second test had been done. 
 

o Potassium value is a more complex issue.  The main causes of pseudo-hyperkalaemia in 
primary care are generally associated with the temperature and the length of time taken for 
samples being transported from primary care to laboratoriesxi and the method of 
venepuncture (see detailed analysis in Appendix 18).   

 
This has been confirmed by the Head of Department for Clinical Biochemistry at NWLHT 
who advises that the raised potassium results received by GPs is undoubtedly caused by 
the cold and is happening across the whole of Brent and Harrow.   The problem is that it’s 
very difficult to sort out the genuine raised potassium from the spuriously raised ones.   

 
The laboratories experience problems with high potassium results in the winter and the 
converse in the summer as the pump becomes more active if warmed up (attached at 
appendix 18 is some of the historical data in the form of power-point presentation). 

 
o INR (low / high results) - The TDL and Consultant Haematologist investigation report into the 

low INR results and other laboratory related issues, concluded that the new analysers were 
functioning as expected. The causative factor is the changing of the reagent to a modern 
recombinant reagent, which has a different sensitivity to certain inhibitors.  

 
The Anti-coagulation Service staff at NWLH NHS Trust reported that since changing over to 
the new system their INR results on several warfarin patients have become inconsistent and 
previously stable patients have become brittle and erratic, needing changing warfarin doses.   

Page 57



 

Page 44   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

o Vitamin B12 assays – the significance of the 9% drop in absolute values has been followed 
up with the Department’s Clinical Biochemist and Technical Head of Department and the 
team are advised by TDL that this has no statistical significance.   

o D-Dimer issues – this is a test that GPs as an aid to the diagnosis of deep vein thrombosis.  
There has never been a specific policy at NWLHT where a particular level of result would 
automatically be phoned.  This therefore, will need to be addressed within the OMC meeting 
or contract review committee. 

When interpreting laboratory results it is important to know that the sample was collected and 
handled correctly so this has implications for training on phlebotomy, including order of draw 
and storage.  It is also thought that the introduction of ICE will assist phlebotomists in ensuring 
that requesting is more accurate as there is information to ensure the correct tests are being 
requested, the right tubes are being used and the request goes to the correct discipline (see 
appendix 19 for the benefits of the ICE pathology system) 

 
Impact on patients 
At the time of reporting, the evidence available to the group is largely anecdotal as there has not 
been a single report that a patient has come to any harm as a result of the issues with the 
pathology service, although as demonstrated, the potential for harm is there and many near 
misses have been reported.  It is due to the diligence of GPs in the measures that they have 
taken to protect patients, that this has been the case.   
 
The impact on patients in terms of repeat blood tests and the problems of clinical management 
for GPs cannot be underestimated.  Patients have had to re-attend for repeated blood tests for 
haemolysed samples, and spurious or missing results, with attendant inconvenience, time off 
work and potential loss of confidence in the pathology service or GP service.  One patient from 
a hard to reach group had to be recalled to re-bled but is unknown at the time of this report, 
whether they have attended.   
 
The RCA team sent out questionnaires to practices across Brent and Harrow to elicit more 
precisely, what the impact was on patients and on the practices themselves (feedback from 
practices can be found at appendix 20).  The following is an indication of the impact on specific 
patients: 

i) Blood tests taken on female patient on 07.02.13 but results not received until 12.03.13 
revealing Hb of 8.8 g/dL.  By the time the results were received, the patient had had a 
further myocardial infarction (MI); repeat bloods 13.02.13 showed another drop in Hb 
necessitating admission to hospital.  This delay in detection may have resulted in a 
further MI, but the GP advises that there exists no conclusive evidence.   

ii) Patient had urgent ESR (for suspected temporal arteritis) taken and sent to laboratory in 
the morning.  By evening, no report had been received and the lab technician advised 
that the sample was not processed even though marked URGENT and in an urgent 
labeled bag. The GP was advised that they had many samples to go through.  Contact 

Page 58



 

Page 45   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

with the laboratory next day, when GP was advised that the correct bottle had not been 
received although it had been confirmed with nurse at surgery that this had been sent.  
Patient had to be re-bled and result was received on this sample.  Patient had to take 
high dose steroids empirically.  No harm because GP ensured precautions taken.  

iii) GP takes blood from 4 year old patient (can take up to one hour including local 
anaesthetic) ensured enough blood for ESR but results came back as ‘not enough’.  As 
CRP was normal, GP chose not to repeat blood test for ESR.  No harm / inconvenience 
on this occasion.  [NB GP flagged to TDL and found that the system was set up for 
different ranges as they had inherited ‘normal ranges’ from Ealing Hospital; expressed 
surprise not picked up before  and will take up with colleagues at Ealing.] 

iv) Raised potassium results: 

a. one patient was sent to A&E for assessment after 2 raised potassium results where it 
was found that the actual reading was 3.6 (normal) 

b. we are informed that one Harrow practice resorted to sending patients to the hospital 
for blood tests to bypass the courier service thus avoiding the problems with 
temperature control and delays in transport (see appendix 18 of this report).  

 
v) Low INR could result in patients having the dose of warfarin increased with serious 

consequences.  It is not thought that this was the case as the patients in question had 
had stable INR for a significant period and so the results were challenged and repeated.  

 
vi) Low Vitamin B12 could result in inappropriate treatment over a significant period of time 

if this is a novel finding for that particular patient, and if appropriate measures were not 
taken by the GP.   
 

vii) D- Dimer – this need to be included in the discussion about SOPs. 
 

On another occasion it was reported that low Haemoglobin had not being phoned through to the 
GP surgery by the laboratory.  The investigation showed that the message was not handed over 
securely to the day staff at shift changeover, which would have been the expected protocol.  
However, had the laboratory phoned the result out in line with the information available to them 
at that time, they would have contacted an out of hours provider who did not provide a service to 
that particular GPs surgery.  This incident occurred as a result of human error and the 
communication about appropriate pathways for the laboratory to contact the correct out of hours 
provider on call was reviewed.  It is a PCT responsibility to keep TDL appraised. 

TDL were asked to undertake a Look-Back exercise.  At the RCA meeting on 22 January 2013, 
it was understood to be underway.  This entails reviewing all of the samples that they identified 
as not able to process and checking whether they had been requested to repeat the tests.  This 
showed that approximately 40% had been repeated, so the other test results were batched by 

Page 59



 

Page 46   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

practice and the practices contacted to ask if they intended to follow the patient up, or whether 
they had decided that this was not now clinically indicated.   
 
The report received from TDL on 08 March suggests that contacting practices to chase samples 
not repeated to date, was to have taken place in the week of 11 March 2013.  At the time of 
writing this report, we are still awaiting the outcomet from the Look-Back exercise.   
 
Impact on Practices 
The impact on practices can be presented in the following groupings: 

i) Grouping of results and format of report 
ii) Lost samples and reports 
iii) Spurious results. 

 
Grouping of results and format of report have been assessed as unsafe by the National Clinical 
Lead and further work is to be carried out in this area.  The format could result in all of a 
patient’s results being filed at the point when one normal result is archived.  Abnormal results 
may be missed if a GP is not vigilant, and with potentially serious impact on the patient. 
 
Lost samples and reports are time consuming as they result in the need to chase reports and 
repeat bloods, and this draws on already busy staff.  TDL advised that these issues may be as a 
result of un-analysed samples or incomplete reports and that one cause of lost reports is that 
reports are unable to be returned to an unregistered doctor.  It is therefore necessary for the 
CCG to keep the list up to date and appraise TDL, and to ensure codes are assigned to locums 
and non-medical requesters.   
 
Spurious Results – results reported as Abnormal which subsequently are found to be normal, 
can result in adverse impact on the patient and the clinician.  For the patient, they may be given 
unnecessary treatment or the inconvenience of the blood test being repeated and for the 
clinician it is the additional work load created for the practice.   
 
Overall, for practices it is the anxiety caused by concern for the safety of the patient, the time 
and cost involved in chasing and repeating bloods and the loss of confidence in a service that 
GPs rely on for to carry out their work effectively.  There is also the potential for patient records 
to contain incorrect information if the GP does not follow up with repeat bloods and which could 
cause issues when comparing results in the future. 
 
Not all problems reported to the laboratory or the PCT as concerns regarding blood results, 
were TDL laboratory issues.  It was found that patient details and clinical details had not always 
been entered onto the request forms and that receptionists had generated some reports that 
had not subsequently been verified by the GP.   
 
There have been incidences where GPs have not received the laboratory results in their in-
boxes.  In one case, the reason for this was that the GP was switching over from EMIS LV to 
EMIS web and had therefore asked for the electronic links to be suspended for 24 hours.  The 
results however, were placed on the NWL Browser which the GP could access.  This particular 
case raises the issue of some abnormal results not being sent to a GP for a variety of reasons 

Page 60



 

Page 47   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

but being placed on the Browser.  The GP would then assume that these results are missing 
from their in-box and if the GP does not have the foresight to check the NWL Browser, then 
there is a potential for abnormal results not being acted upon.   
 
There is another problem regarding results that the GPs may not be aware of, and that is when 
the patient has blood taken in a different location or by a different service.  These results may 
not come back into the GP in-box if the originator is not identified as the GP practice.  It is 
important that the requester takes full responsibility for the follow-up. 
 
TDL have established a Helpline available 24/7 for contacting the laboratory.  GPs have been 
advised of its availability but it is very rarely used.  Most GPs continue to use the general 
pathology office telephone to raise issues like mis-spelt names and routine queries.  

 
Courier Service 
As the transportation of blood samples is considered to be the prime reason for high or low 
potassium, the team decided to look at the procurement for this service. 
 
The courier service is a separate contract to the Pathology service and was procured through a 
separate tendering exercise.  The PCTs have appointed the same courier organisation to run 
the service, Revisecatch Limited (Courier Systems) who were appointed in October 2012 for a 
period of 4 years and 7 months to tie in with the Pathology service.  This company is working to 
the same specification as before so the problems that the laboratories and surgeries have 
experienced in the past are still evident today.  The pathology service contract manager and 
many GPs pressed for the courier contract to include the requirement for temperature controlled 
transport.   

The samples are transported by the courier system to the laboratory and it is variable in terms of 
how long it takes or how many pickups the couriers make in a round.  They do have insulated 
bags but every time these are opened, cold air enters the bags.  Quite often, the bags are 
overflowing when they arrive at the laboratory so it is thought that they may not have been 
zipped up. The bags are transported in metal panniers on the bikes and wind chill factor on the 
metal when the bikes are moving, cause the metals to be become very cold, adding to the 
chilling of samples.    

Potassium leaks out of red cells if the temperature drops (probably below 15 C, though this may 
be patient dependent) due to reduced activity of the membrane pump which pumps potassium 
into cells and sodium out of cells. This also happens when there is a significant delay between 
drawing the blood and performing the analysis.  The use of thermostatically controlled boxes 
was introduced into NWLHT in 2005 and remained in place until October 2009 when the work 
was outsourced to Courier systems.  The NWLH laboratories now see the problem of high 
potassium results every winter, but this winter has been particularly cold, with prolonged spells 
of very low temperatures. 

The RCA team is in possession of an email trail including comments from the procurement 
advisor to the PCT suggesting that the requirement that samples be transported in temperature 

Page 61



 

Page 48   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

controlled containers, was akin to specifying ‘anti-freeze for cars in Saudi’.  As a result, the 
contract provides exactly the same service as before without any of the improvements that were   
required by GPs and NWLHT, however, included at section 1.14 of the service specification is 
the requirement for the contractor to: 

‘supervise and monitor the service to ensure service levels around pickup times, turnaround 
times, and delivery of all samples so that their integrity is not compromised (by time delay or 
adverse temperature) are maintained.  NWLH and TDL will work with the Contractor to agree 
required temperature ranges and a process to monitor readings.’   

Additionally at section 1.17 the following it is stipulated that: 

‘Couriers must transport samples in secure insulated storage boxes on their bikes so as to 
effectively moderate temperatures in extreme cold and hot weather conditions.  The Contractor 
shall have the ability to be able to monitor temperatures, if there is deemed to be an issue with 
the temperature of samples, in order that this can be audited when / if an issue arises.’ 

This allows for the three trusts to insist on an audit of temperatures at any one time and detect 
problems with temperature fluctuation.  It does not allow for temperature control.   

During the specification development, the pathology contract manager provided support and 
suggested that the contract should ensure that all samples were carried in a temperature 
controlled environment, at a reasonable ambient temperature, to minimise the effect of 
temperature on the analysis of samples.  This was not included in the service specification.  The 
PCTs agreed a variation to the contract which required the contractor to have the ability to have 
temperature monitoring of storage boxes as set out in section 1.17 of the specification in the 
contract.  Temperature monitoring does not give the same assurance as temperature control. 

The CROs for pathology were to convene a meeting in late 2012 with the courier service.  
However, the contract was agreed in October 2012 so any amendments to the contract could 
not be made at that late stage because the decision on who to appoint would have been open to 
challenge.  The issue of high and low potassium results due to transportation temperatures was 
still occurring in January 2013 when the pathology contract manager was again asked to assist.  
It was evident at that point that the contract had not yet been signed but the opportunity to 
enforce temperature controlled transportation was lost, however the principle stands that it is not 
possible to change the specification after Financial Closure of the contract.   

The investigation team have been made aware that temperature controlled containers was 
excluded from the contract on the basis of cost.  The clinicians were endeavouring to secure a 
better service to ensure elimination of spurious potassium results as a result of transportation, at 
the same time that the PCT management were insisting that the courier service be procured 
within the same financial envelope.    

Since 2004, the number of potassium results ≥ 6.0 mmol/L has been monitored.  The data for 
primary care can be seen in appendix 18 and shows a clear increase in the number of 
potassium results ≥ 6.0 mmol/L in the winter months.  The findings also demonstrate a reverse 
pattern in the summer months, where the number of potassium results < 3.5 mmol/L increases.  

Page 62



 

Page 49   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Data since 2009 has been organised according to post-code/GP surgery and ~60 GP surgeries 
are monitored each month. 

Visits to practices by NWLH laboratory staff in 2004, found a lack of understanding by 
phlebotomists about the extent of the sensitivity of potassium to cold temperatures.  On one 
occasion during a visit to a GP surgery, samples were found by an open window, and on 
another occasion, samples were found next to an air-conditioning unit.  The audit into high 
potassium results was repeated in January 2013 and a correlation drawn between the colder 
January weather and the increase in high potassium levels: 

GP surgeries where the total number of potassium requests was less than 30 were excluded;  

o the  number of GP surgeries where the percentage of potassium results above 5.3 mmol/L 
(the upper limit of the reference range) exceeded 10% was 37 in 2013 (compared with 8 in 
January 2012); 

o of the 20 GP surgeries with the highest percentage of potassium results >5.3 mmol/L (over 
10%), 17 received between 13.7 and 19%; one had 21.8%; another 31.8% and one with 
39.5% of results with spurious hyperkalaemia. 

This suggests an urgent need to review and revise the courier contact, and this is included in 
the recommendations of this report. 

Having verified that the high and low potassium values are not as a result of activities within the 
laboratory itself on previous audits, NWLHT has worked with practices to ensure that the 
phlebotomy process and storage of samples at practices prior to transportation, are suitable and 
have provided the necessary training.  There is reference to training dating back to 2006-7 
(Brent and Harrow) but the RCA team is unaware of any formal training to the GPs in Brent and 
Harrow.      

Page 63



 

Page 50   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Contributory factors 
Individual (Staff factors) 
o Some incidents within the TDL Laboratory are ascribed to human error 

o High level of temporary staff (possibly not following safety procedures / due process) 

o Staff TUPE transferred over to TDL with possible attendant dissatisfaction 

o Disaffected staff and impact of results and loss of samples 

 

Leadership 
o Management reduction in Harrow PCT with loss of organisational memory 

o Organisational memory; large number of managers involved in procurement / contract 
management  

o Resources – managers and Clinical Directors unable to attend meetings due to workload 

o Coming to end of transition from PCT to CCG will compound resource issue 

 

Communication 
o GPs were not aware of contract change from NWLHT to TDL 

o No guidelines issued to GPs via PCT 

o Changes to reference ranges not cascaded to wider GP community 

o GPs not made aware of helpline numbers via PCT 

o TDL not made aware of OOH Providers by practice 

o Guidelines on Haematology and Biochemistry out of hours reporting are different  

o Escalation process not communicated to GPs via PCT 

o Not communicating effectively overall, even within the hospital trust and TDL 

o Lack of update distribution lists 

o Slow communication of issues 

 

Organisational and Strategic factors 
o Small number of GPs asked to be involved.   

o Clinical Directors were invited to OMC and other meetings but did not attend due to other 
commitments 

o Performance management of the contract was initially intended to be local contract manager 

o Escalation: TDL although issues were escalated internally but not out to PCT 

o Tardy response to issues raises by the GP community 

o Organisational changes; Brent and Harrow two separate entities, then one and two again. 

o Level of Assurance given to Accountable Officer in the way that the contract is set up 

o Two different providers for Pathology and Courier service 

o Lack of GP engagement – structure of reporting within PCT does not facilitate dissemination 
of information and capture of feedback 

Page 64



 

Page 51   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

 

Team Factors 
o Three organizations involved in the commissioning of the contract – no accountability matrix 

o Governance arrangements: mobilisation, transition, implementation without GP involvement  

 

Equipment and resources 
o Robotic Arm malfunction and changes from Abbott to Roche (analysers) 

o Changes to reagents used which may have affected test results 

o IT system – hardware and software affected results formatting (National Standard Format) 

o Both IT and Equipment changed over to new systems at the same time 

o Testing – who was involved / what did it entail / did it include Vision and EMIS  

o TDL testing of IT system within 3 practices was not what was expected (i.e. screen shots) 

o No training / guidance on switch over – i.e. the changes to visual display, reference ranges 

 

Root causes 
 

v No measures taken by PCT to mitigate risks (in transition and implementation) 
 
 

v IT system – Format of Results / IT systems and sample handling set-up; 
 
 

v Equipment - Analyser and robotic arm malfunctioned / General Equipment stability; 
 
 

v Communications and access to background information 
(Shared Drive, electronic and paper records will be affected by the transition from PCT to 
CCG);   
 
 

v Lack of clinical engagement in the process 
(no grass roots GPs; used same clinicians, too thinly spread); 

 
 
v Poor reporting and communication structure in both PCTs. 

 
 

v Laboratory  staff familiarisation with equipment and systems / customisation of system to 
meet end users clinical needs 

 
 
 

Page 65



 

Page 52   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Notable practice 
With the change of contract to a different service provider, new equipment and systems were 
introduced.  The Laboratory at NWLHT is now organised much better, offering an automated 
service and a better working environment for staff. 
 
Shift patterns have been revised; the previous shift system that operated before could mean 
that urgent results to be phoned out at around that time that staff changed shifts and could often 
be missed as a result of the handover. 

 

GPs in Brent and Harrow were very vigilant and took action to mitigate the risk of harm to 
patients as a result of these issues.  They queried test results that were out of the ‘norm’ due to 
their knowledge of their patients and their actions have resulted in near misses rather than 
actual serious harm.  

 
It is understood that TDL and NWLHT consultant pathologists undertook various measures 
including a detailed action plan (still awaited from TDL) in order to address issues and ensure 
sustainability of solutions. 

 
Lessons learned 
1. Patient safety should be the first consideration of any new service procured on behalf of the 

residents of Brent and Harrow; 
2. TDL / NWLH should alert GPs immediately to issues arising in the service that would impact 

on patient care; 
3. Effective  leadership is required to oversee and coordinating the commissioning process  
4. Communications need to more effective and timely within CCG and out to primary care; 
5. Contract monitoring and performance management meetings need to be held regularly; 
6. There needs to be an open and transparent process in commissioning new services with 

grass roots GP involvement; 
7. PCT/CCG needs to respond quickly to concerns raised by clinicians; 
8. Clinical representatives should have the capacity to attend meetings; 
9. At a time of rapid change there needs to be management continuity and effective handover; 
10. Effective alert mechanisms need to be in place immediately; 
11. Temperature control of pathology samples is required to avoid future problems due to 

temperature fluctuation. 
 
Post-investigation risk assessment 
 

A 
Potential Severity    

 (1-5) 

B 
Likelihood of recurrence  

at that severity (1-5) 

C               
Risk Rating                               
(C = A x B) 

4 3 12 

Page 66



 

Page 53   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

CONCLUSIONS and RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The Root Cause Analysis Investigation that was undertaken found that despite the procurement 
being discussed and subsequently carried out over a lengthy period (over 2 years), this was not 
widely known amongst GPs or non-executive directors.  The latter were unaware of the detail of 
the procurement and when the paper seeking appointment of preferred bidder was presented in 
September 2011, sought assurances that the provider was able to deliver a safe and effective 
service.  GPs on the two board subgroups for Brent and Harrow, had also highlighted concerns 
about the risks involved in the transition of the service from one provider to another, and thought 
that there would be a risk analysis undertaken of potential issues to take forward into the OMC.   
 
Whilst there was appropriate senior management, clinical and commercial input into the 
procurement and evaluation of bids, from the appointment of the preferred bidder onwards, the 
input into the transition and monitoring of the contract was inadequate, given the financial value 
of the contract.  The senior manager for the procurement, left at around the time of the contract 
award and since that time there has not been any senior management overview or input into the 
transition, implementation or monitoring of the contract. The PCTs were involved in the risk 
assessment undertaken on the procurement, but were not aware of the risk assessments 
undertaken for the transition period by NWLHT and TDL, nor did they undertake their own risk 
assessment of the service transition and implementation. 
  
Recommendation 1 – There should be strong and consistent senior management of 
future procurements in order to ensure continuity of knowledge and input.  The CCG 
should also ensure appropriate senior management of the end to end process as well as 
the continuing input of clinical expertise into the transition, implementation and 
monitoring of the contract.    
 
Recommendation 2 - The financial aspect of the procurement is important but should not 
be allowed to overshadow the need to ensure the patient safety.  All future service 
changes, procurements, QIPP schemes and so on, should always require risk 
assessments to be undertaken at all stages, and should include risk management and 
monitoring of identified risks, particularly through transition.   
 
There was no input from primary care (GPs) or the PCT, on the transition board for the project.  
The Operational Management Group (OMC) was established and held three meetings that were 
not quorate because no GPs were present.  It is thought that this is because there are very few 
GPs within the CCG body and they were faced with an enormous workload.  The constitution of 
the CCG is such that very few GPs are mandated to represent the wider GP community and 
there is the potential to engage more grass roots GPs in the business of the CCG. 
 
Recommendation 3 - The CCGs should consider how GPs could be more involved in the 
work of the CCG to add capacity and expertise to the few GP CROs who are finding 
difficult to discharge their responsibilities due to a heavy workload.   
 

Page 67



 

Page 54   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Regarding performance management and contract monitoring, it is not clear whether the 
unavailability of the nominated representatives was flagged up as an issue to the PCT but this 
was clearly a risk for the PCTs and TDL, and limited the availability of the primary care 
perspective on the service and sharing of information out to primary care.  More importantly, it 
did not achieve buy-in and ownership of the service which would have been key to early 
resolution of the problems experienced in December 2012 to January 2013, and the CCG 
should be encouraged to engage grass roots GPs more in the business of the CCG. 
 
Recommendation 4 - The CCGs and NWLHT should establish as a matter of urgency, the 
pathology Operational Management Committee with appropriate, consistent, clinical 
representation.  It is suggested that there is a need for wider engagement from general 
practice into the work of the CCG.   
 
Recommendation 5 – The CCGs should look to implement the NHSL Direct Access 
pathology performance indicators and should engage the contract manager more in 
technical contract support to support the discussions around this. 
 
The procurement was to have provided improved access to pathology services for primary care 
via the order comms rollout (ICE).  This is in place within the hospital service, but has not yet 
been rolled out across primary care despite the funding being identified at the time of the 
appointment of the preferred bidder it is thought that this is no longer available.  However, at the 
RCA meetings, TDL have offered to fund the roll-out of ICE, and the supporting training 
programme. 
 
Recommendation 6 - The order communications solution for GPs is not yet in place.  TDL 
have offered to fund ICE and the supporting training.  It is suggested that the roll-out of 
ICE and the supporting training programme should be implemented as soon as 
practicable. 

Communication was an issue within the PCTs and out to primary care.  The CROs for pathology 
from Brent and Harrow were unaware of the agreed communication process between the 
service provider, the PCT and GPs.  Information flow via emails to key personnel in the PCT 
was therefore, an ineffective way of communicating with practices, as there was an assumption 
that someone else on the circulation list was dealing with cascading the information.  The 
system that relied on messages to be sent to the locality coordinators and then onwards to 
practices was cumbersome and did not allow for staff absences.  There were also concerns 
about how up to date the distribution lists were as they only list the principal GP rather than all 
relevant GPs.   

Recommendation 7 - Overall, the communication to GPs should be improved and they 
should be consulted through their locality groups if necessary, on how best this may be 
done.  A lot of the issues that arose during the service transition and after, could have 
been managed far more effectively had the communication to and from GPs been more 
robust.  The establishment of the OMC will greatly assist in two-way communication 
between GP practices, the PCT and TDL. 

Page 68



 

Page 55   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

It is not surprising therefore, that GPs remained largely unaware of key changes within the 
pathology service; important changes to the pathology service / Notifications were not sent out 
to GPs, and TDL did not have the correct list of Out of Hours providers for GPs in Brent.  TDL 
were not aware of the out of hour’s providers for the GPs in Brent and there was confusion 
about the use of 111 for urgent care.  There were also concerns expressed by GPs about 
results being sent to an unknown box.   

Recommendation 8 - The CCGs therefore, should ensure that GP lists are kept up to date 
and notified to TDL on a regular basis. 

Recommendation 9- There needs to be clarity around OOH and the 111 service and this 
should be confirmed to TDL and updated as and when it changes. 

Recommendation 10 - The issue of codes for locums and other authorised requesters 
should be addressed as soon as practicable.     

There were already issues with some test results, although not on a large scale.  On the 10 / 11 
December, TDL switched over to new equipment and a new IT system at the same time which 
compounded existing problems.  The switch over was communicated out to GPs but using the 
mechanism previously described which was ineffective.  The presentation of results (due to the 
change in the IT system) and missing and spurious results (due to equipment such as the 
robotic arm and the calcium analyser) therefore, were of concern to GPs who were unable to 
understand what the issue was.   

TDL should have been aware that if one abnormal result had been issued, it was likely that the 
rest of the batch would also be affected.  They concentrated on resolving the issue and using 
their internal escalation procedure to move samples to another laboratory, but did not alert GPs 
or the PCT that there was an issue.  They were therefore, very slow to respond to concerns and 
it was not until the first RCA meeting that the PCT and GPs became aware that calcium 
samples were being performed at another laboratory.  Some problems were also ascribed to 
human error and the staff involved has been re-trained or have left the organisation and new 
staff recruited. 

At the RCA meetings, TDL agreed to undertake their own internal investigation and a report was 
received by the team in early March, and whilst this addressed the technical aspects of what 
went wrong, it is very light on detail around some aspects of the problems experienced by the 
GPs.  There is also a lack of acknowledgment of what went wrong and of learning from this.  

However, TDL took appropriate interim measures when issues began to arise.  These measures 
were of good effect in that the issues presenting to GPs began to reduce reasonably quickly, as 
represented by the number of queries and complaints received from GPs  Quality Control was 
undertaken hourly until the service was assured that the equipment malfunctions were resolved.   

Recommendation 11 - TDL should ensure timely communication to the PCT and GPs 
about future issues as they arise and continue to take interim measures.  They should 
also ensure that they alert GPs and the PCT using the agreed protocol.   

Page 69



 

Page 56   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Recommendation 12 – TDL should ensure that regular updates are provided to the three 
commissioning organisations at the OMC, including for subsequent service changes and 
to flag up any issues arising that might impact on the service to patients.   

Some GPs have expressed concern that particular results have not been communicated to 
them in a timely manner and have been advised that no protocol is in place for this.  The SOPs 
used by TDL are based on the Royal College of Pathologists guidelines and were largely the 
same SOPs that were in place when NWLHT provided the service.  The procedure for reporting 
abnormal results out of hours are different for the Biochemistry and Haematology services.  The 
threshold for phoning results out is different to GP expectations and it will be beneficial for TDL 
to undertake a review of Standard Operating Procedures to align with user’s expectations in 
both acute and primary care.   

It has been agreed in principle that GPs, Consultants and TDL should work together to agree a 
RAG rating system based on communication that is Critical (changes to results interpretation or 
changes in clinical practice required which may directly cause harm to a patient if not observed); 
Important (changes to results or changes in clinical practice required which may affect patient 
care but not be of significant impact to a patient if not observed) or For Information (a minor 
change to result interpretation or clinical practice that will not result in patient harm if not 
observed).    

Recommendation 13 – A working party be established between TDL, consultants and 
GPs to agree what should be phoned out and when.  As tests change and guidelines 
change, then this forum must ensure an on-going dialogue.   

A key concern for GPs has been the presentation of patient results and the ability to file all 
results in patient’s notes when just one result is archived.  This has been the case since the 
change over to the new IT system and despite assurances from TDL (in their report of 08 March 
2012) that this is not a laboratory problem, that they are compliant with national standards and 
that this is a national issue, the DH Informatics team sent a representative out to a practice to 
understand what the problem was.  They share the team’s concerns that this is unsafe, as is the 
grouping of results, and have therefore offered to escalate this nationally. 

Recommendation 14 - The CCG should pursue the offer from the National Clinical Lead 
of an enquiry into the matter of the National Standard format of results, and the grouping 
of results. 

The main causes of spurious raised potassium blood results in primary care are generally 
associated with the temperature and the length of time taken for samples being transported 
from primary care to laboratories and needs to be addressed as a matter of urgency.  A small, 
but contributory factor to spurious potassium results is thought to be the method of 
venepuncture, order of draw and storage of samples prior to transportation, which suggests that 
there is a training need for phlebotomists.   

Page 70



 

Page 57   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Recommendation 15 - A separate piece of work should be undertaken with the Courier 
service to ensure that temperature control of samples is put in place rather than periodic 
temperature monitoring. 

Recommendation 16 – GPs should receive update training from the pathologists at a 
future educational session and relevant training should be provided for all 
phlebotomists.   

The RCA process in dealing with a multi-incident investigation has been very time consuming, 
and due to the timescales associated with StEIS / Datix, reporting has been time limited.  There 
been a slow response to data requests and / or an unwillingness to be involved in the issues, 
across all of the organisations involved.  Within the PCT, there have been many changes in 
managers responsible for the procurement and on-going monitoring so this investigation has not 
had the attention that it deserves; added to which, files and key documents have not been 
readily available.  

Recommendation 17 - Organisational change is a key theme of the NHS and there is a 
need to ensure learning from previous errors and ensure adequate management, 
leadership and resources, should the CCG undertake QIPP, service change and 
procurements in the future.   

Recommendation 18 – RCA investigation teams should have a mandate to investigate. 
Future RCAs need powers of investigation, and dedicated time and resources. 

 
 

Page 71



 

Page 58   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Distribution List 
 

Accountable Officer, Brent, Ealing, Harrow and Hillingdon CCGs. 

CEO, The Doctors Laboratory. 

Deputy Chief Operating Officer, North West London Hospitals Trust. 

Chief Operating Officer, Brent CCG. 

Chief Operating Officer, Harrow CCG. 

Director of Quality and Safety, Brent, Ealing, Harrow and Hillingdon CCGs. 

Chair of Brent CCG. 

Chair of Harrow CCG. 

Head of IT and Communications Lead, Brent CCG. 

CRO Pathology, Brent CCG. 

CRO Pathology, Harrow CCG. 

 

This report should be available on the CCG website and GPs alerted when it is uploaded. 

 
 

Page 72



 Pa
ge

 5
9 

  
S:

\B
EH

H
 F

ed
er

at
io

n\
Pa

ul
in

e 
Jo

hn
so

n 
   

   
   

  D
oc

um
en

t v
er

si
on

 F
IN

AL
 2

8.
03

.1
3 

  A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 

  
A

ct
io

n
 1

 
A

ct
io

n
 2

 
A

ct
io

n
 3

 

R
o

o
t 

C
A

U
S

E
 

M
ea

su
re

s 
n

o
t 

ta
ke

n
 t

o
 m

it
ig

at
e 

ri
sk

; 
L

ac
k 

o
f 

ac
ce

ss
 t

o
 k

ey
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 

P
o

o
r 

re
p

o
rt

in
g

 a
n

d
 C

o
m

m
u

n
ic

at
io

n
 

IT
 s

ys
te

m
 c

au
se

d
 f

o
rm

at
 c

h
an

g
es

 

E
F

F
E

C
T

 o
n

 P
at

ie
n

t 
S

er
vi

ce
 e

ffi
ca

cy
 m

ay
 b

e 
co

m
pr

om
is

ed
; 

im
pa

ct
 o

f t
im

e 
sp

en
t o

n 
re

m
ed

ia
l a

ct
io

n 
Im

po
rt

an
t i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

no
t r

ea
ch

in
g 

G
P

; 
pa

tie
nt

s 
m

ay
 n

ee
d 

to
 b

e 
re

ca
lle

d 
et

c.
 

R
es

ul
ts

 m
ay

 b
e 

fil
ed

 w
ith

ou
t c

lin
ic

al
 o

ve
rv

ie
w

 
w

ith
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

cl
in

ic
al

 m
an

ag
em

en
t o

f p
at

ie
nt

 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

 
1,

 2
 3

, 1
7,

18
 

3,
7,

8,
9,

10
,1

1,
13

 
4,

 6
, 1

3,
 1

4 

A
ct

io
n

 t
o

 A
d

d
re

ss
 R

o
o

t 
C

au
se

 
o

 E
ns

ur
e 

ad
eq

ua
te

 s
en

io
r 

re
so

ur
ce

 in
to

 
fu

tu
re

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

ts
 / 

se
rv

ic
e 

ch
an

ge
s 

o
 E

ns
ur

e 
R

is
k 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f t
ra

ns
iti

on
 a

nd
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
ac

tio
n 

ta
ke

n 
o

 In
vo

lv
e 

m
or

e 
G

P
s 

in
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
o

 E
ns

ur
e 

co
nt

in
ui

ty
 o

f l
ea

de
rs

hi
p 

th
ro

ug
h 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
na

l c
ha

ng
e;

 
o

 E
ns

ur
e 

sy
st

em
s 

to
 a

rc
hi

ve
 r

el
ev

an
t 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ar
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
an

d 
us

ed
; 

o
 H

an
do

ve
r 

do
cu

m
en

ts
 to

 b
e 

su
ffi

ci
en

tly
 

de
ta

ile
d 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
co

nt
in

ui
ty

; 
o

 Im
pr

ov
ed

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

to
 G

P
s 

o
 I

m
pr

ov
e 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

P
ro

ce
ss

 w
ith

in
 

C
C

G
 a

nd
 o

ut
 to

 G
P

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

o
 S

ec
ur

e 
in

pu
t o

f G
P

s 
to

 k
ey

 d
ec

is
io

ns
 o

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
ch

an
ge

s 
to

 b
e 

se
cu

re
d 

– 
co

ns
id

er
 

ho
w

 to
 In

vo
lv

e 
m

or
e 

gr
as

s 
ro

ot
s 

G
P

s 
o

 I
m

pr
ov

e 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
to

 s
er

vi
ce

 
pr

ov
id

er
s 

e.
g.

 u
p 

to
 d

at
e 

G
P

 li
st

s 
; c

od
es

 
fo

r 
lo

cu
m

s 
an

d 
no

n-
m

ed
ic

al
 r

eq
ue

st
er

s 
o

 e
ns

ur
e 

cl
ar

ity
 o

f 1
11

 a
nd

 O
O

H
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

ed
 to

 r
el

ev
an

t s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

s 
o

 W
or

ki
ng

 p
ar

ty
 to

 r
ev

ie
w

 S
O

P
s 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
e 

is
su

es
 fo

r 
pa

th
ol

og
y 

(a
pp

lic
ab

le
 a

cr
os

s)
. 

o
 T

he
 O

M
C

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
ur

ge
nt

ly
 a

nd
 

en
su

re
 r

el
ev

an
t i

np
ut

 fr
om

 G
P

s 
an

d 
S

en
io

r 
C

C
G

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

o
 I

np
ut

 in
to

 C
R

C
 fr

om
 th

e 
ab

ov
e 

gr
ou

p 
fo

r 
co

nt
in

ui
ty

 a
nd

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

tr
an

sf
er

 
o

 C
on

tin
ue

 D
ia

lo
gu

e 
w

ith
 N

at
io

na
l C

lin
ic

al
 L

ea
d 

an
d 

G
P

 S
ys

te
m

 p
ro

vi
de

rs
 a

bo
ut

 G
P

 s
ys

te
m

s 
an

d 
na

tio
na

l s
ta

nd
ar

d 
fo

rm
at

 o
f r

es
ul

ts
 

o
 E

ns
ur

e 
on

go
in

g 
di

al
og

ue
 w

ith
 T

D
L 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
S

O
P

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

ch
an

ge
s 

(S
O

P
 fo

ru
m

) 

L
ev

el
 f

o
r 

A
ct

io
n

   
   

   
  

(O
rg

, D
ire

ct
, T

ea
m

) 

O
rg

an
is

at
io

n
 

 T
ea

m
 le

ad
 b

y 
re

le
va

n
t 

se
n

io
r 

m
an

ag
er

 
T

ea
m

 le
ad

 b
y 

re
le

va
n

t 
se

n
io

r 
m

an
ag

er
 

Im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 b

y:
 

S
en

io
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

T
ea

m
 / 

C
O

O
 

P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

T
ea

m
 le

ad
 b

y 
re

le
va

n
t 

se
n

io
r 

m
an

ag
er

 
P

ri
m

ar
y 

C
ar

e 
T

ea
m

 le
ad

 b
y 

re
le

va
n

t 
se

n
io

r 
m

an
ag

er
 

T
ar

g
et

 D
at

e 
fo

r 
Im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 

O
n

g
o

in
g

 
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 r
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

en
d

 J
u

n
e 

20
13

 
In

vo
lv

em
en

t o
f G

P
s 

to
 b

e 
ag

re
ed

 b
y 

C
C

G
E

 
W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

 s
et

 u
p

 b
y 

en
d

 M
ay

 2
01

3 

O
M

C
 a

n
d

 C
R

C
 b

y 
en

d
 o

f 
A

p
ri

l 2
01

3 
D

ia
lo

gu
e 

re
 s

ys
te

m
s 

on
go

in
g 

to
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 
‘1

3 
W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

 s
et

 u
p

 e
n

d
 M

ay
 a

n
d

 o
n

g
o

in
g

 
A

d
d

it
io

n
al

 R
es

o
u

rc
es

 
R

eq
u

ir
ed

  (
T

im
e,

 m
on

ey
, o

th
er

) 
S

en
io

r 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
ca

p
ac

it
y 

an
d

 
o

ve
rv

ie
w

 
T

im
e 

an
d

 s
ta

ff
 r

es
o

u
rc

e 
re

q
u

ir
ed

 
T

im
e 

an
d

 r
el

ev
an

t 
re

so
u

rc
es

 t
o

 b
e 

fr
ee

d
 u

p
 

to
 im

p
le

m
en

t 

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
P

ro
g

re
ss

 a
n

d
 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

 

R
is

k 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
o

f 
fu

tu
re

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

ts
, 

Q
IP

P
 e

tc
 a

re
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
n

 
E

nt
rie

s 
 o

f r
is

ks
 a

re
 e

nt
er

ed
 in

to
 th

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
/ C

or
po

ra
te

 R
is

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 p
ro

to
co

ls
 a

g
re

ed
, i

n
 

p
la

ce
 a

n
d

 e
vi

d
en

ce
d

 a
s 

w
o

rk
in

g
  

In
vo

lv
em

en
t o

f G
P

s 
di

sc
us

se
d 

at
 C

C
G

E
 a

nd
 

m
in

ut
es

 r
ef

le
ct

 d
ec

is
io

n 
W

o
rk

in
g

 g
ro

u
p

 s
et

 u
p

 a
n

d
 t

o
 in

vo
lv

e 
G

P
s 

O
M

C
 a

n
d

 C
R

C
 a

re
 o

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
n

d
 h

av
e 

ap
p

ro
p

ri
at

e 
in

p
u

t 
C

al
en

da
r 

of
 m

ee
tin

gs
 w

ith
 N

at
io

na
l C

lin
ic

al
 le

ad
 

W
o

rk
in

g
 G

ro
u

p
 e

st
ab

lis
h

ed
 a

n
d

 m
ee

ti
n

g
 

re
g

u
la

rl
y 

w
it

h
 m

aj
o

ri
ty

 o
f 

g
ro

u
p

 p
re

se
n

t 

Page 73



 Pa
ge

 6
0 

  
S:

\B
EH

H
 F

ed
er

at
io

n\
Pa

ul
in

e 
Jo

hn
so

n 
   

   
   

  D
oc

um
en

t v
er

si
on

 F
IN

AL
 2

8.
03

.1
3 

  

  
A

ct
io

n
 1

 
A

ct
io

n
 2

 
A

ct
io

n
 3

 

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 &
 E

va
lu

at
io

n
 

A
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
  

A
u

d
it

 o
f 

R
is

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

an
d

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t 
/ 

se
rv

ic
e 

ch
an

g
e 

d
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

A
rc

hi
ve

d 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
to

 
su

cc
es

so
r 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
n;

 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 m

em
o

ry
 a

va
ila

b
le

 –
 a

t 
le

as
t 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

ra
n

si
ti

o
n

; 
C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

n 
an

d 
G

P
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t –
 s

ee
 

A
ct

io
n 

2.
 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 o
f 

re
le

va
n

t 
d

o
cu

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 o
n

 
sh

ar
ed

 d
ri

ve
; 

A
ud

it 
of

 d
oc

um
en

ta
tio

n 
/ m

in
ut

es
. 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 p
ro

to
co

ls
 e

vi
d

en
ce

d
 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
by

 r
el

ev
an

t p
ar

tie
s 

in
 a

 ti
m

el
y 

m
an

ne
r  

M
in

u
te

s 
/ n

o
te

s 
o

f w
o

rk
in

g
 g

ro
u

p
 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
O

M
C

 a
n

d
 C

R
C

 a
va

ila
b

le
 

E
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 a
ct

io
n 

by
 N

at
io

na
l C

lin
ic

al
 L

ea
d 

(n
at

io
na

l e
nq

ui
ry

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

et
c)

 o
r 

ch
an

ge
 in

 
pr

es
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 r
es

ul
ts

 
M

in
u

te
s 

o
f 

w
o

rk
in

g
 g

ro
u

p
 a

va
ila

b
le

 a
n

d
 

o
u

tp
u

ts
 e

vi
d

en
ce

d
. 

S
ig

n
 o

ff
 -

 a
ct

io
n

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

d
at

e:
 

O
n

g
o

in
g

 b
u

t 
w

it
h

 a
u

d
it

 o
f 

n
ex

t 
3 

p
ro

cu
re

m
en

ts
 / 

Q
IP

P
 p

ro
je

ct
s 

D
ep

u
ty

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 D
ir

ec
to

r 
(P

ri
m

ar
y 

C
ar

e 
an

d
 p

ro
cu

re
m

en
ts

) 
b

y 
en

d
 J

u
ly

 2
01

3 
D

ep
u

ty
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 D

ir
ec

to
r 

(P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

an
d

 
p

ro
cu

re
m

en
ts

) 
to

 O
ct

o
b

er
 2

01
3 

fo
r 

IT
  

 O
M

C
 a

n
d

 C
R

C
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 

S
ig

n
 o

ff
 b

y:
 

C
O

O
 / 

C
E

O
 

C
O

O
 

C
O

O
 

Page 74



 Pa
ge

 6
1 

  
S:

\B
EH

H
 F

ed
er

at
io

n\
Pa

ul
in

e 
Jo

hn
so

n 
   

   
   

  D
oc

um
en

t v
er

si
on

 F
IN

AL
 2

8.
03

.1
3 

   

  
A

ct
io

n 
4 

A
ct

io
n

 5
 

A
ct

io
n

 6
 

R
o

o
t 

C
A

U
S

E
 

E
q

u
ip

m
en

t 
F

ai
lu

re
, i

n
co

rr
ec

t 
as

sa
ys

; 
L

ab
o

ra
to

ry
  s

ta
ff

 f
am

ili
ar

is
at

io
n

 w
it

h
 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t 

 a
n

d
 s

ys
te

m
s 

/ 
cu

st
o

m
is

at
io

n
 o

f 
sy

st
em

 t
o

 m
ee

t 
u

se
r’

s 
n

ee
d

s 

L
ac

k 
o

f 
en

g
ag

em
en

t 
in

 p
ro

ce
ss

 
P

se
u

d
o

 H
yp

er
ka

la
em

ia
 (

sp
u

ri
o

u
sl

y 
ra

is
ed

 
p

o
ta

ss
iu

m
) 

E
F

F
E

C
T

 o
n

 P
at

ie
n

t 
D

el
ay

 in
 p

ro
ce

ss
in

g 
re

su
lts

 a
nd

 / 
or

 
re

ce
ip

t o
f i

na
cc

ur
at

e 
re

su
lts

; 
in

co
nv

en
ie

nc
e 

of
 ti

m
e 

ta
ke

n 
ou

t o
f d

ay
 

an
d 

of
 b

ei
ng

 r
e-

bl
ed

 

S
er

vi
ce

 q
ua

lit
y 

st
an

da
rd

s 
no

t m
on

ito
re

d;
 n

o 
ac

tio
n 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
/ d

ev
el

op
 s

er
vi

ce
 to

 G
P

s;
 

su
b-

op
tim

al
 c

on
tr

ac
t m

on
ito

rin
g 

 

D
el

ay
 in

 ta
ki

ng
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 a

ct
io

n;
 

in
co

nv
en

ie
nc

e 
fo

r 
pa

tie
nt

s 
if 

re
-b

le
d 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

 
12

, 1
6 

1,
4,

 5
, 1

7 
15

 

A
ct

io
n

 t
o

 A
d

d
re

ss
 R

o
o

t 
C

au
se

 
A

ct
io

n
 t

ak
en

 b
y 

T
D

L
 t

o
 p

ro
ce

ss
 

b
lo

o
d

s 
el

se
w

h
er

e 
in

 in
te

ri
m

 w
h

ils
t 

fu
n

ct
io

n
al

it
y 

o
f 

eq
u

ip
m

en
t 

re
st

o
re

d
 / 

as
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

; 
S

ta
ff 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 to
 c

on
tin

ue
 a

s 
ne

ed
s 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
or

 s
ys

te
m

s 
ch

an
ge

 
S

u
p

p
o

rt
 p

ri
m

ar
y 

ca
re

 in
 t

ra
in

in
g

 o
n

 
ve

n
ep

u
n

ct
u

re
 a

n
d

 in
p

u
t 

in
to

 G
P

 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 s
es

si
o

n
s 

 

E
st

ab
lis

hm
en

t o
f O

M
C

 a
nd

 C
R

C
 

S
en

io
r 

m
an

ag
em

en
t 

o
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f 
en

d
 t

o
 

en
d

 p
ro

ce
ss

 o
f 

p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t 
/ Q

IP
P

 
R

el
ev

an
t c

lin
ic

al
 in

pu
t a

nd
 c

on
tin

ui
ty

 o
f s

am
e 

In
vo

lv
e 

C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

M
an

ag
er

 in
 t

ec
h

n
ic

al
 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
su

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
K

P
Is

 (
in

cl
. 

N
H

S
L

 D
ir

ec
t 

A
cc

es
s 

P
at

h
o

lo
g

y 
In

d
ic

at
o

rs
) 

R
eg

ul
ar

 u
pd

at
es

 to
 C

C
G

E
 a

nd
 C

C
G

G
B

 

A
rr

an
g

e 
m

ee
ti

n
g

s 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
p

ro
vi

d
er

 
(C

o
u

ri
er

 S
ys

te
m

s 
L

td
);

 
S

ep
ar

at
e 

gr
ou

p 
to

 b
e 

se
t u

p 
to

 r
ev

ie
w

 c
ou

rie
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

 a
nd

 e
ns

ur
e 

te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 
co

nt
ro

lle
d 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t; 

T
ra

in
in

g
 t

o
 b

e 
p

ro
vi

d
ed

 o
n

 d
ra

w
in

g
 a

n
d

 
st

o
ra

g
e 

o
f 

b
lo

o
d

 p
ri

o
r 

to
 t

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 
P

at
ho

lo
gi

st
s 

to
 in

pu
t i

nt
o 

G
P

 e
du

ca
tio

na
l 

se
ss

io
ns

 a
s 

re
qu

es
te

d 

L
ev

el
 f

o
r 

A
ct

io
n

   
   

   
  

(O
rg

, D
ire

ct
, T

ea
m

) 

T
D

L
 D

ir
ec

to
rs

 a
n

d
 P

at
h

o
lo

g
is

ts
 / 

 
C

C
G

 c
o

n
tr

ac
ti

n
g

 a
n

d
 P

ri
m

ar
y 

C
ar

e 
te

am
s 

C
C

G
 C

lin
ic

al
 D

ir
ec

to
rs

 a
n

d
 O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 
M

an
ag

er
s 

/ C
S

U
 w

it
h

 lo
ca

l s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
C

o
n

tr
ac

ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

T
ea

m
s 

/ 
P

at
h

o
lo

g
is

ts
 N

W
L

H
T

 

Im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 b

y:
 

T
D

L
 

 
C

lin
ic

al
 D

ir
ec

to
rs

 
C

O
O

 a
n

d
 D

o
F

 
S

R
O

 / 
D

ep
u

ty
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 D

ir
ec

to
r 

/ P
at

h
o

lo
g

y 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

m
an

ag
er

 

T
ar

g
et

 D
at

e 
fo

r 
Im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 

Q
C

 b
y 

T
D

L
 -

 a
s 

ag
re

ed
 in

te
rn

al
 

p
ro

ce
ss

 u
n

le
ss

 r
eq

u
ir

es
 e

sc
al

at
io

n
, 

o
n

g
o

in
g

; 
 

T
ra

in
in

g 
fo

r 
st

af
f /

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 n
ee

ds
 a

na
ly

si
s 

– 
on

go
in

g 
 

T
ra

in
in

g
 t

o
 b

eg
in

 J
u

n
e 

20
13

 a
n

d
 

o
n

g
o

in
g

 f
o

r 
p

ri
m

ar
y 

ca
re

. 

In
vo

lv
em

en
t 

o
f 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
m

an
ag

er
 v

ia
 O

M
C

 
an

d
 C

R
C

 b
y 

en
d

 o
f 

A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

/ o
n

g
o

in
g

; 
R

es
ou

rc
e 

fo
r 

Lo
ca

l s
up

po
rt

 to
 C

S
U

 in
 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
co

nt
ra

ct
 to

 b
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
by

 1
2 

A
pr

il 
20

13
;  

D
ia

lo
g

u
e 

w
it

h
 C

S
U

 r
eg

ar
d

in
g

 c
o

n
tr

ac
t 

b
y 

19
 A

p
ri

l /
 a

g
re

em
en

t 
b

y 
30

 A
p

ri
l 2

01
3 

M
ee

ti
n

g
 b

y 
m

id
 A

p
ri

l 2
01

3 
C

ou
rie

r 
G

ro
up

 to
 r

ep
or

t b
y 

en
d 

of
 M

ay
 2

01
3 

T
ra

in
in

g
 t

o
 b

eg
in

 J
u

n
e 

21
03

 a
n

d
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 

as
 r

eq
u

ir
ed

.  
 

Page 75



 Pa
ge

 6
2 

  
S:

\B
EH

H
 F

ed
er

at
io

n\
Pa

ul
in

e 
Jo

hn
so

n 
   

   
   

  D
oc

um
en

t v
er

si
on

 F
IN

AL
 2

8.
03

.1
3 

  

  
A

ct
io

n 
4 

A
ct

io
n

 5
 

A
ct

io
n

 6
 

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 R

es
o

u
rc

es
 

R
eq

u
ir

ed
  (

T
im

e,
 m

on
ey

, o
th

er
) 

T
im

e 
o

f 
ke

y 
p

eo
p

le
 

S
ta

ff
 r

es
o

u
rc

e 
an

d
 t

im
e 

fo
r 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 

R
el

ev
an

t 
p

eo
p

le
 a

b
le

 t
o

 a
tt

en
d

 a
ll 

m
ee

ti
n

g
s 
–

 s
ta

ff
 r

es
o

u
rc

e;
 

E
xp

er
tis

e 
to

 m
on

ito
r 

co
nt

ra
ct

. 

S
en

io
r 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

an
d

 o
th

er
 s

ta
ff

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 
–

 t
im

e 
an

d
 m

o
n

ey
; 

S
ta

ff 
re

so
ur

ce
 a

nd
 ti

m
e 

fo
r 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 

E
vi

d
en

ce
 o

f 
P

ro
g

re
ss

 a
n

d
 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

 

U
p

d
at

es
 o

n
 Q

C
 a

va
ila

b
le

 f
ro

m
 T

D
L

 a
t 

O
M

C
 m

ee
ti

n
g

s 
–

 m
in

u
te

s 
ta

ke
n

; 
T

ra
in

in
g 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 o

f s
ta

ff 
as

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
  

D
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
ke

y 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

o
 

ev
id

en
ce

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

at
e 

in
p

u
t o

r 
m

in
u

te
s 

n
o

ti
n

g
 e

sc
al

at
e 

to
 C

C
G

 G
B

 a
n

d
 U

p
d

at
es

 
to

 C
C

G
 G

B
 o

n
g

o
in

g
;  

In
vo

lv
em

en
t o

f c
on

tr
ac

t m
an

ag
er

 v
ia

 O
M

C
 

an
d 

C
R

C
 m

in
ut

es
; 

L
o

ca
l s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

o
 C

S
U

 in
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 

co
n

tr
ac

t 
is

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

n
d

 in
 p

la
ce

; 
R

ev
is

io
n 

of
 K

P
Is

 to
 in

cl
ud

e 
N

H
S

L 
In

di
ca

to
rs

 
un

de
r 

di
sc

us
si

on
 b

y 
en

d 
of

 M
ay

 2
01

3.
 

M
ee

tin
gs

 o
f g

ro
up

 to
 r

ev
ie

w
 c

ou
rie

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
se

t 
up

 a
nd

 m
in

ut
es

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
by

 e
nd

 o
f M

ay
 2

01
3;

 
T

ra
in

in
g

 s
ch

ed
u

le
 a

g
re

ed
 b

y 
re

le
va

n
t 

tr
ai

n
in

g
 p

ro
vi

d
er

s 
b

y 
en

d
 o

f 
M

ay
 2

01
3.

 
 

M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 &
 E

va
lu

at
io

n
 

A
rr

an
g

em
en

ts
  

M
in

ut
es

 o
f O

M
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

to
 r

ef
le

ct
: 

E
sc

al
at

io
n

 p
ro

ce
d

u
re

 u
se

d
 e

ff
ec

ti
ve

ly
 

in
 f

u
tu

re
 e

q
u

ip
m

en
t 

fa
ilu

re
; 

T
ra

in
in

g 
de

liv
er

ed
 / 

ce
rt

ifi
ed

 c
om

pe
te

nt
. 

A
u

d
it

 o
f 

d
o

cu
m

en
ta

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 m
in

u
te

s;
 

C
on

tr
ac

t m
on

ito
rin

g 
re

po
rt

s 
to

 Q
S

C
R

C
 a

nd
 

C
C

G
E

 / 
G

B
 

D
is

cu
ss

io
ns

 w
ith

 C
ou

rie
r 

m
in

ut
ed

 
W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

 e
st

ab
lis

h
ed

 a
n

d
 t

o
 r

ep
o

rt
 

b
y 

en
d

 o
f 

M
ay

 2
01

3 
T

im
es

ca
le

 fo
r 

re
so

lu
tio

n 
- 

en
d 

of
 M

ay
 2

10
3 

S
ig

n
 o

ff
 -

 a
ct

io
n

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

d
at

e:
 

T
D

L
 / 

P
at

h
o

lo
g

y 
C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
M

an
ag

er
 / 

C
C

G
 S

R
O

 -
 o

n
g

o
in

g
 

D
ep

u
ty

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 D
ir

ec
to

r 
P

ri
m

ar
y 

C
ar

e 
/ 

co
n

tr
ac

ts
.  

E
n

d
 o

f 
Ju

n
e 

20
13

 
D

ep
u

ty
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 D

ir
ec

to
r 

P
ri

m
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

/ 
co

n
tr

ac
ts

.  
E

n
d

 o
f 

Ju
n

e 
20

13
 

S
ig

n
 o

ff
 b

y:
 

T
D

L
 -

 D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
S

er
vi

ce
 C

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

 
C

C
S

 S
R

O
 

T
D

L
 -

 D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
S

er
vi

ce
 C

o
m

p
lia

n
ce

 
C

C
G

 -
 C

O
O

 
C

O
O

 

   

Page 76



 

Page 63   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 – NHSL Direct Access Performance Indicators 
 
Appendix 2 – Timeline of Procurement 
 
Appendix 3 – Minutes of RCA Meetings 
  
Appendix 4 – Communication meeting minutes 
 
Appendix 5 – Fishbone diagram 
 
Appendix 6 – Target outcomes of procurement 
 
Appendix 7 – Risk overview of Procurement 
 
Appendix 8 – Blood Sciences Timeline 
 
Appendix 9 – Contract Key Performance Indicators 
 
Appendix 10 – Communication and escalation procedure 
 
Appendix 11 – Notification of changes to pathology service 
 
Appendix 12 – Terms of Reference and membership for Contract Review Committee (CRC) and 
  Operational Management Committee (OMC) 
 
Appendix 13 – Agenda for meeting on 12 October 2012 
 
Appendix 14 – TDL SOP for Non-conformity 
 
Appendix 15 – Email of 12.12.12 
 
Appendix 16 – Letter from Accountable Officer and TDL following first RCA Meeting 
 
Appendix 17 – Full chronology of events during RCA 
 
Appendix 18 – HbA1C analysis; Calcium analysis; Potassium analysis and powerpoint;   
  Potassium survey and results; and INR analysis. 
 
Appendix 19 – Benefits of ICE pathology systems. 
 
Appendix 20 – Feedback from GP practices. 
 
 

Page 77



 

Page 64   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Glossary 
ACR / microalbumin – Albumin Creatinine Ratio test on urine.  An important prognostic marker for kidney 
disease. 

Assay – an analysis or a test  

 

B12, Folate and Ferritin – estimation of iron stores in the blood.  

BAFO – Best and Final Offer, part of the tendering process where only selected bidders are asked to 
submit their best technical and financial proposal. 

Biochemistry – biological chemistry that studies the chemical  processes within and relating to living 
organisms. 

Blood Sciences – refers to haematology, chemistry and blood transfusion 

 

Cerner Millenium – HP/Cerner partnership as a supplier of healthcare information technology systems. 

CfH – NHS Connecting for Health is part of the Department of Health Informatics Directorate.   

Chairs action - the Chairperson is taking the decision and having it effected, without calling a meeting of 
the Board of the organisation.  

COO – Chief Operating Officer 

CPA – Clinical Pathology Accreditation (UK) 

CQC – Care Quality Commission 

CRC – Contract Review Committee 

CRO – Clinically Responsible Officer 

Cytopathology – a branch of pathology that studies and diagnoses disease on the cellular level. 

 

Datix – software for risk management and client safety.  Used to record and monitor Serious Incidents. 

D-DImer – test that GPs use as an aid to the diagnosis of DVT (deep vein thrombosis) 

 

EMIS  – Clinical system used by GPs (used in Brent and Harrow in LV form and web form) 

End to end – all the elements of a given process within one system. i.e. Pathology and courier service – 
gives more control to reduce errors. 

ESR – erythrocyte sedimentation rate measures inflammation in the body 

 

GTT – Glucose tolerance test to check how quickly glucose is cleared from the blood.  Previously the gold 
standard test to diagnose diabetes mellitus. 

 

H Pylori – helicobacter pylori (a bacterium). 

Haematology – the diagnosis and treatment of disorders of the blood and bone marrow 

Haemolysed – the disintegration of red blood cells with the release of haemoglobin (the iron-containing 
oxygen transport of red blood cells) 

HbA1c test  –  a test that is now used to diagnose diabetes and also to monitor diabetic control. 

Page 78



 

Page 65   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Histopathology – microscopic examination of tissue in order to study the manifestations of disease. 

 

ICE – Integrated Clinical environment, is a web based service that allows pathology requests to be made 
from wards, clinics and GP surgeries. 

Indigo4 – data integration for the NHS; supplier of messaging and Ordercomms.  Clinical data repository. 

INR – International Normalised Ratio; measures prothrombin rate (coagulation of the blood).  

IVD – In vitro diagnostic medical devices must be registered with the Medicines and Healthcare products 
Regulatory Agency (MHRA) UK 

 

KPI – Key performance Indicator; helps define and measure progress towards a specific goal. 

 

MCV  – mean cell (corpuscular) volume for assessing iron and vitamin deficiency. 

MHRA – Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority is government agency with a 
responsibility for ensuring that medicines and medical devices work and are acceptably safe. 

Microbiology – is the study of microscopic organisms either unicellular (single cell) or multi-cellular (cell 
colony, or acellular (lacking cells).  Includes virology, mycology, parasitology and bacteriology and so on. 

 

NWLHT and NPH – North West London Hospitals Trust and Northwick Park Hospital  

 

OMC (OMG) - Operational Management Committee (sometimes referred to as the Operational 
Management Group).  It is a sub-committee of the Contract Review Group. 

OOH and 111 – Out of hours GP on call services and 111 service which is the new 3-digit telephone 
service that is being introduced to improve access to urgent care services.  Patients use the number 
when they need medical help or advice and it is not urgent enough to cal 999. 

Ordercomms – electronic requesting; see ICE 

 

Pathology – is the study and diagnosis of disease through the examination of organs, tissues, bodily 
fluids and whole bodies (post-mortems / autopsies). 

PCT / CCG – Primary Care Trust /Clinical Commissioning Group (successor organisation). 

POCT – Point of Care Testing (near patient testing) is medical testing at or near the site of patient care. 

Preferred Bidder – the bidder selected by the vendor, using pre-determined criteria, as being the party to 
whom it intends to award the contract the service. 

 

Q-Pulse – is an internationally recognised quality, safety and risk management system for an 
organisation. 

Quality Assurance – is a series of management activities to ensure that a process, item or service is of 
the type and quality needed by the user.  It is one part of the quality system. 

 

Reagent – a substance or compound that is added in order to bring about a chemical change to see if 
reaction occurs.  Bromocreosol (purple) as a reagent is an indicator of albumin. 

Page 79



 

Page 66   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

Reference Ranges – or reference interval describes the variation of measurements of value in healthy 
individual. 

Risk analysis – includes risk identification and assessment, and risk management to mitigate, reduce or 
remove risks. 

Root Cause Analysis – is a systematic investigation technique that looks beyond the individuals 
concerned and seeks to understand the underlying causes and environmental context in which the 
incident happened. (RCA Toolkit - National Patient Safety Agency www.npsa.nhs.uk) 

 

SLA – Service Level Agreement is part of a service contract between provider and customer that 
specifies in measureable terms, what services will be provided. 

SRO – Senior Responsible Officer 

StEIS – Strategic Executive Information System is a web-based system developed by the Department of 
Health in 2002.  It contains a Serious Untoward Incident module to which Trusts and CCGs add data and 
which allows the Strategic Health Authority to access information directly.  

Sub cluster – North West London is a cluster of 8 PCTs.  These have variously been grouped in a 2,3,3 
formation and 4,4 formation known as subclusters. 

 

TaT or Turnaround times – the time that it takes to perform the task and deliver the output. 

ToR – Terms of Reference describe the purpose and structure of the committee. 

TUPE – Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) regulations protects employees’ terms and 
conditions of employment when a business is transferred from one owner to another.  

 

UK Pathology Harmony project – funded by the Department of Health, this initiative was set up in 2007 
to work towards harmonisation in UK pathology laboratories.  

Vision (INPS) –  GP clinical system (In Practice Systems)  

Page 80



 

Page 67   S:\BEHH Federation\Pauline Johnson            Document version FINAL 28.03.13 

 
 

References 

                                                           
i http://www.midstaffspublicinquiry.com/report 

ii Transforming Pathology Services in England: Report of the Second Phase of the Independent Review of NHS Pathology Services 
in England (DH 2008)  

iii 
http://www.london.nhs.uk/webfiles/Pathology/Modernising%20Pathology%20in%20London%2027%20June%202011%20(FINAL).pd
f 

iv http://www.pathologyharmony.co.uk/ 

v http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2423316/ 

vi The NHS White Paper, Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS.  DH July 2010; Cm7881: Gateway reference 14385 

vii NHS Brent and Harrow Risk Strategy and Policy v8, July 2011 

viii http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/2012/06/act-explained/ 

 
ix http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/topics/nhs-reform/health-and-social-care-act-2012-timeline?gclid=CKeH07qY8rUCFePHtAodqBwAQw 

 
x http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2012/07/ccgs-and-pcts-not-so-different-after-all 

xi  Sinclair D, Briston P, Young R, Pepin N.  Seasonal pseudo-hyperkalaemia.   J Clin Path 2003; 56: 385-388. 
 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



Action Plan 
See also ‘Types of Preventative Actions Planned’- tool at www.npsa.nhs.uk/rca 

Action 1 Action 2 Action 3 

Root CAUSE Measures not taken to mitigate risk Poor reporting and Communication IT system caused format changes 

EFFECT on Patient Service efficacy may be compromised; 
impact of time spent on remedial action 

Important information not reaching GP; 
patients may need to be recalled etc. 

Results may be filed without clinical overview 
with impact on clinical management of patient 

Recommendation 1, 2 3, 3,7,8,9,10,11,13 4, 6, 13, 14 

Action to Address Root Cause  Ensure adequate senior resource into 
future procurements / service changes 

 Ensure Risk Assessment of transition 
and implementation and action taken 

 Involve more GPs in the process 

o Improve Communication Process within 
CCG and out to GP community 

o Involve more grass roots GPs 
o Improve communication to service 

providers e.g. up to date GP lists; codes 
for locums and non-medical requesters 

o ensure clarity of 111 and OOH services 
communicated to relevant stakeholders 

o Working party to review SOPs and service 
issues for pathology (applicable across). 

o The OMC should be established urgently and 
ensure relevant input from GPs and Senior 
CCG management 

o Input into CRC from the above group for 
continuity and information transfer 

o Continue Dialogue with National Clinical Lead 
and GP System providers about GP systems 
and national standard format of results

o Ensure ongoing dialogue with TDL regarding 
SOPs and other service changes (SOP forum) 

Level for Action           
(Org, Direct, Team) 

Organisation  Team lead by relevant senior manager Team lead by relevant senior manager 

Implementation by: Senior Management Team / COO Primary Care Team lead by relevant senior 
manager 

Primary Care Team lead by relevant senior 
manager 

Target Date for 
Implementation 

Ongoing Communication review by end June 2013 
Involvement of GPs to be agreed by CCGE 
Working Group set up by end May 2013 

OMC and CRC by end of April 2013 
Dialogue re systems ongoing to September ‘13
Working Group set up end May and ongoing 

Additional Resources Required  
(Time, money, other) 

Senior Management capacity and 
overview 

Time and staff resource required Time and relevant resources to be freed up to 
implement 

Evidence of Progress and 
Completion 

Risk Assessment of future procurements, 
QIPP etc are undertaken 

Communication protocols agreed, in place 
and evidenced as working  

OMC and CRC are operational and have 
appropriate input 

P
age 83



See also ‘Types of Preventative Actions Planned’- tool at www.npsa.nhs.uk/rca 
Action 1 Action 2 Action 3 

Entries  of risks are entered into the 
programme / Corporate Risk Register 

Involvement of GPs discussed at CCGE and 
minutes reflect decision 
Working group set up and to involve GPs 

Calendar of meetings with National Clinical lead 
Working Group established and meeting 
regularly with majority of group present 

Monitoring & Evaluation 
Arrangements  

Audit of Risk Register and procurement / 
service change documentation 

Communication protocols evidenced 
Communications received by relevant 
parties in a timely manner 
Minutes / notes of working group 

Minutes of OMC and CRC available 
Evidence of action by National Clinical Lead 
(national enquiry established etc) or change in 
presentation of results 
Minutes of working group available and 
outputs evidenced. 

Sign off - action completed 
date: 

Ongoing but with audit of next 3 
procurements / QIPP projects 

Deputy Borough Director (Primary Care 
and procurements) by end July 2013 

Deputy Borough Director (Primary Care and 
procurements) to October 2013 for IT  
 
OMC and CRC ongoing 

Sign off by: COO / CEO COO COO 

Action / date for completion / 
responsible person 

Procurements / QIPP projects have; 

 Adequate senior resource identified 
with CRO and SRO identified for each 
project – ongoing / Procurement SRO 

 Risk Assessment of transition and 
implementation impact assessment 
required at the first stage of 
procurements – ongoing / 
Procurement SRO 

 Explicit GP representation on all 
procurement processes – ongoing / 
Procurement SRO 
 

 Quarterly meeting between the CCG 
and all Brent GPs – ongoing / COO 

 Monthly newsletter to GPs - - ongoing 
/ Comms Manager 

 “key messages” agenda item on all 
locality meetings – ongoing / Clinical 
Directors 

 Review of contact data being 
undertaken with pathology services 
but also with all other providers to 
ensure contemporary GP information 
– Brent pathology SRO via contract 
review committee / every 6 months  

 Stakeholder updates as part of 

 The OMC established input from GPs and 
Senior CCG management – completed 16 
May 2013 

 The OMC meets prior to the CRC with 
input from the above group for continuity 
and information transfer – agreed at the 
CRC 16 May 2013 to commence July 2013 

  Dialogue is continuing with National 
Clinical Lead and GP System providers 
about GP systems and national standard 
format of results – CCG primary care  IT 
commissioner / Chair OMC / TDL  ongoing 
 

P
age 84



See also ‘Types of Preventative Actions Planned’- tool at www.npsa.nhs.uk/rca 
Action 1 Action 2 Action 3 

contract meeting agenda – all contract 
review group members 

 Working party to review SOPs and 
service issues for pathology – 
operational management committee / 
July contract review meeting 

 

P
age 85



See also ‘Types of Preventative Actions Planned’- tool at www.npsa.nhs.uk/rca 
 Action 4 Action 5 Action 6 

Root CAUSE Equipment Failure, incorrect assays and 
pseudo-hyperkalaemia 

Lack of engagement in process Lack of access to key information 

EFFECT on Patient Delay in processing results and / or receipt 
of inaccurate results; inconvenience of 
time taken out of day and of being re-bled 

Service quality standards not monitored; no 
action to improve / develop service to GPs; 
sub-optimal contract monitoring  

Delay in taking appropriate action; 
inconvenience for patients if re-bled 

Recommendation 12, 15,16 1,4, 5, 17 17,18 

Action to Address Root Cause Action taken by TDL to process bloods 
elsewhere in interim whilst functionality 
of equipment restored / as necessary; 
Separate group to be set up to review 
courier service contract and ensure 
temperature controlled environment; 
Training to be provided on drawing and 
storage of blood prior to transportation 

Establishment of OMC and CRC 
Senior management overview of end to end 
process of procurement / QIPP 
Relevant clinical input and continuity of same 
Involve Contract Manager in technical 
contract support and review of KPIs (incl. 
NHSL Direct Access Pathology Indicators) 
Regular updates to CCGE and CCGGB 
See Action 1 and Action 3 also. 
 

Ensure continuity of leadership through 
organisational change; 
Ensure systems to archive relevant 
information are available and used; 
Handover documents to be sufficiently 
detailed to ensure continuity; 
Communication to GPs to be improved and 
also the input of GPs to key decisions on 
service changes to be secured. 
See Action 1 and Action 5 also. 

Level for Action           
(Org, Direct, Team) 

TDL Directors and Pathologists /  
CCG contracting and Primary Care teams 

CCG Clinical Directors and Operational 
Managers / CSU with local support 

CCG GB / Contracting and Primary Care 
Teams 

Implementation by: TDL 
CCG 

Clinical Directors 
COO and DoF 

CCG GB 
COO 

Target Date for 
Implementation 

QC by TDL - as agreed internal process 
unless requires escalation, ongoing;  
Courier Group to report by end May 2013; 
Training to begin June 2013 and ongoing. 

Involvement of contract manager via OMC 
and CRC by end of April 2013 and ongoing; 
Resource for Local support to CSU in 
monitoring contract to be identified by 12 
April 2013; 
Dialogue with CSU regarding contract by 19 
April / agreement by 30 April 2013 

Continuity through organisational change – 
ongoing; 
Continuity of appropriate senior 
management into procurements / QIPP and 
service change – ongoing; 
Improved Communication to GPs and 
involvement to GPs - see Action 2. 

P
age 86



See also ‘Types of Preventative Actions Planned’- tool at www.npsa.nhs.uk/rca 
Action 4 Action 5 Action 6 

Additional Resources Required  
(Time, money, other) 

Time of key people 
Staff resource and time for training 

Relevant people able to attend all meetings 
– staff resource; 
Expertise to monitor contract. 

Senior Management and other staff 
support – time and money; 
See Action 2 for other implications. 

Evidence of Progress and 
Completion 

Updates on QC available from TDL at 
OMC meetings - minuted; 
Meetings of group to review courier 
service set up and minutes available by 
end of May 2013; 
Training schedule agreed by relevant 
training providers by end of May 2013. 
 

Documentation of key services to evidence 
appropriate input or minutes noting escalate 
to CCG GB and Updates to CCG GB ongoing; 
Involvement of contract manager via OMC 
and CRC minutes; 
Local support to CSU in monitoring contract 
is identified and in place; 
Revision of KPIs to include NHSL Indicators 
under discussion by end of May 2013. 

Archived documentation available to 
successor organisation; 
Corporate memory available – at least 
through transition; 
Communication and GP involvement – see 
Action 2. 

Monitoring & Evaluation 
Arrangements  

Minutes available and actions evidenced; 
Training delivered / certified competent. 

Audit of documentation and minutes; 
Contract monitoring reports to QSCRC and 
CCGE / GB 

Availability of relevant documentation on 
shared drive; 
Audit of documentation / minutes. 

Sign off - action completed 
date: 

Deputy Borough Director Primary Care / 
contracts.  End of June 2013 

Deputy Borough Director Primary Care / 
contracts.  End of June 2013 

COO 
Ongoing 

Sign off by: TDL - Director of Service Compliance 
CCG - COO 

TDL - Director of Service Compliance 
CCG - COO 

CCGE / GB 

Action / date for completion / 
responsible person 

 functionality of equipment restored 
– February 2013 / TDL 

 Quality Control updates a standing 
item on the OMC and CRC agendas – 
minuted – ongoing / committee 
chairs 

 The OMC to review courier service -  
CRC meeting agreed 16 May 2013 

 Training for GP practices on drawing 

 Establish OMC and CRC– completed first 
meeting 16/05/13 

 Local support to CSU in monitoring 
contract – June / procurement SRO 

 Revision of KPIs to include NHSL 
Indicators - discussed 16/05/13 – to be 
worked through at July CRC meeting / 
CRC members  

 Documentation archived on the S drive 
April 2013 / ongoing / procurement 
SRO 

 

P
age 87



See also ‘Types of Preventative Actions Planned’- tool at www.npsa.nhs.uk/rca 
 Action 4 Action 5 Action 6 

and storage of blood - schedule to be 
agreed by relevant training providers 
by end of May 2013,  
complete training July 2013 / locality 
managers 

 
 

P
age 88



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

 
 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

11th June 2013   

Report from  
Strategy, Partnerships and 

Improvement 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

Emergency Services at Northwick Park and Central 
Middlesex Hospitals 

 
1.0 Summary 

 
1.1 Members of the Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be aware 

of the ongoing issues around Emergency Services at North West London Hospitals 
Trust.  This report outlines the key current problems, notably with meeting the four 
hour waiting time targets.  It cites issues such as increased pressure at Northwick 
Park Hospital, where Emergency Department attendances have decreased but 
combined Emergency Department and Urgent Care Centre attendances continue to 
increase; it also cites issues around long stays in beds and delays in discharge 
causing a blockage in the emergency pathway.  Attendance at Central Middlesex 
continues to decline. 

 
1.2  On 6 March 2013 NHS London chaired a risk summit, held to consider the risks and 

possible solutions around Emergency Care.  The trust and local CCGs have now 
submitted a high-impact action plan intended to deliver improvements in a short 
timescale.  The immediate steps to address this are outlined in the report, particularly 
increasing bed capacity at Northwick Park and increased use of Central Middlesex. 
Other actions around the discharge process and referral of ED patients directly to a 
consultant are also being developed.  

 
1.3 Other plans that were already in place are also covered in the report, including 

projects/workstreams to reorganise the services across Northwick Park and Central 
Middlesex, the new Emergency Department at Northwick Park and new operating 
theatres at Northwick Park.   

 
1.4 The Care Quality Commission made an unannounced visit from the Care Quality 

Commission, whose inspection included the Emergency Department.  The official 
findings from this have not yet been received. 

 
 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
2.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to 

consider the report and question officers on the range of issues raised, particularly 

Agenda Item 6

Page 89



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

the current issues faced around waiting times, the risks identified at the risk summit 
and the immediate and long term plans proposed for improving the delivery of 
Emergency Services in North West London, with a view to establishing whether 
these plans will provide the improvements needed.  
 
Contact Officers 
 
Mark Burgin 
Policy and Performance Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 5029 
Email – mark.burgin@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Assistant Director of Policy 
Tel – 020 8937 1045 
Email – cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 90



 
 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
May 2013  
 
Update for Brent Health Partnership Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
This report provides an update on key developments that are being discussed in 
relation to emergency services at Northwick Park and Central Middlesex Hospitals.   
 
 
1. Update on emergency services at The North West London 

Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
1.1  Overview 
 
The North West London Hospitals NHS Trust has struggled to meet the performance 
target for 95 per cent of patients to wait no more than four hours in its Emergency 
Departments. Despite the hard work of staff, the Trust failed to meet the target for 
the year ending March 2013. In particular, it has faced increasing pressure at 
Northwick Park Hospital. Our Trust and many others are finding it hard to keep up 
with unprecedented demand for emergency care.  
 
It is true to say that attendances at Northwick Park Emergency Department have 
fallen overall since the opening of the new Urgent Care Centre, which now handles 
all the low acuity, fast turnaround work. However, London Ambulance conveyances 
have increased, as have admissions and the acuity of the conditions of patients 
attending Northwick Park. The number of patients visiting the Northwick Park site, 
including the UCC, has increased by 10 per cent for every year of the last three 
years, which in turn increases referrals to speciality teams. In contrast, attendances 
at Central Middlesex Hospital have sharply declined. 
 
1.2 The effect of these changes 
 
These changes, along with the opening of the Trust’s Ambulatory Care Unit, have 
marginally increased the length of time that patients stay at its hospitals, as patients 
who would previously have stayed for a short time are now not being admitted at all. 
These short stays would previously have brought down the statistics for average 
length of stay. The Trust has a target for non-elective patients to stay in hospital for 
only 2.9 days, but, on average, patients are actually staying for 3.44 days. In 
addition, delays in discharging patients who are medically fit to leave hospital have 
resulted in fewer beds being available every day, thereby creating a blockage in the 
flow through the emergency pathway.  

Page 91



 
 

 
2 

Despite the fact that actual numbers of delayed patients are not significantly higher, 
the patients themselves are presenting with increasingly complex conditions, which 
means length of stay has increased overall and fewer beds are available each day 
for other patients who are waiting to be admitted from the Emergency Department. 
 
1.3 Mitigating arrangements 
 
At the beginning of the financial year 2012/13, a non-recurrent £10 million was 
invested in the emergency pathway, funding additional staff and escalation beds. 
None of this investment has been removed from the system, but admissions and 
acuity of patients’ conditions have continued to increase. 
 
The Medical Director of NHS London chaired a risk summit on 6 March 2013, 
involving the Care Quality Commission, the NHS Trust Development Authority, NHS 
England, The North West London Hospitals NHS Trust, and Brent and Harrow CCG.   
 
The purpose of the risk summit was to discuss solutions to potential risks resulting 
from increased demand on emergency care and the impact this has had on patient 
experience and performance. Following on from this, the Trust and local CCGs 
submitted a high-impact action plan which will lead to an improved performance in 
the Emergency Department at Northwick Park, by delivering system-wide changes in 
a short timescale. 
 
This has required the Trust to commit to some investment to its emergency pathway 
and required commissioners to commit resources to the out-of-hospital strategy in 
relation to unscheduled care. 
 
 
2. Next steps 
 
The Committee may remember from the Trust’s March report that, with support from 
commissioners, it has started discussions with staff and other stakeholders to 
explore how to reorganise emergency services across the Central Middlesex and 
Northwick Park sites to make the best use of staff and other resources. A project 
board is overseeing this work, which includes senior representatives and clinicians 
from the Trust and its NHS partners.  
 
The project board has set up a number of workstreams for specific projects: 

 care of elderly & therapy  
 communication 
 critical care, outpatients & theatres  
 education & training 
 estates & facilities  
 information & finance  
 medicine 

 operational site management  
 out of hospital/primary care 

(including LAS and UCC)  
 paediatrics  
 surgery & diagnostics 
 workforce 

Page 92



 
 

 
3 

2.1 Improvement programmes  
 
In summary, three of the changes the Trust intends to make immediately are: 
 increasing bed capacity at Northwick Park; 
 maximising capacity at Central Middlesex; 
 moving more orthopaedic work to Central Middlesex. 

 
2.2 Central Middlesex Hospital 
 
As part of its plans to make the most of the excellent staff and facilities at Central 
Middlesex Hospital, the Trust is planning to move recovery and rehabilitation care to 
the hospital for patients who have had surgery for hip fractures. There would be 
ortho-geriatric/medical cover, therapies input and a proposed enhanced recovery 
programme – the first of its kind for non-elective patients.  
 
Central Middlesex would sustain an acute medical take, caring for patients with a 
medical problem who arrive by ambulance or are referred by their GP at any time of 
the day or night. This happens at the hospital during the day, but ambulance arrivals 
are not accepted out of hours at the moment.  
 
This would exclude patients with chest pain, stroke and GI bleeds, who would 
continue to be seen at Northwick Park Hospital. This model has been used 
elsewhere (Hammersmith and West Herts) and the Trust would continue to retain an 
Intensive Treatment Unit at Central Middlesex. The Trust would also install a further 
10 beds for medical patients to facilitate the additional workload.  
 
2.3 Northwick Park Hospital 
 
With no change, Northwick Park would continue to struggle to meet the four-hour 
waiting time target. Therefore, the Trust is planning to: 

 create additional bed space on existing wards, including a short-term change of 
11 private beds on Sainsbury Ward to NHS beds; 

 expand the ambulatory care unit and surgical assessment unit on Fletcher Ward 
to include the STARRS assessment lounge, in order to allow it to see another 10 
to 15 patients a day; and 

 move STARRS to focus on the front end (Emergency Department) in order to 
prevent unnecessary admissions. 

 
2.4 Plans for improvements beyond the emergency pathway 
 
It is important for the Trust to improve the way in which it plans for patients to be 
discharged from hospital. This needs to be done at an early stage in the care 
pathway so that colleagues in primary care, such as GPs and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, can organise the support services that patients require in 
the community when they leave hospital.  

Page 93



 
 

 
4 

An example of a service that can help to join up the discharge process is the Trust’s 
STARRS service. Working in close collaboration with GPs and hospital specialists, it 
helped reduced the length of hospital stay for more than 2,000 patients in Brent by 
supporting them at home in 20011/12.  
 
2.5 Direct admission pathways 
 
In many cases, patients who need a surgical assessment don’t have to be assessed 
in the Emergency Department first and could be referred directly to a consultant who 
is an expert in their conditions, for example, in ear nose and threat, maxillofacial, 
general surgery, gynaecology and urology departments. Plans for this are in 
development and being discussed with clinical teams across the health economy. 
 
2.6 New £21 million Emergency Department 
 
Work has started on the Trust’s new £21 million emergency department (ED), 
children’s ED and urgent care centre at Northwick Park Hospital. The new 
department will incorporate 40 individual bays, to allow patients greater privacy, and 
waiting areas will be improved. In the longer term, the Trust will move the Acute 
Admissions Unit and Surgical Admissions Unit to the 3rd floor of the ward block, next 
to the new ED. This will enable the Trust to have more assessment beds.  
 
2.7 New state-of-the-art operating theatres  
 
The Trust is investing £14 million in world-class, state-of-the-art facilities, 
including nine large new theatres, three refurbished theatres and a new 
interventional imaging suite for vascular surgery at Northwick Park Hospital.  
 
Phase 1 is due to open in summer this year, with the remainder completed by 
Easter 2014. When the theatres open, patients will benefit from improved facilities 
for emergency, vascular, maxillofacial and colorectal surgery, and staff will have 
better working conditions and training facilities. 
 
 
3. Care Quality Commission scrutiny 
 
Earlier this month, Northwick Park Hospital had an unannounced visit from the Care 
Quality Commission, which examined a number of wards and departments, 
particularly the Emergency Department. While the Trust has yet to receive an official 
report from the Commission, the overall feedback on the day was positive. Given 
that the inspectors visited a number of departments across the emergency pathway, 
this was a real credit to the hard work of Trust staff over a sustained period to 
maintain and improve standards of care for patients. 

Page 94



 
 

 
5 

4. Involving staff and the local community  
 
The Trust is engaging with a wide variety of local stakeholders, as outlined in its 
report to the Committee in March. In addition, meetings are planned with local 
interest groups as part of the programme to look at emergency care across both 
sites.  
 
 
Tina Benson 
Acting Director of Operations 
The North West London Hospitals NHS Trust 

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

 
 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

11th June 2013   

Report from  
Strategy, Partnerships and 

Improvement 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

111 Telephone Number – Service Implementation 

 
1.0 Summary 

 
1.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee has previously been 

informed of delays to the implementation of the 111 number which all Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are required to put in place by 31 March 2013.  Brent 
CCG has jointly commissioned a service with Harrow, Hounslow and Ealing.   

 
1.2  The report outlines some of the key issues that have affected the service and 

delayed full roll out.  Following local and national issues, particularly over Easter, 
NHS London took steps to ensure a satisfactory service was delivered across 
London, resulting in a contractual notice being served and a remedial action plan 
being put in place.  This is being monitored by the North West London 
Commissioning Support Unit on behalf of the four CCGs with clinical leads from the 
CCGs meeting every Friday to undertake further reviews.   

 
1.3 The report states that performance has improved since Easter, with a notable 

exception of Saturday 11 May, though one continued area of concern, both locally 
and nationally, is performance against the requirement to call patients back within ten 
minutes.  Mitigating actions such as queue prioritisation have been put in place while 
the underlying issues of staff numbers and rotas are addressed. 

. 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
2.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to 

consider the report and question officers on the issues that have arisen to date, 
lessons learnt and current performance, and to further establish and scrutinise the 
plans to address the issues/problems that still exist with the service. 
 
Contact Officers 
 
Mark Burgin 
Policy and Performance Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 5029 
Email – mark.burgin@brent.gov.uk 

Agenda Item 7

Page 97



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Assistant Director of Policy 
Tel – 020 8937 1045 
Email – cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 98



Update to the Brent HOSC on the 111 service implementation  

May 2013 

 

1. Purpose 

This paper provides an overview to the HOSC on the 111 service, its mobilisation and the challenges 
we are facing in delivering a safe and efficient 111 service in Brent. 

2. Context 

As set out in The NHS Operating Framework for 2012/13, there was a national requirement on all 
CCGs to have an operational NHS 111 service for their locality by 31 March 2013. 

Scope of 111 

NHS 111 is being introduced across England to make it easier for public to access urgent healthcare 
services.   

The free to call 111 number is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year to respond to 
people’s healthcare needs when: 

• You need medical help fast, but it’s not a 999 emergency  

• You don’t know who to call for medical help or you don't have a GP to call  

• You are unsure whether or not to go A&E or another NHS urgent care service  

• You require local health information or reassurance about what to do next 

Calls are answered by highly trained advisers, supported by experienced clinicians, who assesses the 
caller’s needs and determine the most appropriate course of action, including: 

• Callers who can care for themselves will have information, advice and reassurance provided 

• Callers requiring further care or advice will be referred to a service that has the appropriate 
skills and resources to meet their needs 

• Callers facing an emergency will have an ambulance despatched without delay 

• Callers requiring services outside the scope of NHS 111 will be signposted to an alternative 
service 

The 111 service has received considerable national press and professional scrutiny since its launch 
nationally in April. 

 

 

Page 99



3. Procurement and mobilisation 

 A procurement process was undertaken supported by NHS London which involved Brent, Harrow, 
Hounslow and Ealing CCG commissioners.  Harmoni was identified as the preferred bidder.  A 
contract was signed on the 15th February 2013. 

Both the clinical governance group and a delivery group were formed to support the mobilisation of 
the service across the four CCGs.   These groups have undertaken much of the detailed discussion 
and work associated with mobilising the service which includes: 

• Submission of initial clinical governance papers to DH (09/11/2012). 

• Face-to-face interview with DH (14/11/2012). 

• Development of detailed action plan to respond to issues identified by DH Clinical 
 Governance review (22/11/2012). 

• Submission of three Clinical Governance update reports to DH (21/12/201; 11/01/2013; 
29/01/2013).   

• DH readiness testing and technical testing ahead of go-live. 

• QDoS testing and sign off of comprehensive Directory of Services for each CCG. 

• Weekly Delivery Group and Clinical Governance Group meetings to oversee delivery.   

 

4. Start Date 

The service planned go live date was the 14th December 2012. The start date was delayed as 
Harmoni did not manage to deliver a working two way messaging system between clinical systems 
i.e. messages between 111, the GP practices and out of hours providers in Richmond and Kingston as 
this was also required for Brent it was not possible to go live on the planned date 

It was agreed in February that the service should have a “soft launch” (the service only being 
available out of hours for patients contacting the GP out of hours telephone line) in February.  All 
parties agreed that whilst a number of operational issues remained unresolved with the provider, 
Harmoni, a number of these could only be resolved through operational delivery.  It was agreed that 
once the issues were resolved the service would be launched with a publicity campaign to the 
general public. 

Numerous meetings with the provider have failed to rectify the outstanding issues which have 
culminated with a very poor local and national performance over the Easter Bank holiday weekend.   
As a result of this Daniel Elkilies, CO, CWHH Collaborative was asked by NHS London to oversee a 
process to ensure that a satisfactory service was delivered and maintained across London.  To this 
end a contractual notice was served requiring a remedial action plan to ensure that services attained 
the standard required for a safe public launch.  The Remedial Action Plan is being monitored by the 
Commissioning Support Unit on behalf of the CCGs at is discussed at the contract monitoring 
meetings which involve the four CCG commissioners. 

Page 100



 

5. Performance monitoring / performance issues 

Performance monitoring is currently being undertaken in four key areas; 

1. Clinical Leads (local GPs) across the four CCGs meet every Friday to undertake “end to end” 
reviews of both real patient calls chosen at random and those which have elicited complaint.  
This is a combined meeting with the provider which highlights both poor performance and 
areas where the service may be improved.  It is proving very valuable in supporting better 
decision making by the local call handlers.  

2. Contractually the North West London Commissioning Support Unit is monitoring the current 
performance against a limited number of Key Performance Indicators prior to the full 
contract being enacted in Brent (public go live), they report weekly and they have noted  a 
recent improvement. 

3. The Remedial Action Plan requested by NHS London on behalf of the CCGs  

Problems which were highlighted locally but which also have a national impact are being 
resolved at a national level with input from the providers e.g. adult and children safeguarding 
training to level 2 

 

6. Recent Performance 

Performance has improved since Easter with call abandonment and calls answered in 60 seconds 
meeting or being very close to required standards on most days with a notable exception of 
Saturday 11th May.   The provider is required to provide a formal investigation into the reasons 
behind the performance, lessons learnt and the remedial action that has been put in place when a 
standard is not met. 

A critical performance indicator that has caused concern both locally and nationally is meeting the 
requirement of all call backs to patients within 10 minutes of their initial call to the service, this 
remains a serious challenge.  Mitigating actions have been prioritised such as queue prioritisation.  
This has been put in place while the underlying issues of staff numbers and rotas are addressed. 

Performance of Outer North West London are attached as Appendix 1 

 

7. Conclusion 

The HOSC is asked to receive and note the report and the North West London 111 performance 
data. 

 

Page 101



Page 102

This page is intentionally left blank



 

B02 NHS 111 Standards Performance: Timeseries of data

6
/0

4
/2

0
1

3

7
/0

4
/2

0
1

3

1
3

/0
4

/2
0

1
3

1
4

/0
4

/2
0

1
3

2
0

/0
4

/2
0

1
3

2
1

/0
4

/2
0

1
3

2
7

/0
4

/2
0

1
4

2
8

/0
4

/2
0

1
3

5
/0

5
/2

0
1

3

6
/0

5
/2

0
1

3

1
1

/0
5

/2
0

1
3

1
2

/0
5

/2
0

1
3

1
3

/0
5

/2
0

1
3

1
4

/0
5

/2
0

1
3

Sat Sun Sat Sun Sat Sun Sat Sun Sat Sun Sat Sun Mon Tues

Average 
across the 
period 
Weekends 7 
days 
Summary

% Abandoned > 30 secs 12.68% 11.44% 4.79% 3.62% 0.27% 0.73% 2.38% 0.00% 2.56% 3.01% 2.49% 1.06% 0.00% 0.00% 2%
Total Calls Offered (Received) 418 367 355 304 375 274 421 276 352 365 362 283 211 169 344

Call Volumes % Difference from Previous Weekend -18% -21% 5% -11% 11% 1% -20% 24% 3% -29% -1%
% Calls answered < 60 sec 74.2% 66.8% 81.1% 88.7% 94.1% 99.3% 93.4% 96.7% 93.0% 89.5% 78.8% 93.6% 98.1% 98.2% 94%

Total Calls Answered 365 325 338 293 374 274 411 276 343 354 353 280 211 169 332

% Warm Transferred to Clinician 20% 22% 19% 21% 20% 23% 17% 25% 21% 18% 22% 21% 23% 20%

Total Warm Transferred to Clinician 73 70 65 61 76 64 69 69 73 65 79 60 48 33

% of Call Backs 39% 47% 31% 44% 40% 47% 39% 44% 44% 47% 44% 47% 47% 38% 43%

Number of Call Backs 46 61 29 48 50 56 44 55 57 57 62 53 43 20 54

% < Calls Under 10 Minutes 37.0% 24.6% 51.7% 58.3% 32.0% 64.3% 61.4% 38.2% 61.4% 35.1% 56.5% 50.9% 41.9% 70.0% 50%Operational Standard 90% 190% 290% 390% 490% 590% 690% 790% 890% 990% 1090% 1190% 1290% 1390% 50%

Total Calls < 10 Minutes 17 15 15 28 16 36 27 21 35 20 35 27 18 14 26

KPI

>95% 94% - 80% <80%
<5% 4% - 9% >10%

>90% 89% - 71% <70%

111 Calls Offered (Received)

111 Calls Answered

Calls to 111  Clinician

% of callbacks under 10 minutes

111 CallBacks

111 Callbacks Under 10 Minutes

% of calls answered within 60 Seconds
% of abandoned after 30 seconds

ONWL

Note; Warm transfer is when a patient calls 111 and the call handler triages 
the need and transfers the patient directly to the service e.g. out of hours 
doctor, without having to call the patient back   

P
age 103



P
age 104

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

 
 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

11th June 2013   

Report from  
Strategy, Partnerships and 

Improvement 

For Action 
  

Wards Affected: 
ALL 

Colposcopy Services at Central Middlesex Hospital 

 
1.0 Summary 

 
1.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee were advised by the 

Northwest London Hospital Trust, at the meeting in March, that the Colposcopy 
Service at Central Middlesex Hospital had been suspended after a member of staff 
had left.  The trust had had problems recruiting a replacement, and this left 
insufficient staff to ensure a service that complied with waiting times criteria and 
clinical standards. 

 
1.2 This report provides an update on the situation, including details of problems with a 

high number of “did not attend” instances prior to the colposcopy service closing at 
Central Middlesex and plans to train a gynaecological nurse to replace the member 
of staff that has left. 

 
 
2.0 Recommendations 

 
2.1 The Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to 

consider the report and question officers on the trust’s plans for the colposcopy 
service at Central Middlesex Hospital and at Northwick Park Hospital as a whole, 
how quickly these can be implemented and how they will address some of the issues 
around non-attendance highlighted in the report.    
 
Contact Officers 
 
Mark Burgin 
Policy and Performance Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 5029 
Email – mark.burgin@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
Cathy Tyson 
Assistant Director of Policy 
Tel – 020 8937 1045 

Agenda Item 9

Page 105



 
Meeting – Health Partnerships OSC 
11th June 2013 

  

 
 

Email – cathy.tyson@brent.gov.uk 

Page 106



 
 

 1 

 
 

 
Thursday 23 May 2013  
 
Update for Brent Health Partnership Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
This report provides an update on changes to colposcopy services at Central 
Middlesex Hospital.   
 
 
Summary  
 
On 1 April 2013, the colposcopy service at Central Middlesex Hospital (CMH) 
relocated to Northwick Park Hospital on a temporary basis.  
 
This decision was made in order to support the one colposcopist remaining at CMH 
(following the retirement of a nurse colposcopist), after taking governance advice 
from Brent & Harrow Commissioning Screening Chair (now part of Public Health 
England) and the London Quality Assurance Authority (now NHS England).  
  
Without this arrangement, the one colposcopist remaining at CMH would have been 
left working in isolation, which is against the national screening programme’s 
statutory clinical guidelines, which are set to ensure that clinical standards for waiting 
times and safety are maintained.   
 
Colposcopists are highly specialist health professionals and the Trust has been 
unable to appoint someone to replace the nurse colposcopist who retired. However, 
the Trust is training one of its gynaecology specialist nurses to take over.  
 
An extra clinic session has been set up to manage any increase in demand at 
Northwick Park Hospital and to ensure there is no impact on waiting times for 
patients.  
 
We are conducting satisfaction surveys to seek the views of patients about the 
service and the temporary changes in place.  
 
Background  
 
Women are referred for a colposcopy if their smear test results (normally carried out 
at a local GP surgery) show some abnormalities which need further investigation.   

A colposcopy is a procedure that closely examines the surface of the cervix using a 
magnifying instrument called a colposcope. A specialist, called a colposcopist, 
performs the procedure to check the cells on the surface of the cervix for 
abnormalities. 

The Trust runs a direct referral service, in accordance with national screening 
directives, and supports the Government’s Cancer Reform Strategy on the 62-day 
standard for waiting times.  

  

Page 107



 
 

 2 

 
This is intended to minimise the time it takes to make an appointment by enabling 
immediate referrals for women identified as being at risk of cancer, so that they can 
be seen for further review promptly. This reduces the risk of urgent results that are 
sent to GPs being lost and also alleviates some of the administration. The Trust went 
live with direct referral in June 2010. 
 
Essentially, this meant that women in Brent and Harrow were directly referred to 
either Central Middlesex or Northwick Park Hospital by the Trust’s laboratory service  
when abnormalities were detected as part of the analysis of  the smear test. In the 
past, the results of the smear test would have gone back to the GP, who would then 
have made a referral to the colposcopy service.   
 
Women would then have been allocated an appointment at Northwick Park or 
Central Middlesex, depending on the first available appointment at either hospital. 
Women were able to change times, dates or locations with Colposcopy Team co-
ordinators. Currently the team is asked to make amendments to about 10% of 
appointments and, in the majority of these cases, these involve changing 
appointment times rather than hospital. 
 
The quality standard for appointment times is within four weeks for high-grade 
abnormalities and within eight weeks for low-grade abnormalities.  
 
Historically, there has been a high rate of ‘did not attends’ at Central Middlesex and, 
in 2012, the London Quality Assurance  Authority sent more than once notification 
that the rate was one of the highest in London. The rate has remained consistently 
high, despite many and varied attempts to reduce it. The failure of patients to attend 
may have a negative effect on their treatment and, at the same time, wastes 
valuable appointment time; it can even extend waiting times.  
 

There have been no complaints from women about which hospital they were 
allocated to for further investigations.  
 
 

COLPOSCOPY ATTENDANCES AND DNA RATE 2011/2012 & 2012/2013 

     NPH 2011/12 2012/2013 
  ATTENDANCES 1368 1410 
  DNA 222 266 
  DNA RATE 16% 19% 
  

     CMH 2011/12 2012/13 
  ATTENDANCES 909 885 
  DNA 224 256 
  DNA RATE 25% 29% 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



 

 3 

Stakeholder engagement   
 
The temporary change was discussed and agreed with the following organisations 
and committees:  
 

 London Quality Assurance Authority Agency 
 Brent, Harrow, Hillingdon and Ealing Cervical Advisory Group 
 NWLHT Clinical Strategy Steering Group 

 
Next steps  
 
The situation will be reviewed in six months and the Trust would welcome 
involvement from the Committee and further discussions. The review will involve 
looking at the feedback received from patients.  
 
 
Tina Benson  
Acting Director of Operations 
The North West London Hospitals NHS Trust  
May 2013  
 

Page 109



Page 110

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1. Summary 

1.1 This report summarises for the Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee the position relating to the transfer of public health services from NHS 
Brent to Brent Council which formally took place on 1st April 2013. The transition 
project has come to an end and it is important that remaining activity related to the 
transfer passes to departments in order to “mainstream” the public health function 
within the local authority. 

 
1.2 The report sets out the financial information relating to the project and the success in 

meeting the objectives identified at the beginning of this work. Importantly, a log of 
remaining activity is included in the report so that members are aware of the work 
that will need to be carried out now that the transfer project is completed.  

 
1.3 This report has been to the One Council Programme Board which has agreed that 

the Public Health Transition Board will continue to meet to oversee the service for the 
foreseeable future. There are three key areas that will need to be addressed – the 
review and re-procurement of public health contracts, the allocation of public health 
development funding and the agreement of GUM contracts. The cross department 
Transition Board will provide the necessary leadership required to take these issues 
forward.  

 

2.  Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considers this report and questions officers on the progress that has been made 
since the public health service transferred to the local authority.  

3.  Report 

3.1 On 1st April 2013 the council formally took on responsibility for health improvement 
and many of the public health services that had been delivered by NHS Brent. Work 
has been taking place for around two years to prepare for the transfer. The project 
has evolved significantly during this time. Initially it focussed on the structure for 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

11th June 2013 

Report from the Director of 
Strategy, Partnerships and Improvement 

and the Director of Adult Social Care 

For Action 

  
Wards Affected: 

ALL 
 

Public Health Transfer Update 

Agenda Item 10

Page 111



public health and how services and staff could be integrated into the council’s 
existing teams and departments. As the project evolved and the requirements from 
Government on what council’s will be expected to deliver became clearer, the focus 
of the project shifted to preparing for the transfer.  Work has taken place to ensure 
that the various elements connected to the transfer have been properly addressed so 
that the council was ready for its new responsibilities from 1st April and that the public 
health service was successfully transferred.  

 
3.2 Now that the formal transfer has taken place the project phase of this work is 

complete. With a transfer of services and staff from one organisation to another, 
there are inevitably some loose ends that need to be addressed. These are being 
dealt with by the Project Manager and the project teams during April 2013. However, 
it is important that this work moves from “project” to “business as usual” to aid the 
integration of public health staff and teams into the council. 

 
3.3 This closure report summarises the position regarding the transfer and the work 

outstanding that needs to be completed. It is proposed that the services take on the 
responsibility for the remaining tasks and that the project phase of this work is 
brought to a close. The main tasks that remain open include: 

 
• Completing recruitment to the public health structure, including the Director of 

Public Health.  
• Secure GUM contracts with providers, to limit the financial risk to the council from 

activity being carried out on a non-contract basis. 
• Allocation of the £500k public health development funding 
• Confirm the process for reviewing public health contracts, and the areas to 

prioritise in 2013/14 
• Financial management of the public health budget to ensure that expenditure is in 

line with expectations and ensure that the council has taken measures to protect 
itself from financial risk. 

 

3.4 Financial Benefits Achieved to Date 
 
3.5 The Project Initiation Document setting up the Public Health Transfer Project didn’t 

explicitly state the level of savings that would be expected from the project. At this 
stage, savings to the council as a direct result of the transition work are hard to 
quantify. The public health structure in the council has fewer posts than was the case 
at NHS Brent and so the council will benefit from lower staff costs, but this was not 
an explicit target set at the beginning of the project. In restructuring the public health 
service ahead of the transfer, the costs of this were picked up by NHS Brent. This 
has ensured that potentially large redundancy payments that could have fallen on the 
council have been avoided. 

 
3.6 Small savings have been made to the council from a desk top review of public health 

contracts carried out during the contract transition work. On reviewing existing public 
health contracts, officers recommended that a small number weren’t extended and 
transferred because alternative services were available from other public health 
providers. The details are set out in the table below and have also been included in 
previous reports to the Scrutiny Committee and the Executive.  

 

 

 

Page 112



Net Operational Savings 

(gross budget savings less 
additional operational costs) 

2013/14 

£’000s 

Central London Community 
Services - Contraceptive 
services. 

9 

Young Addaction - Teenage 
pregnancy services and sexual 
health services for young 
people.   

33 

Lonsdale Practice - Shared 
care for opiate users with high 
levels of need 

100 

Non-GUM Data Collection – 
NSCP / Health Protection 
Agency 

2 

Pan London HIV Prevention  30 
Infection Control Nursing 
Contract 

39 

HIV Peer Support 51 
HIV Positive Self Management 94 

Total Budget Saving 358 

 
3.7 One of the key areas of work as public health becomes embedded in the 

organisation is to review existing contracts to look at opportunities to commission 
services in a different way to secure better outcomes, but also better value for 
money. This work falls outside the scope of the transition project but could lead to 
savings from the public health budget.  

 
3.8  Non-financial Benefits Achieved to Date 
 
3.9 The overall project objective, to successfully transfer public health staff and functions 

has been achieved and an integrated public health services has been established 
within the local authority. It was clear from the outset of the project that an integrated 
service was the direction in which the council wanted to take public health. This has 
been delivered by placing public health commissioning into Adult Social Care to align 
it with the council’s existing commissioning function, combining health improvement 
delivery with teams in Environment and Neighbourhood Services and children’s 
health with Children and Families. The integrated approach should help to embed the 
idea that health improvement is a council responsibility, not just a public health 
service function. This is a positive outcome associated with the transition project.  

 
3.10 Review of Project Objectives 
 
3.11 The overall objective set at the beginning of the project was to create a public health 

system in Brent that can deliver sustainable health improvement for all the borough’s 
residents and at the same time reduce health inequalities in the borough. 

 
3.12 Specific objectives included putting in place: 
 

Page 113



• structures, systems and processes that effectively embed public health within the 
council 

• integrated public health activities and functions within the council and with clinical 
commissioning groups 

• effective working relationships and processes with the clinical commissioning 
groups  

• governance arrangements that support effective democratic and community 
engagement  

• the strategic public health policy and commissioning framework, linked to health 
and social care commissioning plans, in the run up to the formal start of the new 
system in April 2013 

• the necessary mix of skills and capacity for an integrated strategic commissioning 
function  

• a framework for integrating the development and implementation of 
commissioning strategies, plans and programmes for health care, social care and 
public health 

 
3.13 One of the most significant elements of the public health transition has been the 

transfer of staff from NHS Brent to the council. An integrated structure for the service 
was agreed with members following a consultation period and review commissioned 
by the Chief Executive. As a result of work on the public health structure it’s been 
agreed that: 

 
• Twenty-two public health staff will be transferred from NHS Brent to the council, 

with staff split across three departments – Adult Social Care, Environment and 
Neighbourhood Services and Children and Families.  

• There will be a Director of Public Health for Brent only, based in the Adult Social 
Care Department and reporting to the Director of Adult Social Care. For the first 
12 months after the transfer, the DPH will manage the public health staff in the 
ASC directorate and the public health budget. This arrangement will then be 
reviewed to assess the effectiveness of the function and the staffing structure. 

• The public health staff in ASC will be responsible for commissioning public health 
services (such as substance misuse services and sexual health services), 
building on the links and expertise within the department around commissioning; 
the staff in Environment and Neighbourhood Services will focus on delivering 
services directly and implementing health improvement programmes. 

• Three members of staff will be based in the Children and Families Department, 
working on children’s health in schools, early years settings such as nursery’s 
and children’s centres and providing training resources, especially around 
safeguarding. These posts will be reviewed in 12 months time to ensure that the 
arrangement is working.  

3.14 By setting up the structure in this way the council will achieve its objective of creating 
an integrated and embedded public health function within the authority. Reviewing 
the arrangement after 12 months makes sense so that the first year of operation can 
be objectively analysed. If there are changes to be made to the structure officers 
should make them, but building on the principle that the function is integrated into the 
council structure and not a stand alone service.  

3.15 It was important to ensure that there was continuity of services across the transition 
period and that those who use public health services were not adversely affected by 

Page 114



the change in arrangements. The majority of public health services are 
commissioned from external providers and successfully transferring contracts was 
central to the work carried out during the transition period.  

3.16 The vast majority of existing public health contracts have been extended and 
transferred and will run for 12 months, from 1st April 2013 – 31st March 2014. Terms 
and conditions and service specifications agreed by NHS Brent will remain in place 
during the transition year. The council has to agree a process and priorities for re-
commissioning services during the next 12 months. Work has already begun on this 
and will be led by a reformed version of the Public Health Transition Board.  

3.17 During the project work took place with providers to prepare them for arrangements 
after 1st April. A series of due diligence meetings has been held with each 
organisation providing public health services to ensure that they are aware of the 
changes that were happening and that they were willing to continue providing 
services on the council’s behalf beyond April 2013.  

3.18 There wasn’t a single arrangement to extend each public health contract – they all 
had to be looked at individually to ensure that they could be extended. For a number 
of contracts with acute trusts the council will become an associate commissioner with 
Brent Clinical Commissioning Group, who will be responsible for managing the 
contract. This is because the public health service provided by the acute trust is a 
small part of a much bigger collection of services commissioned via one contract. 
Securing a good working relationship with the CCG has been important to ensure 
that these agreements can be reached. The public health service and the council as 
a whole have those relationships in place, formally via the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and CCG Board, and informally via officer working groups and day to day 
working relationships. The contracts for which the council will be associate 
commissioner are: 

• Chlamydia screening services - North West London Hospitals 
• Clinical prescribing services - CNWL Foundation Trust 
• School nursing and national child measurement programme - Ealing Hospital 

Trust 
• Intensive Lifestyle Advice - Ealing Hospital Trust 

3.19 By transferring the majority of existing public health contracts and ensuring that 
services continue, those in receipt of public health services will probably be unaware 
of the change in commissioning responsibility and will continue to receive their 
service. Minimum disruption to service users was crucial to the success of the 
transition. 

 
3.20 As well as continuing services delivered via contracts with third party organisations, a 

number of existing public health programmes will continue in 2013/14 and will be 
unaffected by the transition. Funding was identified for the following projects: 

 

Children and Young Peoples’ Health 

 

Page 115



• £365,000 – Funding for 2.6fte posts which will include work on enhanced 
healthy schools, early years health improvement and health training with a 
focus on safeguarding, plus the development budgets for each post.  

• £183,000 – Breast Feeding Peer Support workers – the council will pay half of 
the cost of this service, the CCG the other half. 

• £75,000 – Children’s oral health projects 
• £55,000 – Children’s mental health services 

Environment and Neighbourhood Services 

• £298,000 – Funding to support the work of the smoking cessation service 
• £100,000 – Development funding for the Healthy Lifestyles and Healthy 

Environment Teams, to review work areas and develop priorities.  

Drug and Alcohol Services 

• £63,680 – HIV prevention activity, to be commissioned on a pan-London 
basis. 

• £130,000 – Residential rehabilitation services for people with drug or alcohol 
problems 

• £55,000 – Housing officer based at Cobbold Road, the borough’s drug and 
alcohol treatment centre. 

3.21 Around £500k  of public health development funding is still to be allocated during 
2013/14. The Public Health Transition Board will continue in order to lead the work 
that needs to be done to allocate this funding.  

3.22 Outstanding Work 
 
3.23 The table attached as an appendix to this report sets out the work that needs to be 

completed in order to move the public health transition from the project phase to 
business as usual. It also includes some risks that need to be managed over the 
coming year or so as the services develop within the local authority. These tasks are 
important in order to complete the project, but need to be delivered by the service 
rather than the project manager.  

3.24 It has been agreed that the Public Health Transition Board will continue to meet 
during 2013/14 to oversee the implementation of the outstanding work connected to 
the transfer. This will be chaired by Phil Porter, Interim Director of Adult Social Care. 
The majority of the tasks in the work log above can be completed relatively easily, 
but there are four specific tasks that are crucial to the future of public health services 
– the first is the allocation of the outstanding £500k from the public health budget on 
health improvement projects. A process for doing this needs to be agreed by the 
Board for members to confirm decisions on how that money should be spent. 

3.24 Secondly, a review of the public health contracts needs to take place, so that 
services can be re-commissioned in line with the council’s aims for health 
improvement and to ensure we abide by our procurement rules. Contracts have only 
been extended for 12 months. There is a degree of urgency to agree which service 
areas should be re-commissioned first, and which can wait. The Public Health 

Page 116



Transition Board needs to lead this work and oversee the Public Health Contracts 
Group which has already switched focus to the review of contracts. 

3.25 GUM service contracts need to be agreed with providers. As this is the single biggest 
financial risk area to the council, this needs the oversight from senior managers to 
ensure that agreements are reached that limit the financial risk to the authority.     

3.26 Finally, members have requested information on the recruitment of the Director of 
Public Health. Recruitment is underway. The post has been advertised (along with 
the post for the Consultant in Children’s Public Health), with a closing date for 
applications of 3rd June. A microsite has been set up for prospective candidates - 
http://brentpublichealth.co.uk/content/ Interviews for the post will be held on the 20th 
June 2013.  

3.27 Public Health Budget 

3.28 The council knows its public health allocation in 2013/14 and 2014/15. In 2013/14 the 
ring fenced public health allocation will be £18.335m. In 2014/15 it will be £18.848m. 
This grant allocation is good news for Brent, although the percentage growth in the 
budget is at the lower end compared to council’s nationally and in London. However, 
it is more than the £16.007m in the baseline estimate that the council received in 
February 2012 and means that the authority will be able to meet contract and staffing 
costs and have some funding for development opportunities in public health. 

 
3.29 Development opportunities have been investigated by the departments and it is 

proposed that those that meet the most pressing on-going priorities for the local 
authority is funded for a period of 1 year. 

 
 

  £'m 

Budget Allocation 2013/14 £18.334 

Staffing structures  -£1.522 

Contracts  -£13.247 

CCG Rental Recharge for Offices -£0.170 

Reserve for GP prescribing for substance 
misuse clients 

-£0.250 

Reserve for GUM Open Access Service -£0.500 

Contingency for unknown contractual and 
development budgets, not yet identified 

-£0.400 

Overheads e.g. IT  / Finance / Audit / Insurance 
/ Phones / Management costs – 2.5% of 
allocation 

-£0.458 

Page 117



Drug & Alcohol Services  - Adult Social Care -£0.249 

Health Improvements – Environment & 
Neighbourhood Services 

-£0.380 

Maternity & Children’s Services – Children 
Services 

-£0.665 

Funding available to be allocated £0.494 

 
 
 
3.30 The budget position taking into account the most pressing development areas of 

work means that the council has available £0.494m to look at investing, after 
reviewing the strategic priorities and the way current services are delivered to ensure 
that they outcomes are being achieved. As set out above, the Public Health 
Transition Board will agree a process for this.   

 
3.31 What isn’t clear is how long public health budgets will be ring fenced, or how the 

Government will fund public health in the future. Final details of the funding formula 
are not available (to the best of our knowledge) and so there needs to be a degree of 
caution about the direction of public health budgets in the future. Under the formula 
originally proposed by ACRA, Brent would have seen an 11% reduction in funding 
and there has to be a risk that funding for public health will eventually fall if the 
Government implements the formula as originally proposed. There is also a risk that 
funding could be reduced in the future if it cannot be demonstrated that the grant is 
being spent on projects and work areas that address the indicators in the public 
health outcomes framework.  

 
3.32 Conclusions 

3.33 The public health transfer project has now closed as public health becomes 
integrated into the council and work becomes part of the mainstream business of the 
authority. Some of the major pieces of work that will take place over the next 12 to 18 
months need to be led by the service – the review of public health contracts is 
probably the best example. Already officers are looking at ways to bring together 
services traditionally commissioned from public health and social care to integrate 
where possible and improve the council’s offer for residents. The council has been 
given a tremendous opportunity by the transfer of public health to make a real 
difference in reducing health inequalities in Brent and the integrated model gives us 
the best chance of doing that. 

3.34 The first six weeks or so since the transfer took place have passed and staff are 
working in their new teams, becoming used to working in a different culture and 
environment than the NHS. The general feedback has been positive and staff are 
motivated by the challenge of making a success of public health services for Brent 
Council. There remain a number of vacant posts, but steps are being taken to recruit 
to these so that we have a full complement of public health staff.  

Page 118



3.35 It is understood that members will be interested in further updates on the public 
health service over the next 12 to 18 months. These can be provided in general 
terms, or based around the work of service areas and teams so that councillors are 
kept informed of the progress that is being made by the different elements of the 
public health service in Brent Council.    

 

 

 

Contact Officer: 

Andrew Davies, Policy and Performance Officer 
Tel – 020 8937 1609 
Email – Andrew.davies@brent.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
Imran Choudhury 
Interim Director of Public Health 
 
 
Phil Porter 
Interim Director of Adult Social Care 
  

 

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1.0 Summary 
 
1.1 This report summarises for the Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee the Sexual Health and Reproductive Services which have transferred 
across to Brent Council as a result of the transfer of public health services from NHS 
Brent to Brent Council which formally took place on 1st April 2013.  

 
1.2 This report briefing highlights the current provision of sexual health services in Brent, 

an outline of the council’s role in relation to the commissioning and co-ordinating of 
services in the borough and the key challenges for the future commissioning 
landscape.    

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considers this report and questions officers on the progress that has been made 
since the public health service transferred to the local authority.  

 
3.0  Report 
 
3.1 Brent Council as a local authority are responsible for addressing the sexual health 

needs of the local population and promoting a preventive agenda which focuses on 
good sexual health and in particular healthy lifestyles.  

 
3.2 This involves ensuring appropriate access to sexually transmitted Infection (STI) 

testing, treatment, contraception, sexual health promotion and STI prevention.   The 
current budget for Sexual Health services within the Public Health Budget is 
£6million. 

 
3.3 Brent Council has a role in supporting or leading on the commissioning of sexual 

health services in the following areas;  
 

 

Health Partnerships Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

11th June 2013 

Report from  
the Director of Public Health  

 

For Action 

  
Wards Affected: 

ALL 
 

 

 

Sexual and Reproductive Health Services in Brent 
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 121



3.4 HIV: Co-ordinating the commissioning of social care, non-clinical care and support 
services for people living with HIV.  This is undertaken by commissioning specialist 
HIV services related to social care including packages on care and where 
appropriate residential placements. 

 
3.5 Services commissioned by local authorities primarily focus on ensuring non-clinical 

care and support towards the self-management of HIV which in turn contributes to a 
reduction in onward transmission.  Services also aim to reduce isolation, improve 
engagement and improve employability amongst Brent’s HIV positive resident 
population.  

 
3.6 Primary Care: Commission primary care by developing local service level 

agreements to meet the sexual health needs of the population such as. STI contact 
tracing, Intrauterine Device (IUD) fitting.  
 

3.7 Open access sexual and reproductive health services: To commission services that 
that are fully accessible to all regardless of residency. The services commissioned 
should provide the following; STI testing, treatment and provision of contraception 
including the fitting of long acting reversible contraception. 
 

3.8 Prevention and promotion: To commission relevant prevention services to reduce 
unplanned conceptions and reduce the spread of communicable disease. 
 

3.9 Improving Public Health Outcomes: To commission services to improve public health 
outcomes in areas such as Chlamydia Screening, Teenage Pregnancy and late 
diagnosis targets for those living with HIV. 
 

4.0  Detail  
 
4.1 The following clinical services are commissioned via Public Health in Brent Council; 
 
4.2 Genito-Urinary Medicine (GUM) Services: Services are commissioned to deliver 

specialise services in assessment, testing and treatment of a wide range of genital 
conditions particularly infections. This service also provides treatment, care and 
management for people living with HIV. The vast majority of Brent patients attend 
three GUM clinics based at Northwick Park hospital, Central Middlesex hospital and 
St Mary’s hospital and are offered appointments within 48hrs.   

 
4.3 The contract values for GUM services falls between £3.8m and £4.5m, the reason for 

this variation which represents a cost pressure to the Public Health Budget is that 
services are open access and funded a by a national Payment by results (PBR) tariff 
which in effects that residents can access services in any service across the capital 
and nationally and the council will be charged for any activity.  This is an area of work 
that the Brent Council is looking to address through the West London Alliance in the 
future. 

 
4.4 Chlamydial screening program:  The service is commissioned through North West 

Hospitals to provide screening for asymptomatic people aged 16 – 25 in healthcare 
and non-healthcare settings across England. The primary goals are to control genital 
Chlamydia through early detection and treatment of asymptomatic infection and to 
reduce onward disease transmission.  Brent has been one of the leading areas 
nationally for the effective screening for Chlamydia.    

 
4.5 Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL) Contraceptive Services:  

The service is commissioned through CNWL to provide contraceptive services for 

Page 122



Brent residents across 3 key locations; Hillside Medical Centre, Wembley Centre for 
Health and Care  and the Willesden Centre for Health and Care. Services include the 
provision of long-acting reversible contraception (LARC) Cervical screening and 
Chlamydia screening. 
 

5.0 Sexual Health Prevention:  
 
5.1 HIV continues to be a major public health issue for London. In 2011 there were over 

2,600 new HIV diagnoses made in London clinics. Despite a decline overall in new 
HIV diagnoses since 2004, which may reflect changing patterns in migration but it is 
clear that the number of new HIV diagnoses reported in 2011 was still 11% higher 
than in 2000.  

 
5.2 Two key risk groups are men who have sex with men (MSM) and BaME communities 

from Africa where HIV prevalence is high. Sex between men was the most common 
route of infection for those diagnosed in 2011 in London (54%). The number of 
people newly diagnosed with HIV who have been infected through sex between men 
has risen by 20% over the last decade. Newly diagnosed MSM with HIV are much 
more concentrated in central London areas, while in contrast, newly diagnosed 
heterosexuals with HIV were more dispersed. Since 2003, there has been a fall in the 
number of new HIV diagnoses made among heterosexual men and women who may 
have acquired HIV in Africa. 

 
5.3 A key concern is that many people are presenting late (44% in London) and this late 

diagnosis reduces the impact of early preventative treatments.  Another key issue is 
that due to treatment we are seeing increases in the number of people living with HIV 
as a chronic illness. 

 
5.4 Among the key challenges for Brent Council will be to reinforce prevention messages 

and promote regular HIV testing within high risk populations. Currently Brent 
commissions a number of local providers to promote prevention (see next section). In 
addition Brent is also part of a collaborative pan-London project on HIV prevention 
which is more focused on the MSM population and hard to reach communities.  

 
6.0 The following sexual health and HIV prevention services commissioned by 

Brent Council;  
 
6.1 Sexual Health on Call (SHOC): The service is commissioned (contract value; £127k) 

to support the delivery of preventative sexual health services in primary and 
community care settings by working with Health care professionals and young 
people. The service aims to increase the numbers of patients’ tested in general 
practices, community pharmacy and primary care settings for testing for Blood Borne 
Viruses and Chlamydia. SHOC has also facilitated a number of pilot projects to 
increase the uptake of testing which includes working with new partners such as 
barbers and nail shops to increase uptakes on Chlamydia screening. 
 

6.2 African Child: The service is commissioned (contract value; £88k) to reduce teenage 
pregnancy through targeted work with at risk teenagers and  existing teenage 
parents including general sexual health and assisting those targeted to improve 
access to education and employment services.  

 
6.3 Community Health Action Trust (CHAT) The service is commissioned (contract value; 

£100k) to target HIV prevention work amongst a range of clearly defined stakeholder 
groups in particular Black African communities  by raising awareness of transmission, 

Page 123



the need to target those who need to be tested and signposting to clinical treatment 
interventions. 

 
6.4 Pan London HIV Prevention Programme: Brent is one of a number of Boroughs who 

contribute to a range of pan London preventions services focusing on hard to reach 
groups and specific targeted groups such as men who have sex with men. The future 
of the programme is currently being discussed by London Councils. Brent is 
committed to remaining a part of the collaborative pan-London HIV prevention 
programme but at the present time it is not clear how this will proceed on a pan 
London basis.  

 
7.0 Conclusions  
 
7.1 Brent Council will be seeking to engage in the collaborative commissioning of GUM 

services through the existing partnership arrangements with the West London 
Alliance (WLA). The  key challenge will be to manage and reduce spend on clinical 
treatment services and develop a more focused approach based on prevention and 
targeting more effectively those groups engaged in risky behaviour to promote  
healthy lifestyles in relation to sexual health.   

 
 
Contact Officers 

 
 Imran Choudhury 
 Interim Director of Public Health 
 Tel – 020 8937 1980 
 imran.choudhury@brent.gov.uk 
 
 Phil Porter 
 Interim Director of Adult Social Care 
 Tel – 020 8937 5937 
 phil.porter@brent.gov.uk 
  
 

Page 124



Health Partnerships OSC 
 
Work Programme 2013-14 
 
 
Meeting 
Date 

Item Issue Keep/Remove 

July 
 
 
 

Commissioning 
Intentions 

With the new health landscape, the committee would like to know 
what the intentions are for commissioning of services.  This should 
outline the commissioners’ vision and views; what they intend 
commissioning over the next year.  The aim is to have a debate that 
includes the CCG, hospitals and other key stakeholders. 
 

NEW 

July Serious Incident 
at CMH 

Members requested in October 2012 a six month update from Care 
UK and NHS Brent on the work of the UCC to ensure there have 
been no further problems and to understand that the 
recommendations from the SI report have been implemented in full.  

 

Recurring Emergency 
Services 

Current issues around emergency services/A&E at North West 
London Hospitals and immediate, mid and long term plans to 
address current problems and improve services. 

 

Recurring NWLHT and EHT 
Merger 

Update on the merger between North West London Hospitals Trust 
and Ealing Hospitals Trust and on current progress against financial 
targets. 

 

TBC Health Visitors Following previous concerns about the recruitment and retention of 
Health Visitors, the committee  

 

TBC Out of hospital 
care strategy 

As part of the Shaping a Healthier Future work, Brent will be 
preparing an Out of Hospital Care Strategy. The committee will 
consider the strategy and respond to the consultation.  

 

TBC Palliative care Following a presentation from the CCG followed by St Luke’s 
Hospice in March 2013, the committed requested that the CCG 
return with a more detailed report on Palliative Care in Brent and that 
included the Brent End of Life Strategy which was not available to 
members at the time of the meeting.   

 

TBC Diabetes and 
physiotherapy 

NHS Brent plans to re-commission diabetes and physiotherapy 
services in the borough. The committee should consider the plans for 

 

A
genda Item

 12

P
age 125



services – plans 
to re-commission 
services in Brent  

the new services, as well as the consultation plan.  

TBC Housing Advice in 
a Hospital Setting  

Care and Repair England has produced a report on integrating 
housing advice into hospital services. Brent Private Tenants Rights 
Group would like to bring this report to the committee to begin a 
conversation on the best way to take this forward in Brent.  

 

TBC Health 
Inequalities 
Performance 
Monitoring 

The Health Select Committee should make health inequalities a 
major focus of its work in 2010/11. As part of this, a performance 
framework has been developed to monitor indicators relevant to the 
implementation of the health and wellbeing strategy, which relate to 
the reduction of health inequalities in the borough. This framework 
will be presented to the committee twice a year, with a commentary 
highlighting key issues for members to consider. 

 

TBC Sickle Cell and 
Thalassaemia 
Services Report 

The Committee has asked for a report Sickle Cell and Thalassaemia 
services at North West London NHS Hospitals Trust. The committee 
will invite sickle cell patient groups to attend for this item to give their 
views on services in the borough. This follows a previous report on 
changes to paediatric in patient arrangements at NWL Hospitals. 
Members are keen to know how sickle cell patients have been 
dealing with this change.  

 

TBC Fuel Poverty 
Task Group 

Recommendation follow up on the task group’s review.   

TBC Breast Feeding in 
Brent 

Following a report in March 2011 on the borough’s Obesity Strategy, 
the committee has requested a follow up paper on the Breast feeding 
service in the borough. Members were particularly interested in the 
role of peer support workers and how mothers are able to access 
breast feeding services. The committee would also like to have 
accurate data on breast feeding initiation and prevalence in Brent.  

 

TBC TB in Brent Added at the request of the committee (meeting on 20th Sept 2011).   
TBC GP access 

patient 
satisfaction 
survey results 

In December 2011 the results of the six monthly patient survey will 
be published. Members should scrutinise the results with Brent GPs 
to see how their initiatives to improve access are reflected in patient 
satisfaction.   

 

 Teenage Members have asked for a report on teenage pregnancy in Brent,  

P
age 126



Pregnancy the services available and conception rates amongst teenagers.  
 Abortion services  

in Brent 
Councillors have asked for a report on abortion services in Brent, 
and the abortion rates in the borough, including repeat abortions. 
This could include a more general update on sexual health provision 
in Brent.  

 

TBC Brent MENCAP 
Update on work 

At the November 2012 HOSC members heard from MENCAP on 
their work around Health Services for People with Learning 
Disabilities.  Members requested an update on MENCAPs work at a 
future meeting. 

 

TBC Diabetes Task 
Group 

Update on progress of the Diabetes Task Group recommendations.  

 

P
age 127



P
age 128

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 March 2013
	5 Pathology Service - incident and investigation
	pathology-update
	pathology-investigation
	patholology-actionplan

	6 Emergency Services at Northwick Park and Central Middlesex Hospitals
	emergencyservices-update

	7 111 telephone number - service implementation
	111update
	111metrics

	9 Colposcopy Services at Central Middlesex Hospital
	colposcopyupdate

	10 Public Health transfer update
	11 Sexual and Reproductive Health Services in Brent
	12 Health Partnerships Overview and Scrutiny work programme 2013-14

